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This prospectus qualifies the distribution to the public of an aggregate of [●] Class A Subordinate Voting Shares
(the “Offered Shares”) in the capital of MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc. (“MCI” or the “Company”) at a price of
$[●] per Offered Share (the “Offering Price”) for aggregate gross proceeds to the Company of $[●] (the
“Offering”).
The Offered Shares are being sold pursuant to the terms of an underwriting agreement dated [●], 2020 (the
“Underwriting Agreement”) among the Company and Canaccord Genuity Group (“Canaccord”), as lead
underwriter and sole bookrunner, Echelon Wealth Partners Inc., Stifel Nicolaus Canada Inc., TD Securities Inc.,
Eight Capital, Haywood Securities Inc. and Clarus Securities Inc. (collectively, the “Underwriters”). The size of
the Offering and the Offering Price will be determined by negotiation between the Company and the Underwriters
and are expected to be $30 million and between $5.00 and $6.75, respectively.
The Company has applied to list the Offered Shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”). Listing will be subject
to the Company fulfilling all the listing requirements of the TSX, including a distribution of Offered Shares to a
minimum number of public shareholders. See “Plan of Distribution”.
There is no market through which the Offered Shares may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell
Offered Shares purchased under this prospectus. This may affect the pricing of the Offered Shares in the
secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the liquidity of the Offered Shares and
the extent of issuer regulation. An investment in the Offered Shares is speculative and subject to a number of
risks that should be considered by a prospective purchaser. Prospective purchasers of Offered Shares should
carefully consider the risks described under “Risk Factors” and “Cautionary Statement Regarding ForwardLooking Information” before purchasing the Offered Shares.

Price: $[●] per Offered Share

Offering Price to the
Public

Underwriters’
Fee(1)

Net Proceeds(2)

Per Offered Share .....................................

$[●]

$[●]

$[●]

Total(3)......................................................

$[●]

$[●]

$[●]

Notes:
(1)

The Company shall pay the Underwriters a cash fee equal to 6.0% of the gross proceeds from the sale of the Offered Shares pursuant to the
Offering, subject to a reduced fee of 3.0% for Offered Shares sold by the Underwriters (the “Underwriters’ Fee”) to certain purchasers
designated by the Company who may purchase up to an aggregate of $[●] of Offered Shares (the “President’s List”). See “Plan of
Distribution”. Assumes [●] Offered Shares are sold to President’s List purchasers in the Offering.

(2)

Assuming there are [●] Offered Shares sold to the President’s List purchasers in the Offering and before deducting expenses of the Offering
estimated at $[●], which will be paid by the Company out of the gross proceeds of the Offering. See “Use of Proceeds”.

(3)

The Company has granted the Underwriters an over-allotment option (the “Over-Allotment Option”) exercisable, in whole or in part, and
from time to time, in the sole discretion of the Underwriters, for a period of 30 days from the Closing Date (as defined herein), under which
the Underwriters may purchase up to an additional [●] Offered Shares (representing 15% of the aggregate number of initial Offered Shares
offered pursuant to the Offering), at the Offering Price, to cover over-allotments, if any, and for market stabilization purposes. All
references to “Offered Shares” in this prospectus includes the Offered Shares that may be issued or sold pursuant to the Over-Allotment
Option. The grant of the Over-Allotment Option and the Offered Shares issuable or sold upon exercise of the Over-Allotment Option are
qualified for distribution under this prospectus. A purchaser who acquires Offered Shares forming part of the Underwriters’ over-allocation
position acquires those securities under this prospectus, regardless of whether the over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or secondary market purchases. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full (assuming there are
[●] Offered Shares sold to the President’s List purchasers and before deducting the expenses of the Offering estimated to be $[●]), the total
amounts under “Offering Price to the Public”, the “Underwriters’ Fee” and the “Net Proceeds” in respect of the Offering will be $[●], $[●]
and $[●], respectively. Unless otherwise indicated, all information in this prospectus assumes that the Over-Allotment Option will not be
exercised. See “Plan of Distribution” and “Principal Shareholders”.

The Class B Multiple Voting Shares carry a greater number of votes per share relative to the Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares. The Class A Subordinate Voting Shares are therefore “restricted securities”
within the meaning of such term under applicable Canadian securities laws. Other than their superior voting
rights, the Class B Multiple Voting Shares have no other rights. See “Description of Share Capital”.
The following table sets out the aggregate number of Offered Shares that may be sold by the Company to the
Underwriters pursuant to the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option:
Underwriters’ Position

Maximum Size

Exercise Period

Exercise Price

Over-Allotment Option

[●] Offered Shares

Up to 30 days from the
Closing Date

$[●]

The Underwriters, as principals, conditionally offer the Offered Shares, subject to prior sale, if, as and when issued
by the Company and accepted by the Underwriters in accordance with the terms and conditions contained in the
Underwriting Agreement referred to under “Plan of Distribution”, subject to the approval of certain legal matters on
behalf of the Company by Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP, and on behalf of the Underwriters by Borden Ladner
Gervais LLP. The Offered Shares are being offered to the public in all of the provinces of Canada, other than the
Province of Québec, in a private placement in the United States in an offering exempt from the registration
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws, and to “relevant persons” (as defined in
“Plan of Distribution”) in the United Kingdom. Subject to applicable laws, the Underwriters may also offer the
Offered Shares outside of Canada, the United States and the United Kingdom.
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Subject to applicable laws, in connection with the Offering the Underwriters may effect transactions intended to
stabilize or maintain the market price of the Offered Shares at levels other than those which might otherwise prevail
in the open market. Such transactions, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time. See “Plan of Distribution”.
Subscriptions for the Offered Shares will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part and the
Underwriters reserve the right to close the subscription books at any time without notice.
Other than in certain circumstances, it is anticipated that the Offered Shares will be delivered electronically through
the non-certificated inventory system of CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc. (“CDS”). On the closing of the
Offering, which is expected to occur on or about [●], 2020 or on such earlier or later date as the Company and the
Underwriters may agree, but in any event not later than 42 days after the date of the receipt for the (final) prospectus
(the “Closing Date”), the Company, via its transfer agent, will electronically deliver the Offered Shares registered to
CDS or its nominee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Offered Shares issued to persons in the United States who do
not qualify as a “qualified institutional buyer” (as such term is defined in Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act
(“Qualified Institutional Buyer”)) will be issued and delivered in physically certificated form. See “Plan of
Distribution”.
MCI’s head office is located at 1 Yorkdale Road, Suite 209, Toronto, Ontario M6A 3A1 and its registered and
records office is located at Suite 2400, Bay Adelaide Centre, 333 Bay Street, Toronto, Ontario M5H 2T6.
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ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS
General Advisory
A prospective purchaser of Offered Shares should read this entire prospectus and consult its own professional
advisors to assess the income tax, legal, risks and other aspects of its investment in the Offered Shares.
A prospective purchaser of Offered Shares should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus. The
Company, the promoters and the Underwriters have not authorized anyone to provide prospective purchasers of
Offered Shares with additional or different information. The information contained in this prospectus is accurate
only as of the date of this prospectus, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or any sale of the Offered
Shares. The Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since
the date of this prospectus.
None of the Company or the Underwriters are making an offer to sell these securities in any jurisdictions where the
offer or sale is not permitted. For prospective purchasers of Offered Shares outside Canada, none of the Company,
the promoters or the Underwriters have done anything that would permit the Offering or possession or distribution
of this prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required, other than in Canada. Prospective
purchasers of Offered Shares are required to inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions relating to the
Offering and the distribution of the Offered Shares under this prospectus.
Interpretation
Certain terms used in this prospectus are defined under “Glossary”. Unless the context otherwise requires, all
references in this prospectus to “MCI” and the “Company” refer to MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc. together with
its subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, as constituted on the Closing Date after giving effect to the Pre-Closing
Capital Changes (as defined herein) described under “Description of Share Capital”.
Unless otherwise indicated, all information in this prospectus assumes that the Pre-Closing Capital Changes have
been completed and that the Over-Allotment Option will not be exercised.
Market and Industry Data
Unless otherwise indicated, information contained in this prospectus concerning the Company’s industry and the
markets in which the Company operates or seeks to operate, including the Company’s general expectations and
market position, market opportunities and market share, is based on information from third party sources, industry
reports, journals, studies and publications (including industry surveys and forecasts), websites and other publicly
available information, and management studies and estimates.
Unless otherwise indicated, the Company’s estimates are derived from publicly available information released by
independent industry analysts and third party sources as well as data from the Company’s own internal research, and
include assumptions made by the Company which the Company believes to be appropriate and reasonable based on
the Company’s knowledge of its industry and markets. The Company’s internal research and assumptions have not
been verified by any independent source, and neither the Company nor the Underwriters have independently verified
any third party information, or ascertained the underlying industry, market, economic and other assumptions relied
upon by such sources.
While the Company believes the market information and other estimates included in this prospectus to be generally
reliable, such information and estimates are inherently imprecise. In addition, projections, assumptions and estimates
of the Company’s future performance or the future performance of the industry and markets in which the Company
operates are necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to a variety of factors, including those
described under “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information” and “Risk Factors”.
Trademarks and Trade Names
This prospectus includes the following trademarks of the Company:
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MCI Physiotherapy – word mark (Registration number TMA1011023);
MCI Dermatology – word mark (Registration number TMA1017033);
MCI The Doctor’s Office – design mark (Registration number TMA376317);
Cross and Triangle Design – design mark (Registration number TMA338748);
Aches and Pains Design – design mark (Registration number TMA403591; and
MCI – word mark (Registration number TMA332458).

Each of the above referenced trademarks is protected under applicable intellectual property laws and is the
Company’s property. The Company’s trademarks and trade names referred to in this prospectus may appear without
the ® or ™ symbol, but references to the Company’s trademarks and trade names in this prospectus in the absence of
such symbols are not intended to indicate, in any way, that the Company will not assert, to the fullest extent under
applicable law, the Company’s rights to these trademarks and trade names. All other trademarks and trade names
used in this prospectus are the property of their respective owners.
Presentation of Financial Information and Other Information
The Company presents the Financial Statements in Canadian dollars. In this prospectus, all references to “$” are
references to Canadian dollars and amounts are stated in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. The Annual
Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and audited in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards. The Quarterly Financial Statements are unaudited and have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS. All other financial information of the Company referred to herein has not been audited and is
derived from the records maintained by management of the Company.
Non-IFRS Measures
The information presented in this prospectus includes certain non-IFRS financial measures, namely gross profit,
gross margin, EBITDA and EBITDA margin. These measures are not recognized measures under IFRS and do not
have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures
presented by other companies. Rather, these measures are provided as additional information to complement those
IFRS measures by providing further understanding of the Company’s results of operations from management’s
perspective. Accordingly, these measures should not be considered in isolation nor as a substitute for analysis of the
Company’s financial information reported under IFRS. These non-IFRS measures are used to provide investors with
a supplemental measure of the Company’s operating performance and thus highlight trends in the Company’s core
business that may not otherwise be apparent when relying solely on IFRS measures. The Company also believes that
securities analysts, investors and other interested parties frequently use non-IFRS measures in the evaluation of
issuers. The Company’s management also uses non-IFRS measures in order to facilitate operating performance
comparisons from period to period, to prepare annual operating budgets and forecasts and to determine components
of management compensation. The Company believes that each of gross profit, gross margin, EBITDA and
EBITDA margin is an important supplemental measure of the Company’s performance, primarily because it and
similar measures are used widely among others in the healthcare industry as a means of evaluating a company’s
underlying operating performance.
“Gross profit” is defined as revenue less cost of physician fees.
“Gross margin” is defined as gross profit as a percentage of revenue.
“EBITDA” is defined as net income plus the sum of depreciation and amortization, interest on lease liabilities,
accretion expense, loss on disposal of property and equipment and deferred tax expense minus the sum of gain on
sublease contracts and gain on disposal of property and equipment.
“EBITDA margin” is defined as EBITDA divided by revenue.
See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis – Summary of Non-IFRS Measures”

2

MARKETING MATERIALS
A “template version” of the following “marketing materials” (each such term as defined in National Instrument 41101 – General Prospectus Requirements (“NI 41-101”) for the Offering filed with the securities commission or
similar regulatory authority in each of the provinces of Canada, other than the Province of Québec, are specifically
incorporated by reference into this prospectus:


MCI Onehealth Investor Presentation, December 2020.

The marketing materials referred to above will be available under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com.
In addition, any template version of any marketing materials filed with the securities commission or similar
regulatory authority in each of the provinces of Canada, other than the Province of Québec, in connection with the
Offering after the date hereof, but prior to the termination of the distribution of the Offered Shares under this
prospectus (including any amendments to, or an amended version of, any template version of any marketing
materials), is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein. Any template version of any marketing materials
utilized in connection with the Offering are not part of this prospectus to the extent that the contents of the template
version of the marketing materials have been modified or superseded by a statement contained in this prospectus.
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
This prospectus contains “forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities
legislation which are based upon the Company’s current internal expectations, estimates, projections, assumptions
and beliefs and views of future events. Forward-looking information can be identified by the use of forward-looking
terminology such as “aim”, “anticipate”, “believes”, “continue”, “estimate”, “envision”, “expect”, “forecast”,
“forward”, “future”, “goal”, “intend”, “likely”, “opportunity”, “outlook”, “potential”, “project”, “seeks”, “should”,
“will” and other similar words, including negative and grammatical variations thereof, or statements that certain
events or conditions “could”, “may”, “should”, “will” or “would” happen, or by discussions of strategy. Forwardlooking information include estimates, plans, expectations, opinions, forecasts, projections, targets, guidance or
other statements that are not statements of fact. Statements containing forward-looking information are made as of
the date of this prospectus and include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to:


the completion of the Offering, Pre-Closing Capital Changes and the timing thereof;



the size and price of the Offering;



the use of the net proceeds of the Offering;



the performance of the Company’s business and operations;



the Company’s expectations regarding revenues, expenses and anticipated cash needs, including the
Company’s outlook and revenue projections;



the advances in healthcare delivery, and the demand for and benefits of technology-aided healthcare;



the Company’s technology roadmap, intellectual property and license agreements;



the Company’s revenue streams;



the Company’s intention to scale applications and services globally to other healthcare industry
stakeholders;



the rollout of the Company’s virtual care platform;



the growth of the Company through acquisitions;
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the Company’s ability to improve corporate customer retention rates and to rapidly grow new service
offerings;



the Company’s products and services, both existing and under development;



the Company’s goal of improving patient-physician consult experience;



the estimated preventability of primary care errors;



the benefits to physicians of working with the Company;



the Company’s expectations regarding the renegotiation or termination of contracts;



the Company’s mission to increase access, improve quality and consistency of the healthcare system;



the Company’s ability to provide custom health packages;



the expected timing and completion of the Company’s near-term objectives;



the expansion of the Company’s healthcare and healthcare-related service offerings through its
advanced technologies;



the opportunities in respect of healthcare data;



the expected benefit from global health technology and digital health spending;



the legal framework and compliance program development in respect of certain laws which may apply
to the Company, its business and operations;



the Company’s expectation to compete with a broad and diverse set of businesses in Canada and
internationally as a result of the Company’s technology and data analytics solutions;



the Company’s capital structure and principal shareholders; and



legal proceedings.

Forward-looking information in this prospectus is based on the Company’s opinions, estimates and assumptions in
light of the Company’s experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future
developments, as well as other factors that the Company currently believes are appropriate and reasonable in the
circumstances. Despite a careful process to prepare and review the forward-looking information, there can be no
assurance that the underlying opinions, estimates and assumptions will prove to be correct. In particular, the
Company has made assumptions including:


that future revenue, operations and financial metrics of the Company will continue to grow in
accordance with management’s expectations and the execution of its business strategy;



that the Company is able to obtain future capital as and when required on reasonable commercial
terms;



that the Company is able to execute on its business strategy;



there being no material variations in the legislation and regulation of health care and health care
professionals in Canada and the regulation of electronic medical records as it affects the business of the
Company;



that the Company continues to be able to identify, negotiate and close on acquisition targets on
commercially reasonable terms;
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that operating expenses, including general and administrative expenses, will continue in accordance
with management’s expectations;



that the Company is able to attract and retain skilled personnel in terms of management, health care
professionals and administrative personnel;



there being no material adverse changes to the access and cost of open software products developed by
third parties that are utilized by the Company; and



general economic and financial market conditions.

Forward-looking information is necessarily based on a number of opinions, estimates and assumptions that the
Company considered appropriate and reasonable as of the date such statements are made, are subject to known and
unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that may cause the actual actions, events, results,
performance or achievements to differ materially from what is projected in forward-looking information, including
but not limited to the following risks described in greater detail under “Risk Factors”:


the Company’s primary care clinics business is highly dependent on provincial government insurance
payments;



the Company derives a majority of its revenue from primary care clinics and healthcare services;



the Company’s primary care clinics business is highly dependent on physicians agreeing to practice
with MCI;



if payments for services by private insurers for services are reduced or if corporate customers reduce
their demand for services, the Company’s business could be harmed;



the Company’s revenue growth rate is dependent on maintaining its stable clinical revenue base and
successfully acquiring new clinics, health service providers and technology providers to fulfill the
Company’s strategic objectives;



if the Company cannot keep pace with rapid developments in healthcare technology and change in the
Company’s industry and continue to grow its patient base, the use of the Company’s services could
decline, reducing the Company’s revenue;



the Company may face challenges in expanding into new geographic regions inside and outside of
Canada and continuing the Company’s growth within these markets;



the Company’s growth depends on its ability to retain existing patients, market additional services to
existing patients and attract new patients;



the Company’s efforts to expand its product portfolio and market reach may not succeed and may
reduce the Company’s revenue growth;



substantial and increasingly intense competition may harm the Company’s business;



if the Company fails to manage its growth effectively, its business could be harmed;



the Company’s business has generated net losses and the Company expects to continue to generate net
losses as the Company continues to make significant investments in the Company’s business;



any future acquisitions, partnerships or joint ventures that the Company makes or enters into could
disrupt the Company’s business and harm the Company’s financial condition;



the Company’s results of operations may be adversely affected by changes in foreign currency
exchange rates;
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a deterioration in the quality of the products and services the Company offers, including support
services, could adversely impact the Company’s ability to attract and retain patients;



if the Company loses key personnel, the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations may be adversely affected;



if the Company is not able to establish and maintain positive relationships with healthcare
professionals, it could have a negative impact on the Company’s business, financial condition and
results of operations;



the Company’s balance sheet includes intangible assets and goodwill. The impairment of a significant
portion of these assets may negatively affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results
of operations;



the Company is subject to risks associated with leasing space and equipment and is subject to a number
of long-term non-cancelable leases with substantial lease payments;



the Company’s insurance policies may not be sufficient to cover all claims;



management has limited experience with the requirements and demands of managing a publicly-traded
company;



management may not be able to successfully implement adequate internal controls over financial
reporting;



conflicts of interest may arise between the Company and its directors and officers as a result of other
business activities undertaken by such individuals;



professional conflict of interest rules may impact the Company’s ability to incentivize the Company’s
healthcare professionals;



the Company’s risk management policies and procedures may not be fully effective in mitigating the
Company’s risk exposure in all market environments or against all types of risks, which could expose
the Company to losses and liability and otherwise harm the Company’s business;



the Company’s services must integrate and interoperate with a variety of operating systems, software,
hardware, web browsers and networks;



if certain of the Company’s suppliers do not meet the Company’s needs, or if there are material price
increases on supplies, it could negatively impact the Company’s ability to effectively provide the
services the Company offers and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows;



changes in accounting standards or inaccurate estimates or assumptions in the application of
accounting policies could adversely affect the Company’s financial condition and results of operations;



the Company’s results of operations may be adversely affected by changes in the application of Excise
Taxes;



an occurrence of a natural disaster, widespread health epidemic, pandemic or other outbreaks could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations;



the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, including the resulting global economic uncertainty and measures
taken in response to the pandemic, could materially impact the Company’s business and future results
of operations and financial condition;
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accidental or unauthorized access to or disclosure, loss, destruction or modification of data, through
cybersecurity breaches, computer viruses, human error, natural or man-made disasters, or disruption of
the Company’s services could expose the Company to liability, protracted and costly litigation and
damage to the Company’s reputation;



the Company relies on external suppliers and development firms in foreign jurisdictions;



the Company’s systems and its third-party providers’ systems may fail, including due to factors
beyond the Company’s control, which could interrupt its service, cause the Company to lose business
and increase its costs;



if the Company is unable to successfully obtain, maintain, protect, enforce or otherwise manage the
Company’s intellectual property and proprietary rights, the Company may incur significant expenses
and the Company’s business may be adversely affected;



claims by others that the Company has infringed their proprietary technology or other IP Rights could
harm the Company’s business;



if the Company is unable to obtain or fails to comply with the licenses required to operate the
Company’s business or experience disputes with licensors or disruptions to the Company’s business
relationships with its licensors, the Company could lose license rights that are important to the
Company’s business;



the Company’s use of open source software could negatively affect the Company’s ability to sell the
Company’s solutions and could subject the Company to litigation;



the Company is subject to costs and risks associated with new or changing laws and regulations and
governmental action affecting the Company’s business;



the costs and effects of pending and future litigation, investigations or similar matters, or adverse facts
and developments related thereto, could materially affect the Company’s business, financial position
and results of operations;



the Company may be subject to claims that the Company has wrongfully hired an employee or
healthcare professional from a competitor, or that the Company’s employees, consultants or
independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information of third parties or
that the Company’s employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former
employers;



changes in laws or regulations relating to privacy and data protection, or any actual or perceived failure
by the Company to comply with such laws and regulations, or contractual or other obligation relating
to, privacy and data protection could adversely affect the Company’s business;



the Company may become involved in regulatory or agency proceedings, investigations and audits;



the Company’s dual class share structure has the effect of concentrating voting control and the ability
to influence corporate matters with those shareholders who held its shares prior to the Offering,
including the Company’s executive officers, employees and directors and their affiliates;



there is no market for the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and none may develop following the
Offering;



the price of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares in public markets may experience significant
fluctuations;



management has indicated its plan for the use of proceeds of the Offering but will ultimately exercise
its discretion in how such funds are put to use;
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the Company’s failure to raise additional capital or generate cash flows necessary to expand its
operations and invest in new technologies in the future could reduce its ability to compete successfully
and harm its results of operations;



holders of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares may be subject to dilution resulting from future
offerings of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares by the Company;



it is not anticipated that any dividend will be paid to holders of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares for
the foreseeable future;



significant holders of the Company’s Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, including Locked-up
Persons, may seek to sell all or a portion of their shareholdings in the future, which could reduce the
market price of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares;



the market price for Class A Subordinate Voting Shares may be less than the Offering Price;



requirements to comply with public company reporting obligations, as well as those of any stock
exchange, may strain the Company’s systems and resources; and



tax and accounting requirements may change in ways that are unforeseen to the Company and the
Company may face difficulty or be unable to implement and/or comply with any such changes.

Although the Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, events, results,
performance or achievements to differ materially from those described in forward-looking information, there may be
other factors not presently known to the Company or that the Company presently believes are not material that may
cause actions, events, results, performance or achievements to differ from those anticipated, estimated or intended.
Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize or should assumptions underlying the forward-looking
information prove incorrect, actual actions, events, results, performance or achievements may vary materially from
those expressed and implied by such statements contained in this prospectus. The purpose of forward-looking
information is to provide the reader with a description of management’s expectations, and such statements may not
be appropriate for any other purpose. Accordingly, prospective purchasers of Offered Shares should not place undue
reliance on forward-looking information contained in this prospectus. Although the Company believes that the
expectations reflected in statements containing forward-looking information are reasonable, it can give no assurance
that such expectations will prove to be correct. The Company disclaims any obligation to update any forwardlooking information, whether as a result of new information or future events or results, except to the extent required
by applicable securities laws.
To the extent any forward-looking statement in this prospectus constitutes “future-oriented ﬁnancial information” or
“financial outlooks” within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities laws, such information is being provided
to demonstrate the anticipated market penetration and the reader is cautioned that this information may not be
appropriate for any other purpose and the reader should not place undue reliance on such future-oriented ﬁnancial
information and financial outlooks. Future-oriented ﬁnancial information and financial outlooks, as with forwardlooking statements generally are, without limitation, based on the assumptions and subject to the risks set out above.
The Company’s actual ﬁnancial position and results of operations may differ materially from management’s current
expectations and, as a result, the Company’s revenue and expenses may differ materially from the revenue and
expenses profiles provided in this prospectus. Such information is presented for illustrative purposes only and may
not be an indication of the Company’s actual financial position or results of operations.
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Dear Reader,
Over the past 30 years our Team of professionals has diligently built MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc. into one of
Canada’s leading primary care networks. For the past decade we have been proactively focused on evaluating
opportunities to combine our significant domain expertise with proven emerging technologies in order to expand our
healthcare service offerings. We firmly believe that we are now approaching an inflection point where healthcare
professionals - aided by technology, such as machine learning - will be in a position to significantly improve how
healthcare is delivered. We are confident that our Team is in a unique position based on its deep industry
knowledge and experience to effectively capitalize on these emerging opportunities – all while maintaining the
timeless and cherished values of delivering personalized healthcare.
Technology is rapidly changing the way healthcare is provided. In recent years, we have seen an increase in the use
of telehealth and virtual doctor visits. Over the past decade we have seen the percentage of doctors using electronic
medical records (EMR) nearly triple. Since the onset of COVID-19, we have experienced exponential growth in
telehealth visits. We believe that this momentum will continue to drive the demand for technology-aided, truly
personalized healthcare which will markedly advance the breakdown of traditional silos that were unable to be
broken down before. We are confident that empowering primary caregivers with this augmentation - built on actual
clinical observations and best practices - will result in more timely and enhanced care for patients.
The whole healthcare ecosystem has traditionally been extremely resistant to change. However, as a result of the
pandemic, we have seen both patients and providers embrace innovative healthcare delivery systems at a much more
rapid rate than ever before. Both healthcare providers and patients are reporting that with the incorporation of
technology - such as telemedicine – the patient experience has improved from both perspectives. Our strategy is
focused on making care delivery more convenient, safer, and far more efficient than traditionally thought possible.
Our clinics are unique in that their workflows are designed in such a way that allows for constant evolution and
adaptation based on the continual progression of healthcare delivery. As we have historically established, our Teams
are well equipped to effectively and successfully take advantage of new technologies that will improve the delivery
of care that is provided. While not all healthcare can be delivered virtually, a significant portion certainly can. We
believe that this, in combination with new proven technologies and the acceleration of acceptance of “virtual” care,
will significantly and permanently change what both patients and providers expect from a quality healthcare
experience.
Our plan is to continue to be a leader in this evolution by leveraging our operational experience of “bricks and
mortar” clinics with new technology to lead the adaptation of integrated and seamless primary care - which is
typically a patient’s first contact with any healthcare system. Technology will help healthcare providers efficiently
make better and more effective treatment decisions while allowing them more time to spend with their patients. We
envision the ability for patients and healthcare professionals to curate optimized and personalized treatments based
on deep data insights from real life patient outcomes instead of those based strictly on theoretical interactions.
Ultimately, we are working to provide patients and their care givers the tools and knowledge necessary to optimize
their health rather than provide care reactively, which is presently the main standard of care.
Currently, highly personalized care is costly and not financially attainable by most. Our goal, through the
integration of technology, is to make this type of optimum care more accessible and affordable - thereby improving
patient outcomes and, by extension, their quality of life.
At our core, we at MCI Onehealth have always been committed to achieving our mission: improving both the
quality and access to care – through comprehensive systems and services - while reducing the overall systemic costs
of healthcare. We appreciate the support of our current and future shareholders and look forward to years of success.
(Signed) “Alex Dobranowski”

(Signed) “George Christodoulou”

(Signed) “Sven Grail”

Chief Executive Officer and
Director

Co- Founder and
Co- Executive Chair

Co- Founder and
Co- Executive Chair
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SUMMARY OF PROSPECTUS
The following is a summary of the principal features of this Offering and is qualified in its entirely by, and should be
read together with, the more detailed information, financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this
prospectus. Certain capitalized terms used in this summary are defined in the “Glossary”.
BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY
Company Overview
MCI is one of the largest primary care clinic groups in Canada providing healthcare and healthcare related services
to patients and the employees of corporate customers through its network of 25 brick and mortar clinics (20 in
Ontario and 5 in Alberta), complemented by telehealth, MCI Connect virtual platform rolling out, as well as on-site
services for its corporate customers.
The Company performs approximately 850,000 healthcare and healthcare related consultations annually to
individual consumers and the employees of 250 corporate customers through a team of 280 contracted physicians,
340 employees and other third-party healthcare contractors.
The Company believes that advanced technologies will play a key role in MCI’s ability to expand its healthcare and
healthcare-related service offerings. Led by a management team with expertise in the healthcare and technology
sectors, MCI is focused on the following strategic initiatives that are aimed at expanding the Company’s patient and
corporate customer bases, growing MCI’s revenues and expanding its operating profit and EBITDA margins:


Leveraging digitally-enabled healthcare adoption through internally developed technology, acquired
technology, and strategic partnerships and joint ventures with third parties to develop and/or license
technology;



Capitalizing on MCI’s existing clinical footprint and management’s history of successfully acquiring,
integrating and operating acquired health service providers and clinics;



Expanding the Company’s higher-margin, privately insured services through internally developed offerings
and via acquisition of health service providers; and



Leveraging information the Company collects through its clinic network, telehealth/virtual care services,
privately insured service offerings and the information the Company acquires or licenses through
agreements and strategic partnerships with third parties to develop applications and services that improve
the quality, consistency and cost of healthcare services that MCI provides. The Company intends to scale
these applications and services and offer them globally to other healthcare providers.
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Leveraging Digitally-Enabled Healthcare Adoption
MCI is developing its digitally-enabled technology with the goal of improving
the patient-physician consult experience, enhancing the Company’s health
service offerings, improving healthcare delivery efficiency and providing one
avenue for the collection, organization and structuring of data. The Company
believes the aforementioned benefits will help it retain existing patients and
corporate customers, acquire new patients and corporate customers in existing
and new geographic regions and bolster the Company’s efforts to leverage
information into future revenue streams. The platform has been in beta test with
a core group of physicians since early in the second quarter of 2020 with a
broader rollout planned for late November and December 2020.
Capitalizing on MCI’s Existing Clinical Footprint
MCI’s existing clinical footprint, which is one of the largest in Canada, is a
strategic asset for several reasons:


Stable source of revenue: The Company’s brick and mortar clinic network provides a historically consistent
source of revenue as shown in the Company’s Financial Statements and discussed under “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis”.



Patient and corporate customer retention: While the Company expects to see continued growth in the
adoption of telehealth and virtual care, many primary care health visits require the patient to be physically
examined. MCI’s clinics provide a comprehensive primary care offering, enabling it to offer its patients the
ability to be physically examined without outsourcing this function to other clinics, which the Company
believes will improve corporate customer retention rates.



Scale: The Company’s scale as a large operator of clinics in populous regions (Greater Toronto Area and
Greater Calgary Area) is a source of convenience to its patients and corporate customers. MCI’s operating
scale enables it to attract physicians and physician groups.



Ability to rapidly grow new service offerings through a well-established clinic footprint: The Company’s
existing clinic footprint enables it to grow revenue from new service offerings to existing patients and
corporate customers as well as attract new patients and corporate customers because of the clinics’
convenient locations in populous areas and existing medical and non-medical staff infrastructure.

Expanding the Company’s higher-margin, privately insured services
MCI currently supports over 250 corporate customers, a significant number of which are Fortune 500 companies,
with comprehensive medical and occupational health services. While the Company’s current services are numerous,
MCI believes that a significant opportunity exists to expand services directly to businesses of all sizes and individual
consumers. The Company believes it has the means to provide these corporations with custom health packages that
incorporate an all-inclusive one stop healthcare platform. The Company is developing these capabilities internally
and plans to grow through acquisitions in this area.
Leveraging information
MCI’s clinics have generated revenue from approximately 850,000 patient visits and over 250 corporate customers
per year for the years 2017 through 2019. The Company believes that the information generated by the volume of
patients seen annually provides a foundation on which to build its data analytics platform in support of its mission.
The Company is in the process of upgrading its infrastructure, security, privacy and legal frameworks in parallel
with the development of the Company’s brightOS data analytics platform to gain greater insights from the
Company’s two million patient records. Platform development is underway and is expected to consist of internally
developed, licensed and acquired technology based on the Company’s assessment of the best overall, long-term
return on capital and the ease with which externally developed technology can be integrated.
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brightOS is MCI’s data analytics platform that enables the Company’s clinicians and data scientists to better
visualize and derive insights from de-identified clinical data. Additionally, brightOS enables the future development
of advanced data-driven technologies such as machine learning algorithms to better understand disease progression
and optimize diagnostics (clinical support). brightOS is currently under development and is only available for testing
internally with an expected launch Q2 2021. The platform is expected to make de-identified data more accessible in
order to extract healthcare insights that can be commercialized with life science customers such as pharmaceutical
companies, governments, healthcare networks and academic/research institutions.
Another example of secure web and native applications that are in development is MCI Connect. MCI Connect
operates as MCI’s platform for patients to access the Company’s digital health services ecosystem and virtual care.
An example of a service within this ecosystem will be the Onehealth Assistant, which is an artificial intelligence
powered chatbot used to guide patients to the most appropriate treatment pathway, as shown below:

Technology Roadmap
The Company expects that its technology roadmap will be primarily focused on the development, scaling and
preparation for commercialization of patient and physician interfacing applications that will improve and modernize
12

the patient experience and give physicians tools to practice medicine more safely and effectively. In parallel, the
Company will also be focusing technology development resources on implementing the necessary infrastructure to
support brightOS and enable the continuing development of data-driven technologies (including data-analytics and
visualization) that are reliant on access to well-structured and de-identified clinical data.
See the figure below for the Company’s technology roadmap, a domain focused approach to developing distinct
revenue drivers:

Business Model
Over the next 24 months, the Company plans to grow its revenue through the deployment of technology products
and services under development, expanded private healthcare services and acquisitions of technology and
geographically strategic clinics. By combining data analytics, patient and physician facing technologies such as
telehealth, virtual care and healthcare expertise, the Company believes it can improve the quality, consistency and
efficiency of services provided at its primary care clinics. The Company’s overarching goal for the deployment of its
healthcare technology is to improve patient outcomes through the delivery of a comprehensive set of healthcare
services.
Over the next 24 months, the Company expects to generate revenue through three primary sources:


Traditional government funded healthcare services driven by patient visits and government reimbursements
from the Company’s brick and mortar clinics and telehealth/virtual care consultations.



Privately funded healthcare services such as occupational health for corporate customers and corporate
benefits that are outside of the scope of government funding programs but fulfilled by MCI employees and
third party contractors at the customer's site, the Company’s brick and mortar clinics or via
telehealth/virtual care consultations.



Technology solutions including subscription sales of de-identified data and de-identified data insights, as
well as patient and physician facing applications. Potential purchasers of these insights and solutions
include life sciences companies, medical device companies, academic institutions and diagnostics
companies.
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INDUSTRY DESCRIPTION
Overview
As individual preferences concerning healthcare have evolved, patient preferences have put more value on the
consistent interface between patient and clinicians. This dynamic, in conjunction with the COVID-19 pandemic, has
put less emphasis on brick and mortar clinics, and elevated the value and importance of virtual healthcare solutions.
As a result, primary care has evolved into a hybrid model which leverages both in person and virtual care solutions
which are highly complementary.
As a by-product of the industry shift towards technology adoption, the move towards modernization of the primary
healthcare system provides opportunities in the innovation of medical research via the availability of data sets
derived from electronic de-identified patient records. For a variety of applications, industry stakeholders such as
universities, medical research centers, and pharmaceutical companies have driven the market for quality aggregated
data upon which they can base research at lower costs.
Number of Competitors in the Market
Accelerated by recent catalysts, a number of different competitors have emerged, including: 1) clinics whose
physicians offer in-person and telephone consulting and virtual care through a hybrid model; 2) pure-play telephone
consulting and virtual care companies offering direct to patient healthcare experiences; and 3) technology companies
offering EMR and other digital health tools for physicians and brick and mortar clinics looking to develop hybrid
healthcare practices.
Canadian Primary Clinics Landscape
In Canada, there are 89,911 physicians and 40,000+ clinics (according to Statista.com). The market is fragmented
and presents significant consolidation opportunities. In addition, total gross clinical payments to physicians
increased to over $28 billion in 2018-2019 (according to the Canadian Institute for Health Information).
Large and Growing Addressable Market
The proportion of Canadian family doctors using EMR systems has increased from 30% in 2009, to 73% in 2015,
and to 86% in 2019. The high rate of EMR penetration has provided clinics with the tools to offer patients other
digital health services such as online prescription renewals. However, only 22% of Canadians currently are able to
view their medical history online, and only 27% can access their personal medical records online. In 2019, only 3%
of Canadians conducted a video-based appointment, and only 8% had access to such services.
Type of digital health service

Type of virtual care interaction with physcians

The Canadian market opportunity is supported by expected growth in the global telephone consulting and virtual
care industry over the next several years. In April 2020, Global Market Insights forecasted the global telephone
consulting and virtual care market to grow at a compound annual growth rate of 19.3% from 2020 to 2026, rising
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from approximately US$45.5 billion to US$175 billion in 2026. Similarly, the U.S. telephone consulting and virtual
care market hit a high of USD$6.6 billion in 2019 and is expected to grow at a CAGR of 15.8% to USD$25.8 billion
by 2027.
Global Telehealth and Virtual Care Market, US$M

Recent Reforms and Industry Response
Most provinces have introduced reforms to expand telephone consulting and virtual care access in order to ensure
coverage and access to primary healthcare. In addition, the federal government recently announced telephone
consulting and virtual care funding to maintain patient access to primary and mental health services affected by
COVID-19. Since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, approximately 60% of all primary healthcare visits are
conducted virtually and only 40% are conducted in person. This is in contrast to 20% and 80%, respectively, in the
pre-COVID-19 environment.
COVID-19 Related healthcare interaction

Non-COVID-19 healthcare interactions

Source: Canaccord Genuity Research

Healthcare Data
Innovation in medical research and improving patient care has placed a greater importance on consolidated data sets
derived from patient records. With worldwide clinical data doubling every three months, the Company believes
there is a growing opportunity for curating data that is presently isolated within individual networks, in turn masking
the value of what one wholly uninterrupted individual patient data set could provide. When curated or consolidated
into a single de-identified longitudinal data set, patient level records trace a complete story of a patient’s health,
wellness, diagnosis, treatment, medical procedures and outcomes. On an aggregated level, this allows for greater
insight into treatment, methods and care.
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Customers of aggregated de-identified patient data include drug manufactures, clinic networks, hospice care
providers, universities and research institutions, public health networks such as Health Canada and the United
Kingdom National Health Service.
While the aggregation of data has historically been an arduous task, the digitization of patient records via EMR
systems and cloud-based storage allows those providing primary care to collect and aggregate data on an
anonymized basis from which industry stakeholders can draw conclusions.

Source: E&Y Report
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The following table sets out a summary of the Company’s results of operations for the three and nine month periods
ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, and for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 as well as specific
balance sheet data as at the end of each such period. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis”.
Three months ended
September 30,

2020

Nine months ended
September 30,

2019

2020

2019

Years ended December 31,

2019

2018

2017

Sales

$9,836,437

$11,499,167

$27,590,048

$34,357,609

46,291,016

45,059,698

43,534,012

Expenses

$8,880,003

$12,339,816

$27,685,631

$36,168,700

$48,655,306

$47,520,739

$45,740,939

Income (loss) before
taxes

$1,488,722

($278,679)

$1,531,517

($189,770)

$(28,950)

$(209,679)

$(2,568)

Net and comprehensive
income

$1,122,405

($301,590)

$1,217,067

($258,502)

$(120,561)

$(242,108)

$(6,622)

Net income (loss) per
share – basic and diluted

$5,576

($1,475)

$6,040

($1,253)

$(601)

$(1,146)

$(14)

Weighted average shares
– basic and diluted

200

200

200

200

200

200

200

$0.03

($0.01)

$0.03

($0.01)

$(0.00)

$(0.01)

$(0.00)

Weighted average shares
– basic(2)

40,000,000

40,000,000

40,000,000

40,000,000

40,000,000

40,000,000

40,000,000

EBITDA(1)

$2,339,501

$637,866

$4,125,716

$2,563,637

$3,640,387

$3,489,300

$3,505,310

23.8%

5.5%

15.0%

7.5%

7.9%

7.7%

8.1%

As at
September
30,

As at
December
31,

As at
December
31,

2020

2019

2018

Cash

$3,107,039

$1,127,854

$927,808

Net Property, Plant and
Equipment

$13,701,486

$15,830,364

$17,555,484

Total assets

$22,734,076

$22,688,962

$25,240,767

Total non-current
financial liabilities

$19,255,106

$20,427,059

$22,858,303

Shareholder equity

$3,478,970

$2,261,903

$2,382,464

Net income (loss) per
share – basic(2)

EBITDA margin %(1)

Balance Sheet Items

Notes:
(1) See “About this Prospectus – Non-IFRS Measures”.
(2) Prior to Closing, assuming completion of the Pre-Closing Capital Changes.
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THE OFFERING
Offering:

[●] Offered Shares.

Issue Price:

$[●] per Offered Share.

Size of Offering:

$[●]
($[●] assuming the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full).

Over-Allotment Option:

The Company has granted the Underwriters the Over-Allotment Option
exercisable, in whole or in part and from time to time, in the sole discretion of
the Underwriters, for a period of 30 days from the Closing Date, under which
the Underwriters may purchase up to an additional [●] Offered Shares at the
Offering Price, to cover over-allotments, if any, and for market stabilization
purposes. See “Plan of Distribution”.

Shares Outstanding:

Upon completion of the Pre-Closing Capital Changes, the Company’s
authorized share capital will consist of: an unlimited number of Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares, of which 40,000,000 were issued and outstanding
as of [●], 2020; an unlimited number of Class B Multiple Voting Shares, of
which 36,000,000 were issued and outstanding as of [●], 2020; and an
unlimited number of preferred shares, issuable in series, none of which were
issued and outstanding as of [●], 2020.
Immediately following the Closing, an aggregate of [●] Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares ([●] Class A Subordinate Voting Shares if the Over-Allotment
Option is exercised in full), 36,000,000 Class B Multiple Voting Shares and no
preferred shares will be issued and outstanding.
The Class B Multiple Voting Shares carry a greater number of votes per
share relative to the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. The Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares are therefore “restricted securities” within the
meaning of such term under applicable Canadian securities laws. Other
than their superior voting rights, the Class B Multiple Voting Shares have
no other rights.
See “Description of Share Capital”.

Use of Proceeds:

After deduction of the Underwriters’ Fee of $[●] and estimated expenses of the
Offering payable by the Company of $[●], the Company anticipates that it will
receive net proceeds of approximately $[●], or $[●] if the Over-Allotment
Option is exercised in full (in each case, assuming there are [●] Offered Shares
sold to President’s List purchasers in the Offering).
The Company intends to use the net proceeds of the Offering (assuming no
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option) in three areas:




approximately 50% or $[●] to support and accelerate its technology
roadmap. Proceeds will be used to develop software applications and
the Company’s core data analytics platform, acquire or gain access to
technology through acquisitions and strategic partnerships and to
pursue sales and marketing efforts to support revenue growth;
approximately 40% or $[●] to support and accelerate the broadening
of its health services offerings and privately paid for health services;
and
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approximately 10% or $[●] to execute marketing initiatives, corporate
development efforts and working capital.

Although the Company currently intends to allocate the net proceeds received
from the Offering as described above, the actual allocation of the net proceeds
of the Offering may vary depending on the amount of the net proceeds of the
Offering, the Company’s working capital, future cash flows from operations
and other circumstances and developments that could arise where the
Company’s capital resources may need to be allocated differently at the
discretion of the Board of Directors and/or management. See “Use of
Proceeds”.
Black-out Period:

The Company has agreed that it and any successor shall not, directly or
indirectly, issue, sell, offer, grant an option or right in respect of (or agree to or
publicly announce any intention to do any of the foregoing) any additional
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares or any securities convertible or
exchangeable into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, other than (i) pursuant
to the Offering; (ii) pursuant to the grant or exercise of stock options and other
similar issuances pursuant to any stock option plan or similar share
compensation arrangements in place prior to Closing; (iii) the issuance of
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares upon the exercise of convertible securities,
warrants, options or obligations outstanding prior to Closing; (iv) in
connection with any arm’s length acquisition or other corporate acquisitions by
the Company, for a period commencing on the Closing Date and ending 180
days from the date of the listing of the Offered Shares on the TSX, without the
prior written consent of Canaccord, on behalf of the Underwriters, such
consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

Lock-up Arrangements:

The Company has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain, and
in any event it is a condition of the Closing that the Underwriters have
received, from each of the Locked-up Persons, consisting of directors and
officers of the Company and their respective associates and certain beneficial
shareholders of the Company, a Lock-up Agreement with the Underwriters
whereby such persons will agree, other than in connection with the Offering
and subject to certain exceptions, not to directly or indirectly, sell, offer,
hypothecate, assign, transfer, pledge, grant a security interest in, contract to
sell, grant or sell an option or warrant to purchase, purchase any option or
contract to sell, lend, swap or otherwise enter into any arrangement (including
monetization arrangement or hedging or similar transaction), whether through
the facilities of a stock exchange, by private placement or otherwise, which has
the effect of transferring any or all of the economic benefits of ownership of
any of their Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, securities convertible into or
exchangeable into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, or other equity
securities, or announce publicly their intention to do so, without having
obtained the prior written consent of Canaccord (on behalf of the
Underwriters). At the Closing, all of the Locked-up Securities will be subject
to the terms of the Lock-up Agreements and one-third (1/3) of the Locked-Up
Securities will be released in equal parts after six, twelve and eighteen months
following the Closing. See “Plan of Distribution” and “Escrowed Securities
and Securities Subject to Contractual Restriction on Transfer”.

Risk Factors:

An investment in the Offered Shares should be considered highly speculative
and involves significant risks. Prospective purchasers of Offered Shares should
carefully review and consider the risk factors described in greater detail under
“Risk Factors” which include, but are not limited to, the following:
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the Company’s primary care clinics business is highly dependent on
provincial government insurance payments;



the Company derives a majority of its revenue from primary care
clinics and healthcare services;



the Company’s primary care clinics business is highly dependent on
physicians agreeing to practice with MCI;



if payments for services by private insurers for services are reduced or
if corporate customers reduce their demand for services, the
Company’s business could be harmed;



the Company’s revenue growth rate is dependent on maintaining its
stable clinical revenue base and successfully acquiring new clinics,
health service providers and technology providers to fulfill the
Company’s strategic objectives;



if the Company cannot keep pace with rapid developments in
healthcare technology and change in the Company’s industry and
continue to grow its patient base, the use of the Company’s services
could decline, reducing the Company’s revenue;



the Company may face challenges in expanding into new geographic
regions inside and outside of Canada and continuing the Company’s
growth within these markets;



the Company’s growth depends on its ability to retain existing
patients, market additional services to existing patients and attract
new patients;



the Company’s efforts to expand its product portfolio and market
reach may not succeed and may reduce the Company’s revenue
growth;



substantial and increasingly intense competition may harm the
Company’s business;



if the Company fails to manage its growth effectively, its business
could be harmed;



the Company’s business has generated net losses and the Company
expects to continue to generate net losses as the Company continues
to make significant investments in the Company’s business;



any future acquisitions, partnerships or joint ventures that the
Company makes or enters into could disrupt the Company’s business
and harm the Company’s financial condition;



the Company’s results of operations may be adversely affected by
changes in foreign currency exchange rates;



a deterioration in the quality of the products and services the
Company offers, including support services, could adversely impact
the Company’s ability to attract and retain patients;



if the Company loses key personnel, the Company’s business,
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financial condition and results of operations may be adversely
affected;


if the Company is not able to establish and maintain positive
relationships with healthcare professionals, it could have a negative
impact on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations;



the Company’s balance sheet includes intangible assets and goodwill.
The impairment of a significant portion of these assets may negatively
affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations;



the Company is subject to risks associated with leasing space and
equipment and is subject to a number of long-term non-cancelable
leases with substantial lease payments;



the Company’s insurance policies may not be sufficient to cover all
claims;



management has limited experience with the requirements and
demands of managing a publicly-traded company;



management may not be able to successfully implement adequate
internal controls over financial reporting;



conflicts of interest may arise between the Company and its directors
and officers as a result of other business activities undertaken by such
individuals;



professional conflict of interest rules may impact the Company’s
ability to incentivize the Company’s healthcare professionals;



the Company’s risk management policies and procedures may not be
fully effective in mitigating the Company’s risk exposure in all
market environments or against all types of risks, which could expose
the Company to losses and liability and otherwise harm the
Company’s business;



the Company’s services must integrate and interoperate with a variety
of operating systems, software, hardware, web browsers and
networks;



if certain of the Company’s suppliers do not meet the Company’s
needs, or if there are material price increases on supplies, it could
negatively impact the Company’s ability to effectively provide the
services the Company offers and could have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition
and cash flows;



changes in accounting standards or inaccurate estimates or
assumptions in the application of accounting policies could adversely
affect the Company’s financial condition and results of operations;



the Company’s results of operations may be adversely affected by
changes in the application of Excise Taxes;
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an occurrence of a natural disaster, widespread health epidemic,
pandemic or other outbreaks could have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations;



the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, including the resulting global
economic uncertainty and measures taken in response to the
pandemic, could materially impact the Company’s business and
future results of operations and financial condition;



accidental or unauthorized access to or disclosure, loss, destruction or
modification of data, through cybersecurity breaches, computer
viruses, human error, natural or man-made disasters, or disruption of
the Company’s services could expose the Company to liability,
protracted and costly litigation and damage to the Company’s
reputation;



the Company relies on external suppliers and development firms in
foreign jurisdictions;



the Company’s systems and its third-party providers’ systems may
fail, including due to factors beyond the Company’s control, which
could interrupt its service, cause the Company to lose business and
increase its costs;



if the Company is unable to successfully obtain, maintain, protect,
enforce or otherwise manage the Company’s intellectual property and
proprietary rights, the Company may incur significant expenses and
the Company’s business may be adversely affected;



claims by others that the Company has infringed their proprietary
technology or other IP Rights could harm the Company’s business;



if the Company is unable to obtain or fails to comply with the licenses
required to operate the Company’s business or experience disputes
with licensors or disruptions to the Company’s business relationships
with its licensors, the Company could lose license rights that are
important to the Company’s business;



the Company’s use of open source software could negatively affect
the Company’s ability to sell the Company’s solutions and could
subject the Company to litigation;



the Company is subject to costs and risks associated with new or
changing laws and regulations and governmental action affecting the
Company’s business;



the costs and effects of pending and future litigation, investigations or
similar matters, or adverse facts and developments related thereto,
could materially affect the Company’s business, financial position
and results of operations;



the Company may be subject to claims that the Company has
wrongfully hired an employee or healthcare professional from a
competitor, or that the Company’s employees, consultants or
independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed
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confidential information of third parties or that the Company’s
employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of
their former employers;


changes in laws or regulations relating to privacy and data protection,
or any actual or perceived failure by the Company to comply with
such laws and regulations, or contractual or other obligation relating
to, privacy and data protection could adversely affect the Company’s
business;



the Company may become involved in regulatory or agency
proceedings, investigations and audits;



the Company’s dual class share structure has the effect of
concentrating voting control and the ability to influence corporate
matters with those shareholders who held its shares prior to the
Offering, including the Company’s executive officers, employees and
directors and their affiliates;



there is no market for the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and
none may develop following the Offering;



the price of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares in public markets
may experience significant fluctuations;



management has indicated its plan for the use of proceeds of the
Offering but will ultimately exercise its discretion in how such funds
are put to use;



the Company’s failure to raise additional capital or generate cash
flows necessary to expand its operations and invest in new
technologies in the future could reduce its ability to compete
successfully and harm its results of operations;



holders of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares may be subject to
dilution resulting from future offerings of Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares by the Company;



it is not anticipated that any dividend will be paid to holders of Class
A Subordinate Voting Shares for the foreseeable future;



significant holders of the Company’s Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares, including Locked-up Persons, may seek to sell all or a portion
of their shareholdings in the future, which could reduce the market
price of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares;



the market price for Class A Subordinate Voting Shares may be less
than the Offering Price;



requirements to comply with public company reporting obligations, as
well as those of any stock exchange, may strain the Company’s
systems and resources; and



tax and accounting requirements may change in ways that are
unforeseen to the Company and the Company may face difficulty or
be unable to implement and/or comply with any such changes.
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BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY
Company Overview
MCI is one of the largest primary care clinic groups in Canada providing healthcare and healthcare related services
to patients and the employees of corporate customers through its network of 25 brick and mortar clinics (20 in
Ontario and 5 in Alberta), complemented by telehealth, MCI Connect virtual platform rolling out, as well as on-site
services for its corporate customers.
The Company performs approximately 850,000 healthcare and healthcare related consultations annually to
individual consumers and the employees of 250 corporate customers through a team of 280 contracted physicians,
340 employees and other third-party healthcare contractors.
The Company’s mission is to empower patients and physicians with advanced technologies intended to increase
access, improve quality and consistency of medical services. MCI believes that this will improve the affordability of
government-funded and privately-funded primary care services. Industry statistics show 70% of all adverse medical
events are estimated to be preventable. The Company believes that advanced technologies will play a key role in
MCI’s ability to expand its healthcare and healthcare-related service offerings. Led by a management team with
expertise in the healthcare and technology sectors, MCI is focused on the following strategic initiatives that are
aimed at expanding the Company’s patient and corporate customer bases, growing MCI’s revenues and expanding
its operating profit and EBITDA margins:


Leveraging digitally-enabled healthcare adoption through internally developed technology, acquired
technology, and strategic partnerships and joint ventures with third parties to develop and/or license
technology;



Capitalizing on MCI’s existing clinical footprint and management’s history of successfully acquiring,
integrating and operating acquired health service providers and clinics;



Expanding the Company’s higher-margin, privately insured services through internally developed offerings
and via acquisition of health service providers; and



Leveraging information the Company collects through its clinic network, telehealth/virtual care services,
privately insured service offerings and the information the Company acquires or licenses through
agreements and strategic partnerships with third parties to develop applications and services that improve
the quality, consistency and cost of healthcare services that MCI provides. The Company intends to scale
these applications and services and offer them globally to other healthcare providers.
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Leveraging Digitally-Enabled Healthcare Adoption
MCI is developing its digitally-enabled technology with the goal of improving
the patient-physician consult experience, enhancing the Company’s health
service offerings, improving healthcare delivery efficiency and providing one
avenue for the collection, organization and structuring of data. The Company
believes the aforementioned benefits will help it retain existing patients and
corporate customers, acquire new patients and corporate customers in existing
and new geographic regions and bolster the Company’s efforts to leverage
information into future revenue streams. Currently, the platform consists of
internally developed and third-party licensed software that enables a physician
to consult with a patient and pass information into the Company’s EMR system
to record and bill for the visit in detail. The platform has been in beta test with a
core group of physicians since early in the second quarter of 2020 with a
broader rollout planned for late November and December 2020. The Company
will continue development of the platform feature set with internally developed
and licensed or acquired technology based on the Company’s assessment of the
best overall, long-term return on capital.
Capitalizing on MCI’s Existing Clinical Footprint
MCI’s existing clinical footprint, which is one of the largest in Canada, is a strategic asset for several reasons:


Stable source of revenue: The Company’s brick and mortar clinic network provides a historically consistent
source of revenue as shown in the Company’s Financial Statements and discussed under “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis”.



Patient and corporate customer retention: While the Company expects to see continued growth in the
adoption of telehealth and virtual care, many primary care health visits require the patient to be physically
examined. While telephone consults and virtual visits can address a significant portion of overall
consultations, provincial healthcare law may require patients to be physically examined at least once per
year in order to support ongoing treatments, ensure that the patient’s health status has not changed and to
determine if ongoing treatment is still in the patient’s best interest. MCI’s clinics provide a comprehensive
primary care offering, enabling it to offer its patients the ability to be physically examined without
outsourcing this function to other clinics, which the Company believes will improve corporate customer
retention rates.



Scale: The Company’s scale as a large operator of clinics in populous regions (Greater Toronto Area and
Greater Calgary Area) is a source of convenience to its patients and corporate customers. MCI’s operating
scale enables it to attract physicians and physician groups. A larger clinic footprint with an existing group
of physicians affords joining physicians more flexibility in scheduling, access to more clinics from which
to work and greater purchasing power for supplies and other materials used in daily practice. Generally,
these attributes allow physicians to spend more time on healthcare and less time on administrative work
compared with physicians running their own practices. Physicians can often earn more money working for
MCI as a result of these attributes than they would if managing their practice independently.



Ability to rapidly grow new service offerings through a well-established clinic footprint: The Company’s
existing clinic footprint enables it to grow revenue from new service offerings to existing patients and
corporate customers as well as attract new patients and corporate customers because of the clinics’
convenient locations in populous areas and existing medical and non-medical staff infrastructure. The
Company believes it has capacity to add new staff where required to support new health service offerings.

Expanding the Company’s higher-margin, privately insured services
MCI currently supports over 250 corporate customers, a significant number of which are Fortune 500 companies,
with comprehensive medical and occupational health services, including mental health services, workers’ safety
insurance board early intervention programs, nurse staffing, drug and alcohol testing, pre-employment medical
25

checks, physiotherapy and rehabilitation programs, travel immunization programs and COVID-19 site screening.
Some of the Company’s corporate customers include Delta Airlines, Cathay Pacific Airways, DHL Express, Speedy
Transport, Magna International, Ford Motor Company of Canada, Great Gulf Homes and Tucker High Rise.
While the Company’s current services are numerous, MCI believes that a significant opportunity exists to expand
services directly to businesses of all sizes and individual consumers. Based on a Deloitte report regarding mental
health programs in the workplace, one of the gating factors for corporations looking to implement these programs is
their large, complex and highly decentralized footprints. The Company believes it has the means to provide these
corporations with custom health packages that incorporate an all-inclusive one stop healthcare platform. The
Company is developing these capabilities internally and plans to grow through acquisitions in this area.
Leveraging information
MCI’s clinics have generated revenue from approximately 850,000 patient visits and over 250 corporate customers
per year for the years 2017 through 2019. Based on the Company’s experience in providing primary healthcare, and
the E&Y Report, which focused on the primary care data analytics and information markets in Canada and the UK,
the Company believes that the information generated by the volume of patients seen annually provides a foundation
on which to build its data analytics platform in support of its mission.
The Company is in the process of upgrading its infrastructure, security, privacy and legal frameworks in parallel
with the development of the Company’s brightOS data analytics platform to gain greater insights from the
Company’s two million patient records. Platform development is underway and is expected to consist of internally
developed, licensed and acquired technology based on the Company’s assessment of the best overall, long-term
return on capital and the ease with which externally developed technology can be integrated.

brightOS is MCI’s data analytics platform that enables the Company’s clinicians and data scientists to better
visualize and derive insights from de-identified clinical data (“brightOS”). Additionally, brightOS enables the
future development of advanced data-driven technologies such as machine learning algorithms to better understand
disease progression and optimize diagnostics (clinical support). brightOS is currently under development and is only
available for testing internally with an expected launch Q2 2021. The platform is expected to make de-identified
data more accessible in order to extract healthcare insights that can be commercialized with life science customers
such as pharmaceutical companies, governments, healthcare networks and academic/research institutions.
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The Company expects to spend and reinvest approximately 8% of its total forecast revenue in order to support its
technology development over the next 24 months. Products in development that are expected to contribute to
revenue in the next 24 months include the Company’s data-driven patient symptom and triage tools, the Company’s
brightOS data analytics platform and the supporting infrastructure to amass, organize, access and analyze vast
amounts of information to provide clinicians with real-time support and relevant insights into diagnostic problems.
MCI has contracted with a dedicated software development firm to continue to advance its technology and data
solutions. The contracted firm will leverage its network of software developers and data scientists to perform the
work required by the Company. All intellectual property developed by this team for the Company is the sole
property of the Company and may not be used by anyone else or any other organization without the Company’s
express permission. A mature development process has been carefully orchestrated and maintained to allow for the
reliable and timely development of commercial grade and secure web and native applications. Development assets
include expertise in development operations, user experience and user interface design, front and back-end
development, quality assurance testing, database engineering and science and dedicated cyber security. To aide in
this process, the Company has been qualified as an IBM Business Partner. Within this partnership, the Company has
been collaborating with IBM to embed their technologies into the Company’s solutions and is also collaborating
with the IBM data science elite team and machine learning hub.
Another example of secure web and native applications that are in development is MCI Connect. MCI Connect
operates as MCI’s platform for patients to access the Company’s digital health services ecosystem and virtual care.
MCI Connect is a web and native iOS application and is currently in beta testing with an expected launch and scale
within the Company’s practice network during December 2020. An example of a service within this ecosystem will
be the Onehealth Assistant, which is an artificial intelligence powered chatbot used to guide patients to the most
appropriate treatment pathway, as shown below:

Technology Roadmap
The Company expects that its technology roadmap will be primarily focused on the development, scaling and
preparation for commercialization of patient and physician interfacing applications that will improve and modernize
the patient experience and give physicians tools to practice medicine more safely and effectively. In parallel, the
Company will also be focusing technology development resources on implementing the necessary infrastructure to
support brightOS and enable the continuing development of data-driven technologies (including data-analytics and
visualization) that are reliant on access to well-structured and de-identified clinical data.
See the figure below for the Company’s technology roadmap, a domain focused approach to developing distinct
revenue drivers:
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In order to execute its roadmap, the Company intends to continue to expand its contracted development team, hire
focused expertise and acquire or license complimentary technology and resources.
The following are the Company’s significant research and development projects and associated milestones in
connection with its roadmap:
PROJECTS

MCI Connect:
Patient & doctor
interfacing
application
ecosystem
inclusive of web
and mobile
applications
(virtual care,
online
scheduling,
patient support).

BrightOS: Data
visualization and
analytics
platform that
enables
development of
data driven
advanced
technologies and
accessing data
insights.
Onehealth
Assistant: Datadriven patient
symptom

STATUS
Numerous work
programs
completed:
Virtual care:
Available for use.
Mobile
Application:
Under
development.
Practice
Optimization
Tools (eg.
Online
scheduling):
Under
development.

MILESTONES

BUSINESS
OBJECTIVES

TIMING

COST TO
COMPLETE

RESOURCES

Completed beta
version.
Commercial
grade versioning.

Comprehensive
Virtual Care.
Integrated care
and concierge
medical services.
Mobile Patient
Experience
Optimize clinic
network wide
processes.

Launch now,
rollout features
through 2021.

$2 million

Internal &
Subcontractor

Numerous work
programs
completed: Early
phase
development.

Complete beta
version.
Commercial
grade versioning.

Enable Data
Structuring, deidentifying data
and data
visualization.
Comprehensive
data analytics.

Launch later
2021.

$2 million

Internal &
Subcontractor

Numerous work
programs
completed: BetaTesting.

Complete beta
version.
Commercial
grade versioning.

Improve patient
experience and
optimize patient
triage process.

Launch later
2021.

$1 million

Internal &
Subcontractor
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checking and
triage tool,
powered by
artificial
intelligence.

Optimize patient
logistics and
supply chain.

Business Model
The Company’s gross revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019 was approximately $46.3 million, generated
primarily from the operation and management of primary care clinics offering walk-in, family practice and medical
specialty services. These clinical services are delivered either directly to the patients at medical clinics or through
telehealth/virtual care consultations. The Company’s clinics are staffed by approximately 280 licensed medical
practitioners who service approximately 850,000 patient visits annually. The Company also provides occupational
health services to over 250 corporate customers and earns additional revenue by subleasing space within its primary
care facilities to other healthcare providers such as dentists, chiropractors, opticians and massage therapists.
Over the next 24 months, the Company plans to grow its revenue through the deployment of technology products
and services under development, expanded private healthcare services and acquisitions of technology and
geographically strategic clinics. By combining data analytics, patient and physician facing technologies such as
telehealth, virtual care and healthcare expertise, the Company believes it can improve the quality, consistency and
efficiency of services provided at its primary care clinics. The Company’s overarching goal for the deployment of its
healthcare technology is to improve patient outcomes through the delivery of a comprehensive set of healthcare
services.
Over the next 24 months, the Company expects to generate revenue through three primary sources:


Traditional government funded healthcare services driven by patient visits and government reimbursements
from the Company’s brick and mortar clinics and telehealth/virtual care consultations.



Privately funded healthcare services such as occupational health for corporate customers and corporate
benefits that are outside of the scope of government funding programs but fulfilled by MCI employees and
third party contractors at the customer's site, the Company’s brick and mortar clinics or via
telehealth/virtual care consultations.



Technology solutions including subscription sales of de-identified data and de-identified data insights, as
well as patient and physician facing applications. Potential purchasers of these insights and solutions
include life sciences companies, medical device companies, academic institutions and diagnostics
companies.

Specialized Skill and Knowledge
The Company relies on its more than 30 years of experience in efficiently managing healthcare clinic networks to
deliver high quality healthcare in government and privately funded healthcare systems. The Company’s health
technology-driven growth plans are rooted in the experience of its senior leadership team in the areas of clinical
practice, technology planning, funding and development and mergers and acquisitions experience in dental and
medical services. MCI’s management team strongly believes its experience in healthcare provides a strong
foundation on which to deploy capital efficiently in healthcare technology development, healthcare clinic services
and mergers and acquisitions in these sectors. The Company’s experience in and focus on the primary care industry
differentiates the Company from competitors acquiring healthcare clinics and deploying technology with limited or
no prior clinical experience.
Management further believes its experience in developing strategic partnerships and funding sources in the U.S. will
provide support for the Company’s expansion plans. The Company’s Co-Chairs previously founded Altima Dental,
which has grown to over 100 clinics across six provinces, with over 1,000 healthcare practitioners and staff, making
it one of the largest network of partner-owned dental clinics in Canada.
The Company requires specialized skills and knowledge in operations, human resource management, finance,
healthcare regulation and data privacy. MCI believes that it has adequate personnel and resources with the
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specialized skills required to carry out its operations successfully. See “Risk Factors– Risks Relating to the Business
and the Industry” in this prospectus.
Competitive Conditions
The market for technology-enabled healthcare is competitive but fragmented, with numerous participants competing
in various segments of the healthcare technology market. The Company’s competitive success is contingent on its
ability to efficiently address the needs of the Company’s key stakeholders, which include consumers (patients),
corporate customers, employers, healthcare providers and governments, with superior outcomes at scale compared
with competitors. The Company expects to face increasing competition, both from current competitors, which may
be well established and enjoy greater resources or other strategic advantages to compete for some or all of the key
stakeholders in the Company’s markets, as well as new entrants into its markets.
MCI believes its most direct competition today is from primary care providers. The primary healthcare market is
fragmented, with thousands of medical clinics spread across Canada, the majority of which are owned and managed
by physicians. A lack of professional management and other associated infrastructure limits their ability to grow
beyond a single location or small, regional network of clinics. The Company is one of the largest primary healthcare
providers in Canada according to the E&Y Report. Other large medical groups include Apple Tree, Elna, Medisys
and Well Health Technologies. Together with the Company, these large medical groups account for less than 0.25%
of the Canadian primary medical healthcare market as estimated using statistics from Statista.com on the number of
family general practitioners per province and the Company’s own internal estimates. This indicates that the market
is fragmented and presents significant consolidation opportunities.
In technology-enabled healthcare services, the Company’s primary competitors in Canada include: Babylon
operated by Telus, Medeo operated by Loblaws, LiveCare operated by CloudMD, Tia Health operated by Insig,
Doxy.me, Maple, Dialogue and Virtual Clinic+ operated by Well Health Technologies. Telehealth and virtual care
technologies is an emerging market in Canada that has only recently gained traction in terms of increased patient
visits due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
The Company’s technology and data analytics solutions are expected to compete with a broad and diverse set of
businesses in Canada and internationally including large systems integrators such as Accenture and Deloitte, as well
as industry-focused data aggregators and analytics providers such as Inovalon and Iqvia.
Components
MCI sources clinical supplies, exam room equipment and medical equipment used in the provision of healthcare
services from multiple suppliers. Under normal operating conditions, none of the materials, supplies and equipment
it uses are sole sourced nor are they in critical supply. During the COVID-19 pandemic, some supplies have been
and continue to be more difficult to obtain, but the Company’s ability to multi-source supplies and materials enabled
it to largely continue its operations, subject to any applicable local public health orders or restrictions. As a result,
supply shortages did not materially impact results. See “Risk Factors – Risks Relating to the Business and the
Industry” for further information.
Intangible Properties
MCI protects its proprietary rights through a combination of copyright, trade-mark and trade secret laws as well as
contractual provisions. The source code for its software is generally protected under Canadian and U.S. copyright
laws.
The Company seeks to avoid disclosure of its intellectual property and proprietary information through its general
practice of requiring employees, contractors and consultants to execute agreements mandating non-disclosure of,
and assignment to, MCI of intellectual property. Such agreements require employees and consultants to assign to
MCI all intellectual property developed in the course of their employment or engagement, as applicable, and to keep
information relating to the Company confidential.
The Company also utilizes non-disclosure agreements to govern interactions with business partners, prospective
business partners and other relationships that may necessitate disclosure of proprietary information.
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The Company holds the trademarks set out under “About this Prospectus – Trademarks and Trade Names”.
Cycles
While MCI’s clinical practice business is fairly consistent throughout the year due to the nature of the primary care
needs of its family and walk-in patients, the Company’s first quarter tends to be the strongest each year as a result of
the cold and flu season.
Economic Dependence
Currently, the vast majority of MCI’s revenue is derived from provincial healthcare insurance payments for the
health services its physicians provide to its patients. The Company’s clinical business is governed by provincial
health authorities who grant licenses to physicians to practice medicine. The Company takes industry standard
measures to ensure its physicians are properly licensed and that the physicians operate their practices in a manner
consistent with the requirements of the College of Physicians and Surgeons and the College of Nurses, as applicable.
If physicians do not abide by health regulations or are in any way abusing or in material non-compliance with
provincial insurance plans, the Company has the right to terminate contracts with physicians under certain
circumstances.
MCI expects its future technology and data-driven revenue streams will be governed by Canadian federal and
provincial laws, as well as applicable foreign laws, covering data privacy and security. As such, the Company, with
its external counsel, is developing a legal framework to ensure it will be compliant with all local and federal laws in
the jurisdictions in which it operates. Currently, the Company’s CEO is acting as CIO. As the Company’s datadriven business grows, it intends to separate the CIO role from the CEO by hiring a dedicated CIO.
Changes to Contracts
MCI does not expect to be materially impacted by the renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts in
2020. The Company has negotiated rent relief on a number of its clinic leases and received subsidies under the
Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy (“CEWS”) program and the Canada Emergency Commercial Rent Assistance
Program (“CECRA”). In total, the Company has received approximately $2.5 million in assistance from the CEWS
and CECRA programs through September 30, 2020 (see Financial Statements for more information). The
Company’s successful use of its telehealth and virtual care technologies has been instrumental to the revenue
recovery ramping from a very small telehealth and virtual care patient base entering 2020, to well over 200,000
visits through September 2020. The Company expects telehealth and virtual care to continue to grow and drive
health services revenue from its current and future health services offerings.
Environmental Protection
The Company uses, generates, stores, handles and disposes of potentially hazardous materials at its clinics and
occupational health operations. Further, government regulations have become stricter due to the COVID-19
pandemic and, as such, the Company’s protocols have been adjusted accordingly.
The Company believes its current operations are in compliance in all material respects with environmental laws and
regulations. Environmental protection requirements are not expected to have material financial or operational effects
on the Company’s capital expenditures, profit or loss, or competitive condition in the current financial year.
Employees and Independent Contractors
As of the date of this prospectus, the Company has approximately 340 clinical and non-clinical support employees,
280 physicians who provide services as independent contractors and approximately 40 dedicated technology
professionals including developers, designers and data scientists who are under contract with the Company through
a dedicated third-party software development firm.
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General Healthcare Regulation in Canada
Healthcare service providers in Canada are subject to various governmental regulations and licensing requirements
and, as a result, the Company’s businesses operate in an environment in which government regulations and funding
play a key role. The level of government funding directly reflects government policy related to healthcare spending,
and decisions can be made regarding such funding that are largely beyond the businesses’ control. Any change in
government regulation, delisting of services, and licensing requirements relating to healthcare services, or their
interpretation and application, could adversely affect the business, financial conditions and results of operations of
the Company’s businesses. In addition, the Company could incur significant costs in the course of complying with
any changes in the regulatory regime. Non-compliance with any existing or proposed laws or regulations could
result in audits, civil or regulatory proceedings, fines, penalties, injunctions, recalls or seizures, any of which could
adversely affect the reputation, operations or financial performance of the Company. See “Risk Factors – Risks
Relating to Regulation and Litigation” in this prospectus.
MCI is subject to applicable Canadian privacy laws regarding its handling of patient, corporate customer and
employee data. Among other things, Canada’s Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act
(“PIPEDA”) and its provincial counterparts, govern the collection, use and disclosure of personal information in the
course of commercial activities by private sector organizations in Canada. As the Company’s business is integrated
in the healthcare industry, it is also subject to provincial health privacy legislation in the provinces in which it
operates, which governs the collection, use and disclosure of patient personal health information by healthcare
providers and their service providers. In addition, provincial privacy legislation regulates the Company’s handling of
employee personal information. These privacy laws impose various obligations on the Company and restrict the
Company’s collection, use and disclosure of personal information. Further, such privacy laws require the Company
to safeguard the information and to provide individuals with various rights to access and correct their personal
information, or (in some cases) to withhold or revoke their consent, and provide for oversight by privacy
commissioners. See “Risk Factors – Risks Relating to Regulation and Litigation” in this prospectus.
General Development of the Business
Set out below are the events and conditions which have influenced the general development of MCI’s business
during the past three years:
2017
The Co-Executive Chairs, Messrs. Grail and Christodoulou of MCI recognized the importance and opportunity of
modernizing primary care and empowering their physicians and patients with technology. As clinicians themselves,
they have a deep understanding of the longer time horizon trends in healthcare and the challenges that all
stakeholders face in the healthcare system. Witnessing first-hand how dramatic an impact harnessing clinical data
can have in other areas of healthcare, the Co-Executive Chairs began to evolve their roadmap and strategic plan of
how to make preventative and individualized care more accessible and affordable leveraging the experience gained
in building Altima Dental into one of the largest dental service organizations in Canada.
The Company focused on the delivery and growth of primary care and privately insured healthcare services. During
this time, the Company explored various EMR technology to modernize and improve services delivery and prepare
the company for its next phase of evolution as a leading primary care services provider and a healthcare technology
company.
The Company acquired an 80% stake in Prime Urgent Care Clinic Inc. (now renamed MCI Prime Urgent Care
Clinic Inc.) (“PUCCI”) in 2017. PUCCI was a general practitioner medical facility located in Mississauga, Ontario.
The Co-Executive Chairs were attracted to PUCCI’s cash flow generation and the potential efficiencies they
believed it could offer. For example, MCI believed PUCCI’s cash flow could be increased by expanding the clinic’s
hours of operation and developing a means to reduce operating costs. Since its acquisition by the Company, PUCCI
has been renamed and now operates as MCI McLaughlan.
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2018
Prior to 2018, the Company had experience with several EMR vendors. In an effort to standardize and reduce costs,
the Company evaluated a number of EMR vendors and decided to implement the Accuro EMR platform as a key
piece of technology. The decision was based on ease of use, ability to reduce errors in billing for publicly insured
services, and the platform being cloud-based which enables location flexible access by authorized users of the
system.
The Co-Executive Chairs began to collaborate with Dr. Dobranowski on the development of a technology roadmap,
with the goals of dramatically improving the quality, consistency, affordability and accessibility of primary care
services. In order to achieve these goals, Dr. Dobranowski spear-headed an intensive phase of strategic planning in
order to determine the feasibility of executing, and identifying the required resources to execute, the Company’s
technology roadmap. Dr. Dobranowski then assembled a team of application programmers and data scientists under
contract to design the framework and processes necessary for commercial grade application development. See
“Business of the Company – Company Overview – Technology Roadmap”.
2019
Dr. Dobranowski’s team started early stage development of a number of applications (i.e. clinical standards, virtual
care, and practice optimization tools). Cloud computing infrastructure and development operations processes to
support the applications were also implemented.
Separately, the roadmap for the development of the data analytics platform (that would eventually become
brightOS) was crystalized. In addition, the roadmap for data-driven applications that leverage the data analytics
platform was matured.
The Company hired a new Manager of Occupational Health Services to run its privately insured corporate health
services in the second half of the year.
2020
COVID-19 accelerated the company’s use of telehealth as a primary healthcare delivery channel.
Dr. Dobranowski’s team accelerated the development of the patient and doctor facing applications (i.e. virtual care)
with beta testing beginning early in the year and general roll out is currently under way.
In September 2020, Messrs. Christodoulou and Grail became Co-Executive Chairs, Dr. Dobranowski and Mr.
Nirenberski joined the company as CEO and CFO, respectively.
In consideration of entering into a contract with the Company to assume the role of CEO, Dr. Dobranowski assigned
and transferred certain intellectual property rights relating to brightOS to MCI in October 2020.
Prior to Closing, the Company will effect the Pre-Closing Capital Changes as described under “Description of Share
Capital”.
CORPORATE STRUCTURE
General
The Company was incorporated on July 18, 2012 under the OBCA with the name “Altima Healthcare Canada Inc.”.
Its articles were amended on September 11, 2020 in order to change its name to “MCI Brighthealth Technologies
Inc.”. On December 2, 2020, its articles were further amended to change its name to “MCI Onehealth Technologies
Inc.”. The Company’s head office is located at 1 Yorkdale Road, Suite 209, Toronto, Ontario M6A 3A1 and its
registered and records office is located at Suite 2400, Bay Adelaide Centre, 333 Bay Street, Toronto, Ontario M5H
2T6. In connection with, and prior to, the Closing, the Pre-Closing Capital Changes will be implemented (including
the continuation of the Company under the CBCA).
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The Company has one direct wholly-owned subsidiary, MCI Medical Clinics Inc., one indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary, MCI Medical Clinics (Alberta) Inc., and one indirect 80% owned subsidiary, MCI Prime Urgent Care
Clinic Inc., as set out in the organizational chart below. As at the date hereof, the authorized capital of the Company
consists of an unlimited number of common shares, of which 210.5 common shares are issued and outstanding.
The Company’s fiscal year end is December 31.

Notes:
(1)
(2)
(3)

MCI Medical Clinics Inc. operates 20 medical clinics in Ontario.
MCI Medical Clinics (Alberta) Inc. operates five medical clinics in Alberta.
MCI Prime Urgent Care Clinics Inc. operates one medical clinic in Ontario. The prior owner that sold Prime Urgent Care (now MCI
Prime Urgent Care Clinic Inc.) retained a 20% interest in the subsidiary as part of the purchase agreement. The prior owner is a
physician that continues to work at this clinic.

Prior to Closing, the Company will implement the Pre-Closing Capital Changes in order to, among other things:
create a new class of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares; create a new class of Class B Multiple Voting Shares;
exchange each common share for 190,000 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and 190,000 Class B Multiple Voting
Shares; and repeal the common shares. See “Description of Share Capital”.
INDUSTRY DESCRIPTION
Overview
Primary care is the provision of integrated, accessible health care services by clinicians who are accountable for
addressing a large majority of individual health care needs, developing long-term partnerships with patients and
practicing in the context of community and family. Primary care physicians oversee the health of patients with
regard to physical, mental, emotional and social concerns.
Traditionally, a patient sees a primary care physician (general practitioner) in a community-based clinic. This is
where a patient can be confidentially evaluated and examined by a primary care team in order to determine the
optimal care pathway to resolve their health concern.
As individual preferences concerning healthcare have evolved, patient preferences have put more value on the
consistent interface between patient and clinicians. This dynamic, in conjunction with the COVID-19 pandemic, has
put less emphasis on brick and mortar clinics, and elevated the value and importance of virtual healthcare solutions.
As a result, primary care has evolved into a hybrid model which leverages both in person and virtual care solutions
which are highly complementary.
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Coupled with evolving patient demands and macro influences, available technology has provided healthcare clinics
with the opportunity to increase efficiencies through the implementation of customer relationship management and
EMR systems. Several SaaS companies have emerged and taken advantage of this development by selling software
specific for managing healthcare facilities across the U.S. and Canada.
As a by-product of the industry shift towards technology adoption, the move towards modernization of the primary
healthcare system provides opportunities in the innovation of medical research via the availability of data sets
derived from electronic de-identified patient records. For a variety of applications, industry stakeholders such as
universities, medical research centers, and pharmaceutical companies have driven the market for quality aggregated
data upon which they can base research at lower costs.
Number of Competitors in the Market
Accelerated by recent catalysts, a number of different competitors have emerged, including: 1) clinics whose
physicians offer in-person and telephone consulting and virtual care through a hybrid model; 2) pure-play telephone
consulting and virtual care companies offering direct to patient healthcare experiences; and 3) technology companies
offering EMR and other digital health tools for physicians and brick and mortar clinics looking to develop hybrid
healthcare practices.
Canadian Primary Clinics Landscape
In Canada, there are 89,911 physicians and 40,000+ clinics (according to Statista.com). WELL Health Technologies,
with a network of 20 clinics, is the fourth largest clinic primary care establishment in Canada. The market is
fragmented and presents significant consolidation opportunities. In addition, total gross clinical payments to
physicians increased to over $28 billion in 2018-2019 (according to the Canadian Institute for Health Information).
Typically, physicians providing services in primary care clinics keep or receive 70% of revenues, while 30% is used
to cover operational expenses, implying a market size for total clinical payments of approximately $40 billion.
Large and Growing Addressable Market
The proportion of Canadian family doctors using EMR systems has increased from 30% in 2009, to 73% in 2015,
and to 86% in 2019. The high rate of EMR penetration has provided clinics with the tools to offer patients other
digital health services such as online prescription renewals. However, only 22% of Canadians currently are able to
view their medical history online, and only 27% can access their personal medical records online. In 2019, only 3%
of Canadians conducted a video-based appointment, and only 8% had access to such services.

Type of digital health service

Type of virtual care interaction with physcians

The Canadian market opportunity is supported by expected growth in the global telephone consulting and virtual
care industry over the next several years. In April 2020, Global Market Insights forecasted the global telephone
consulting and virtual care market to grow at a compound annual growth rate of 19.3% from 2020 to 2026, rising
from approximately US$45.5 billion to US$175 billion in 2026. Similarly, the U.S. telephone consulting and virtual
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care market hit a high of USD$6.6 billion in 2019 and is expected to grow at a CAGR of 15.8% to USD$25.8 billion
by 2027.
Global Telehealth and Virtual Care Market, US$M

Recent Reforms and Industry Response
Most provinces have introduced reforms to expand telephone consulting and virtual care access in order to ensure
coverage and access to primary healthcare. In addition, the federal government recently announced telephone
consulting and virtual care funding to maintain patient access to primary and mental health services affected by
COVID-19. Since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, approximately 60% of all primary healthcare visits are
conducted virtually and only 40% are conducted in person. This is in contrast to 20% and 80%, respectively, in the
pre-COVID-19 environment.

COVID-19 Related healthcare interaction

Non-COVID-19 healthcare interactions

Source: Canaccord Genuity Research

Healthcare Data
Innovation in medical research and improving patient care has placed a greater importance on consolidated data sets
derived from patient records. With worldwide clinical data doubling every three months, the Company believes
there is a growing opportunity for curating data that is presently isolated within individual networks, in turn masking
the value of what one wholly uninterrupted individual patient data set could provide. When curated or consolidated
into a single de-identified longitudinal data set, patient level records trace a complete story of a patient’s health,
wellness, diagnosis, treatment, medical procedures and outcomes. On an aggregated level, this allows for greater
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insights with regards to disease progression, pathophysiology and efficacy of therapeutics; insights that are
considered valuable for many stakeholders, such as pharmaceutical companies, researchers and clinicians.
The Company has identified a significant opportunity to capture part of the healthcare data and data analytics market
in Canada and the U.S. McKinsey and Co. recently published a report that cited previous research stating that there
is a $300 billion opportunity from data and analytics in U.S. healthcare. The Company expects to benefit from
global health technology and digital health spending that is estimated to reach USD$504.4 billion by 2025,
according to Global Market Insights.
Customers of aggregated de-identified patient data include drug manufactures, clinic networks, hospice care
providers, universities and research institutions, and public health networks such as Health Canada and the United
Kingdom National Health Service. The benefits of access to aggregated de-identified patient data include:











deeper disease understanding;
treatment effectiveness and safety;
improvements in the quality of care, such as faster and early diagnosis;
observation of real-world patient outcomes and clinical pathway efficiency;
improved patient access to therapies;
evidence of cost-effectiveness and outcomes to inform value-based payments;
efficient target identification for new treatments and medicines;
clinical trial designs for target populations a reduced time to market for new therapies;
operational and cost-effectiveness of healthcare deliveries and work force planning; and
enablement of personalized medicine.

While the aggregation of data has historically been an arduous task, the digitization of patient records via EMR
systems and cloud-based storage allows those providing primary care to collect and aggregate data on an
anonymized basis from which industry stakeholders can draw conclusions.

Source: E&Y Report

USE OF PROCEEDS
The net proceeds to the Company from the Offering will be approximately $[●], after deduction of the
Underwriters’ Fee of $[●] (assuming [●] Offered Shares are sold to President’s List purchasers in the Offering) and
the estimated expenses payable by the Company in the amount of $[●].
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The Company intends to use the net proceeds of the Offering (assuming no exercise of the Over-Allotment Option)
in three areas:





approximately 50% or $[●] to support and accelerate its technology roadmap. Proceeds will be used to
develop software applications and the Company’s core data analytics platform, acquire or gain access to
technology through acquisitions and strategic partnerships and to pursue sales and marketing efforts to
support revenue growth. Specifically, the Company expects the following allocations to apply for the next
24 months for fiscal 2021 and 2022: (i) 20% on the development of software applications and the core data
analytics platform; (ii) 20% on technology acquisitions and strategic partnerships; and (iii) 10% on sales
and marketing efforts supporting technology revenue;
approximately 40% or $[●] to support and accelerate the broadening of its health services offerings and
privately paid for health services; and
approximately 10% or $[●] to execute marketing initiatives, corporate development efforts and working
capital.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is regularly in acquisition discussions with and performing due
diligence on potential acquisition targets but no letters of intent have been executed at this point. As noted above,
approximately 40% of the net proceeds of the Offering are expected to be allocated to accelerating the broadening of
health services, including potential acquisitions of other health service providers that offer privately insured
services.
If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the Company will receive an additional aggregate of
approximately $[●] in net proceeds, after deducting the Underwriters’ Fee. Any amount received by the Company
on account of the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option will be used for working capital and general corporate
purposes.
Although the Company currently intends to allocate the net proceeds received from the Offering as described above,
the actual allocation of the net proceeds of the Offering may vary depending on the amount of the net proceeds of
the Offering, the Company’s working capital, future cash flows from operations and other circumstances and
developments that could arise where the Company’s capital resources may need to be allocated differently at the
discretion of the Board of Directors and/or management. See “Risk Factors – Risks Relating to the Offering”.
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION
General
Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Company has agreed to sell, and the Underwriters have agreed to
purchase as principals, on the Closing, an aggregate of [●] Offered Shares, at a price per Offered Share equal to the
Offering Price, for aggregate gross consideration of $[●] payable in cash against delivery of the Offered Shares on
the Closing Date, subject to and in compliance with all of the necessary legal requirements and conditions contained
in the Underwriting Agreement.
The obligations of the Underwriters under the Underwriting Agreement are several and not joint. The Underwriters
are, however, severally obligated to take up and pay for all of the Offered Shares if any of the Offered Shares are
purchased under the Underwriting Agreement. The Underwriters are not required to take up or pay for Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares covered by the Over-Allotment Option described below. The obligations of the
Underwriters under the Underwriting Agreement are conditional and may be terminated at their discretion on the
basis of each of a: “litigation out”, “material change out”, “disaster out”, “proceedings to restrict distribution out”,
“market out”, and “change of laws out”, as well as upon the occurrence of certain stated events.
In consideration for the services provided by the Underwriters in connection with the Offering and pursuant to the
terms of the Underwriting Agreement, the Company has agreed to pay to the Underwriters the Underwriters’ Fee,
equal to 6.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds from the sale of Offered Shares pursuant to the Offering (subject to a
reduced fee of 3.0% for Offered Shares sold by the Underwriters to President’s List purchasers). All President’s List
purchasers will purchase the Offered Shares from the Underwriters through client accounts with registered dealers
who are obligated to conduct know-your-client and suitability analyses for purchasers with respect to such
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purchases. The Company has also agreed to pay for certain expenses of the Underwriters in connection with the
Offering.
The Company has granted the Underwriters the Over-Allotment Option exercisable, in whole or in part, and from
time to time, in the sole discretion of the Underwriters, for a period of 30 days from the Closing Date, under which
the Underwriters may purchase up to an additional [●] Offered Shares (representing 15% of the aggregate number of
initial Offered Shares offered pursuant to the Offering) at the Offering Price, to cover over-allotments, if any, and
for market stabilization purposes. All references to “Offered Shares” in this prospectus include the Offered Shares
that may be issued pursuant to the Over-Allotment Option. The grant of the Over-Allotment Option and the Offered
Shares issued upon exercise of the Over-Allotment Option are qualified for distribution under this prospectus. A
purchaser who acquires securities forming part of the Underwriters’ over-allocation position acquires those
securities under this prospectus, regardless of whether the over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or secondary market purchases.
The size of the Offering and the Offering Price will be determined by negotiation between the Company and the
Underwriters and are expected to be $30 million and between $5.00 and $6.75, respectively. Such determination will
be based upon several factors, including the history of, and prospects for, the Company’s business and the industry
in which it competes and an assessment of the Company’s management, operations and financial results, and may
bear no relationship to the price that will prevail in the public market.
The Offering is being made concurrently in each of the provinces of Canada, other than the Province of Québec. The
Offered Shares will be offered through the Underwriters directly. Subject to applicable law, the Underwriters may
offer the Offered Shares outside of Canada. The Company has agreed to indemnify the Underwriters and their
respective directors, officers and employees against certain liabilities pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement,
including liabilities under Canadian securities legislation, or will contribute to payments the Underwriters may be
required to make in respect thereof. There is no market through which Class A Subordinate Voting Shares may be
sold and prospective purchasers may not be able to resell Class A Subordinate Voting Shares purchased under this
prospectus.
The Company has applied to list the Offered Shares on the TSX. Listing will be subject to the Company fulfilling all
the listing requirements of the TSX, including a distribution of Offered Shares to a minimum number of public
shareholders.
Subscriptions will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part and the Underwriters reserve the
right to close the subscription books at any time without notice.
The Underwriters and/or their affiliates from time to time may provide in the future, investment banking, financial
advisory, broker-dealer and commercial banking services to the Company and their subsidiaries and affiliates in the
ordinary course of business for which they have received, or may receive, customary fees and commissions.
Black-out Period
The Company has agreed that it and any successor shall not, directly or indirectly, issue, sell, offer, grant an option
or right in respect of (or agree to or publicly announce any intention to do any of the foregoing) any additional Class
A Subordinate Voting Shares or any securities convertible or exchangeable into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares,
other than (i) pursuant to the Offering; (ii) pursuant to the grant or exercise of stock options and other similar
issuances pursuant to any stock option plan or similar share compensation arrangements in place prior to Closing;
(iii) the issuance of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares upon the exercise of convertible securities, warrants, options
or obligations outstanding prior to Closing; (iv) in connection with any arm’s length acquisition or other corporate
acquisitions by the Company, for a period commencing on the Closing Date and ending 180 days from the date of
the listing of the Offered Shares on the TSX, without the prior written consent of Canaccord, on behalf of the
Underwriters, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
Lock-up Arrangements
The Company has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain, and in any event it is a condition of the
Closing that the Underwriters have received, from each of the directors and officers of the Company and their
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respective associates and certain beneficial shareholders of the Company (the “Locked-up Persons”), a lock up
agreement with the Underwriters whereby such persons will agree, other than in connection with the Offering and
subject to certain exceptions, not to directly or indirectly, sell, offer, hypothecate, assign, transfer, pledge, grant a
security interest in, contract to sell, grant or sell an option or warrant to purchase, purchase any option or contract to
sell, lend, swap or otherwise enter into any arrangement (including monetization arrangement or hedging or similar
transaction), whether through the facilities of a stock exchange, by private placement or otherwise, which has the
effect of transferring any or all of the economic benefits of ownership of any of their Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares, securities convertible into or exchangeable into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, or other equity
securities, or announce publicly their intention to do so, without having obtained the prior written consent of
Canaccord (on behalf of the Underwriters) (the “Lock-up Agreements”). At the Closing, all of the securities held
by each Locked-up Person (the “Locked-up Securities”) will be subject to the terms of the Lock-up Agreements
and one-third (1/3) of the Locked-Up Securities will be released in equal parts after six, twelve and eighteen months
following the Closing. See “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restriction on Transfer”.
No Registration in the United States of America
The Offered Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act, or any U.S. state
securities laws and, accordingly, may not be offered, sold, or delivered directly or indirectly, within the United
States, except in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable
U.S. state securities laws. The Underwriters have agreed that, except as permitted by the Underwriting Agreement
and as expressly permitted by applicable United States federal and state securities laws, they will not offer or sell
any of the Offered Shares within the United States. The Underwriting Agreement permits the Underwriters to offer
and sell the Offered Shares purchased by them outside the United States in compliance with Regulation S under the
U.S. Securities Act. The Underwriting Agreement also permits the Underwriters to (i) offer and resell the Offered
Shares that they have acquired pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement in the United States to persons who are
Qualified Institutional Buyers in compliance with Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act and applicable U.S. state
securities laws, and (ii) offer the Offered Shares in the Offering in the United States to persons to whom the
Company will sell such securities directly as substituted purchasers where such persons are “accredited investors” as
defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D under the U.S. Securities Act, in compliance with Rule 506(b) of Regulation
D under the U.S. Securities Act and and/or pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the U.S. Securities Act and similar
exemptions under applicable U.S. state securities laws.
This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, any of the Offered Shares in
the United States. In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the Offering, any offer or sale of Offered
Shares offered hereby within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the Offering) may
violate the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in
accordance with an exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act.
The Offered Shares offered or sold in the United States will be “restricted securities” within the meaning of Rule
144(a)(3) under the U.S. Securities Act. Any certificates representing such Offered Shares will bear a legend to the
effect that the securities represented thereby are not registered under the U.S. Securities Act or any applicable U.S.
state securities laws and may only be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred pursuant to certain exemptions
from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and any applicable U.S. state securities laws.
Terms used and not defined in the three preceding paragraphs shall have the meanings ascribed thereto by
Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act.
Price Stabilization, Short Positions and Passive Market-Making
In connection with the Offering, the Underwriters may over-allocate or effect transactions that stabilize or maintain
the market price of the Offered Shares at levels other than those that otherwise might prevail on the open market,
including stabilizing transactions, short sales, purchases to cover positions created by short sales, the imposition of
penalty bids, and syndicate covering transactions. Such transactions, if commenced, may be discontinued at any
time.
Stabilizing transactions consist of bids or purchases made for the purpose of preventing or retarding a decline in the
market price of the Offered Shares while the Offering is in progress. These transactions may also include making
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short sales of the Offered Shares, which involve the sale by the Underwriters of a greater number of Offered Shares
than they are required to purchase in the Offering. Short sales may be “covered short sales”, which are short
positions in an amount not greater than the Over-Allotment Option, or may be “naked short sales”, which are short
positions in excess of that amount.
The Underwriters may close out any covered short position either by exercising the Over-Allotment Option, in
whole or in part, and from time to time or by purchasing Offered Shares in the open market. In making this
determination, the Underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of Offered Shares available for
purchase in the open market compared with the price at which they may purchase Offered Shares through the OverAllotment Option.
The Underwriters must close out any naked short position by purchasing Offered Shares in the open market. A
naked short position is more likely to be created if the Underwriters are concerned that there may be downward
pressure on the price of the Offered Shares in the open market that could adversely affect purchasers who purchase
Offered Shares in the Offering. However, the Underwriters do not intend to create any naked short position. While
not expected, if the Underwriters did take a naked short position, it would only be taken as part of the OverAllotment Option for price stabilization.
In addition, in accordance with rules and policy statements of certain Canadian securities regulators, the
Underwriters may not, at any time during the period of distribution, bid for or purchase Offered Shares. The
foregoing restriction is, however, subject to exceptions where the bid or purchase is not made for the purpose of
creating actual or apparent active trading in, or raising the price of, the Offered Shares. These exceptions include a
bid or purchase permitted under the rules of applicable regulatory authorities and the applicable stock exchange,
including the Universal Market Integrity Rules for Canadian Marketplaces, relating to market stabilization and
passive market making activities and a bid or purchase made for and on behalf of a customer where the order was
not solicited during the period of distribution.
As a result of these activities, the price of the Offered Shares may be higher than the price that otherwise might exist
in the open market. If these activities are commenced, they may be discontinued by the Underwriters at any time.
The Underwriters may carry out these transactions on any stock exchange on which the Offered Shares are listed, in
the over-the-counter market, or otherwise.
Closing Mechanics
Other than in certain circumstances, it is anticipated that the Offered Shares will be delivered electronically through
the NCI System of CDS. On the Closing Date, the Company, via its transfer agent, will electronically deliver the
Offered Shares registered to CDS or its nominee. Transfers of ownership of Offered Shares in Canada must be
effected through a CDS participant, which includes securities brokers and dealers, banks and trust companies. All
rights of shareholders who hold Offered Shares in CDS must be exercised through, and all payments or other
property to which such shareholders are entitled, will be made or delivered by CDS or the CDS participant through
which the shareholder holds such Offered Shares. A holder of an Offered Share participating in the NCI System will
not be entitled to a certificate or other instrument from the Company or the Company’s transfer agent evidencing
that person’s interest in or ownership of Offered Shares, nor, to the extent applicable, will such holder be shown on
the records maintained by CDS, except through an agent who is a CDS participant. The ability of a beneficial owner
of Offered Shares to pledge such Offered Shares or otherwise take action with respect to such owner’s interest in
such Offered Shares (other than through a CDS participant) may be limited due to the lack of a physical certificate.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Offered Shares issued to persons in the United States who are not Qualified
Institutional Buyers will be issued and delivered in physically certificated form.
Distribution in the United Kingdom
The content of this promotion has not been approved by an authorised person within the meaning of the
United Kingdom Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”). Reliance on this promotion for the
purpose of engaging in any investment activity may expose an individual to a significant risk of losing all of
the property or other assets invested.
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This prospectus, is only being and may only be distributed to and directed at a limited number of persons in the
United Kingdom who are within the categories of persons referred to in Article 19 (investment professionals) or
Article 49(2)(a) to (d) (high net worth companies, unincorporated associations, etc.) of the United Kingdom
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 (the “Financial Promotion Order”) or
persons in the United Kingdom to whom the Offering may otherwise be made or to whom the Offering may
otherwise be directed in the United Kingdom without an approved prospectus having been made available to the
public in the United Kingdom before the Offering is made, and without making an unlawful financial promotion (all
such persons together being referred to as “relevant persons”).
If investors fall within Article 19(5) (investment professionals) of the Financial Promotion Order, then this
prospectus is directed at persons having professional experience in matters relating to investments and any
investment or investment activity to which the this prospectus relates is available only to such persons and will be
engaged in only with such persons. Persons who do not have professional experience in matters relating to
investments should not rely on this prospectus.
Certified high net worth company or unincorporated association is defined in Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Financial
Promotion Order as: (a) any body corporate which has, or which is a member of the same group as an undertaking
which has, a called-up share capital or net assets of not less than (i) if the body corporate has more than 20 members
or is a subsidiary undertaking of an undertaking which has more than 20 members, £500,000; (ii) otherwise, £5
million; (b) any unincorporated association or partnership which has net assets of not less than £5 million; (c) the
trustee of a high value trust; (d) any person (“A”) whilst acting in the capacity of director, officer or employee of a
person (“B”) falling within any of sub-paragraphs (a) to (c) where A’s responsibilities, when acting in that capacity,
involve him in B's engaging in investment activity.
It is not intended that this prospectus be distributed or passed on to, directly or indirectly, to any person who is not a
relevant person and any such person should not act or rely on this prospectus or any of its contents. The securities
being offered hereunder are only available to, and any invitation, offer or agreement to subscribe, purchase or
otherwise acquire such securities will be engaged in only with, relevant persons. Any person who is not a relevant
person should not act or rely on this prospectus or any of its contents.
This prospectus is not a prospectus for the purposes of Section 85(1) of FSMA or an approved prospectus within the
meaning of Section 85(7) of FSMA and has not been prepared in accordance with the prospectus rules contained in
the handbook of the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) published and updated from time to
time by the FCA. Accordingly, this prospectus has not been examined or approved as a prospectus by the FCA
under Section 87A of FSMA or by the London Stock Exchange, and has not been filed with the FCA pursuant to the
rules published by the FCA implementing the Prospectus Regulation (2017/1129).
CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION
The following table sets out the consolidated capitalization of the Company: (i) as at September 30, 2020; and (ii) as
at September 30, 2020 after giving effect to the Pre-Closing Capital Changes and the Offering (and assuming no
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option). This table should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Financial
Statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus, and with the information set out under
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis” and “Use of Proceeds”.

As at September 30, 2020
$3,107,039
Cash and Cash Equivalents ................................................................
$0.00
Total Debt ................................................................................................
(2)(3)
$3,478,970
Total Equity
................................................................
$3,478,970
Total Capitalization(4) ................................................................

As at September 30, 2020
(after giving effect to the PreClosing Capital Changes and
the Offering)
$[●](1)
$[●]
$[●]
$[●]

Notes:
(1)
The amount included in the table includes the estimated net proceeds of the Offering after deducting the estimated expenses of the
Offering and assuming no exercise of the Over-Allotment Option. The amount does not reflect the use of proceeds set out under “Use of
Proceeds”.
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(2)
Total equity is comprised of share capital, contributed surplus and total retained earnings.
(3)
As at September 30, 2020, the Company was authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and 200 common shares
were issued and outstanding. Prior to Closing, the Company will implement the Pre-Closing Capital Changes in order to, among other things:
create a new class of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares; create a new class of Class B Multiple Voting Shares; exchange each common share for
190,000 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and 190,000 Class B Multiple Voting Shares; and repeal the common shares. See “Description of
Share Capital”. After giving effect to the Pre-Closing Capital Changes, immediately prior to Closing, 40,000,000 Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares will be issued and outstanding; 36,000,000 Class B Multiple Voting Shares will be issued and outstanding; and no preferred shares will be
issued and outstanding.
(4)
Total capitalization is the sum of total debt and total equity.

After giving effect to the Offering, the equity of the Company will increase by the amount of the capital raised under
the Offering and the number of issued and outstanding Class A Subordinate Voting Shares will increase by such
number distributed under the Offering and there will be no change in the number of Class B Multiple Voting Shares
issued and outstanding.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
The following management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”)
should be read in conjunction with the Company’s financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017 (the “Annual Financial Statements”), and for the three and nine month periods ending September
30, 2020 and 2019 (the “Quarterly Financial Statements”), including the notes thereto, included in this prospectus
and which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS (collectively, the “Financial Statements”). This MD&A is
presented as of the date of this prospectus and is current to that date unless otherwise stated. This MD&A contains
forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including statements regarding
anticipated developments in future financial periods and the Company’s plans and objectives. There can be no
assurance that such information will prove to be accurate, and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on
such forward-looking statements. See “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information” and “Risk
Factors”.
Overview
The Company was incorporated on July 18, 2012 under the OBCA. The principal activities of the Company are the
operation of primary care medical clinics in the provinces of Alberta and Ontario, Canada. See “Business of the
Company – Company Overview” for an overview of the Company and its business. In connection with, and prior to,
the Closing, the Pre-Closing Capital Changes will be implemented (including the continuation of the Company
under the CBCA).
Non-IFRS Measures
The information presented in this prospectus includes non-IFRS financial measures, namely gross profit, gross
margin, EBITDA and EBITDA margin. These measures are not recognized measures under IFRS and do not have a
standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented
by other companies. See “About this Prospectus – Non-IFRS Measures”.
Selected Financial Information
The following table sets out a summary of the Company’s results of operations for the three and nine month periods
ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, and for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, as well as specific
balance sheet data as at the end of each such period.
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Three months ended
September 30,

2020

Nine months ended
September 30,

2019

2020

2019

Years ended December 31,

2019

2018

2017

Sales

$9,836,437

$11,499,167

$27,590,048

$34,357,609

46,291,016

45,059,698

43,534,012

Expenses

$8,880,003

$12,339,816

$27,685,631

$36,168,700

$48,655,306

$47,520,739

$45,740,939

Income (loss) before
taxes

$1,488,722

($278,679)

$1,531,517

($189,770)

$(28,950)

$(209,679)

$(2,568)

Net and comprehensive
income

$1,122,405

($301,590)

$1,217,067

($258,502)

$(120,561)

$(242,108)

$(6,622)

Net income (loss) per
share – basic and diluted

$5,576

($1,475)

$6,040

($1,253)

$(601)

$(1,146)

$(14)

Weighted average shares
– basic and diluted

200

200

200

200

200

200

200

$0.03

($0.01)

$0.03

($0.01)

$(0.00)

$(0.01)

$(0.00)

Weighted average shares
– basic(2)

40,000,000

40,000,000

40,000,000

40,000,000

40,000,000

40,000,000

40,000,000

EBITDA(1)

$2,339,501

$637,866

$4,125,716

$2,563,637

$3,640,387

$3,489,300

$3,505,310

23.8%

5.5%

15.0%

7.5%

7.9%

7.7%

8.1%

As at
September
30,

As at
December
31,

As at
December
31,

2020

2019

2018

Cash

$3,107,039

$1,127,854

$927,808

Net Property, Plant and
Equipment

$13,701,486

$15,830,364

$17,555,484

Total assets

$22,734,076

$22,688,962

$25,240,767

Total non-current
financial liabilities

$19,255,106

$20,427,059

$22,858,303

Shareholder equity

$3,478,970

$2,261,903

$2,382,464

Net income (loss) per
share – basic(2)

EBITDA margin %(1)

Balance Sheet Items

Notes:
(1) See “About this Prospectus – Non-IFRS Measures”.
(2) Prior to Closing, assuming completion of the Pre-Closing Capital Changes.

Summary of Non-IFRS Measures
The following table summarizes gross profit and gross margin for the periods indicated:
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Gross Profit and Gross Margin

For the year ended December 31,
Revenue

2019

2018

2017

$46,291,016

$45,059,696

$43,534,012

$31,030,401

$29,932,289

$28,710,774

$15,260,615

$15,127,407

$14,823,238

33.0%

33.6%

34.0%

Deduct
Physician Fees

Gross Profit
Gross Profit Margin %

The following table summarizes gross profit and gross margin for the periods indicated:
Gross Profit and Gross Margin

For the three and nine-months ended

Revenues

Three months ended September
30,

Nine months ended September 30,

2020

2019

2020

2019

$9,836,437

$11,499,167

$27,590,048

$34,357,609

$6,191,283

$7,718,654

$17,582,182

$23,024,511

$3,645,154

$3,780,513

$10,007,866

$ 11,333,609

37.1%

32.9%

36.3%

33.0%

Deduct:
Physician Fee’s

Gross Profit
Gross Profit Margin %

The following table reconciles EBITDA to net income (loss) for the periods indicated:
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EBITDA
2019

2018

2017

$(120,561)

$(242,108)

$(6,622)

$3,120,463

$3,146,194

$3,005,914

$528,104

$547,550

$501,679

Accretion expense

$3,900

$17,200

-

Loss on disposal of property and equipment

$16,870

-

$177,000

Deferred tax expense

$91,611

$32,429

$4,054

Gain on sublease contracts

-

$(11,165)

-

Gain on disposal of property and equipment

-

$(800)

-

$3,640,387

$3,489,400

$3,505,310

7.9%

7.7%

8.1%

For the year ended December 31,

Net Income (Loss)
Adjustments
Add back:
Depreciation and amortization
Interest on lease liabilities

Deduct:

EBITDA
EBITDA margin %
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Three months ended September
30,

EBITDA

2020

Nine months ended September 30,

2019

2020

2019

$1,22,405

$(301,590)

$1,217,067

$(258,502)

Depreciation and amortization

$726,044

$785,305

$2,222,232

$2,345,819

Interest on lease liabilities

$120,835

$130,265

$377,682

$404,663

Accretion expense

$3,900

$975

$3,900

$2,925

Income taxes

$87,500

-

$177,000

-

Deferred tax expense

$278,817

$22,911

$137,450

$68,732

Gain on sublease contracts

-

-

$(9,615)

-

EBITDA

$2,339,501

$637,866

$4,125,716

$ 2,563,637

Net Income (Loss)
Adjustments
Add back:

Deduct:

Business Highlights




Despite the financial impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s revenue, there has been minimal impact on
the Company’s operations as the Company has been able to keep all but one clinic open throughout 2020.
The ability to offer telehealth consultations has enabled approximately 200,000 in-person visits that may
have been at risk if the Company was not able to offer telehealth consultations. During the brief closure of
one of the Company’s clinics, the Company was able to direct patients from the closed clinic to two other
clinics within two kilometers of the closed clinic. In addition, physicians are able to move between
Company clinics. The Company has several suppliers for the vast majority of the supplies consumed in its
clinics and, as a result, the Company’s supply chains have not impacted its ability to service patients.
Finally, the Company’s COO rapidly implemented policies and procedures to ensure the Company was
operating safely and in compliance with federal, provincial and local government COVID-19 regulations.
Revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was $9.8 million and $27.6 million,
respectively, a decrease of 14.5% and 19.7%, respectively, compared to the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2019. The revenue decline for both periods was primarily due to the impact of the COVID19 pandemic on patient volumes, which more than offset increases in average revenue per patient and
growth in the Company’s privately insured health services. Overall patient volume decreased by
approximately 19% and 29% year-on-year in the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2020,
respectively. In contrast, average revenue per patient increased by approximately 16% and 17% in the three
and nine month periods ended September 30, 2020, respectively. Walk-in patient volumes were down
approximately 40% year-on-year in the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2020,
respectively. In contrast, family practice patient volumes grew roughly 20% and declined roughly 6% yearon-year in the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2020, respectively. Family practice
patient volume returned to positive growth during the three months ended September 30, 2020. The
Company’s privately insured health services revenue grew 59% and 50% year-on-year in the three and nine
month periods ended September 30, 2020, respectively, due to the addition of new customers and services.
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Gross profit for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was $3.6 million and $10.0 million,
respectively, a decrease of 3.6% and 11.7%, respectively, compared to the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2019. Gross margin for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was 37.1% and
36.3% compared with 32.9% and 33.0% for the comparable with the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2019. The year on year increases in gross profit and gross margin were driven by a higher
mix of privately insured health services as government insured revenues declined and privately insured
health services grew.
EBITDA for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was $2.3 million and $4.1 million,
respectively, an increase of 266.8% and 60.9%, respectively, compared to the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2019. EBITDA margin for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 increased
by 17.0% and 5.9%, respectively. EBITDA and EBITDA margin increased despite the decline in revenue
driven by higher gross margins, wage subsidies under the CEWS program and the CECRA program which
effectively reduced occupancy costs. Details can be found in Note 12 to the Company’s financial
statements for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2020.
Net income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 was $1.1 million and $1.2 million,
respectively, compared with losses of $0.3 million and $0.2 million, for the comparable periods ended
September 30, 2019. Increase in net income were driven by declines in revenue, which were more than
offset by higher gross margins and expense offsets under the CEWS and CECRA programs.

Consolidated 2019 Highlights of Operations








Revenue for 2019 was $46.3 million, an increase of 2.7% compared to 2018. The revenue increase was
driven by increases in family practice and specialist revenue partially offset by a small decline in walk-in
patient volume revenue. Overall patient volumes grew year-on-year and average revenue per patient
increased slightly.
Gross profit for 2019 was $15.3 million, compared to $15.1 million for 2018. 2019 gross margin declined
60 basis points from 2018. The slight declines in gross profit and gross margin were primarily driven by a
decline in occupational health revenue.
EBITDA for 2019 was $3.6 million, compared to $3.5 million for 2018. 2019 EBITDA margin increased
by 20 basis points from 2018. The slight increase in EBITDA was driven by an increase in rental income
the Company receives from space it leases to third parties. EBITDA margin was primarily driven by the
aforementioned rental income as well as tight cost controls on salaries and wages, office expenses and
professional fees.
Net income for 2019 was a loss of $0.1 million, a reduction from the loss of $0.2 million compared to
2018. The reduction in net loss was largely driven by an increase in rental income the Company receives
from space it leases to third parties as well as tight cost controls on salaries and wages, office expenses and
professional fees.

Consolidated 2018 Highlights from Operations








Revenue for 2018 was $45.1 million, an increase of 3.5% compared to 2017. The revenue increase was
driven by increases across all health service categories. Patient volumes grew year-on-year more than
offsetting a slight decline in average revenue per patient.
Gross profit for 2018 was $15.1 million, compared to $14.8 million for 2017. 2018 gross margin declined
40 basis points from 2017. The increase in gross profit and decrease in gross margin were primarily driven
by variations in the mix of higher and lower split physician contracts.
EBITDA for 2018 was $3.4 million, compared to $3.5 million for 2017. 2018 EBITDA margin declined 40
basis points from 2017. The decline in EBITDA profit and EBITDA margin was primarily driven by the
aforementioned reduction in gross profit and gross margin.
Net income for 2018 was a loss of $0.2 million, compared to a near breakeven net income for 2017. The
decline in net income was driven by higher operating expenses due to higher wages and salaries.
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Factors Affecting the Company’s Performance
Operating, General and Administrative Expenses
The Company’s operating expenses consist of the following:








Cost of goods sold are predominantly fees paid to government licensed physicians under contract to render
medical services.
Salaries, wages and benefits primarily include compensation for employees that work in the Company’s
clinics.
Occupancy costs represent the cost of using offices and clinics, such as utilities, maintenance and cleaning
expenses.
General and administrative expenses, which include compensation expense for employees that work in the
Company’s head office, sales and marketing, bonuses, consulting fees, insurance, office expenses,
insurance, professional and other expenses.
Depreciation and amortization represent the proration of costs for intangible and tangible assets.
Finance costs consist of interest on lease liabilities, bank charges and fees and changes in the value of
promissory notes.
Expected credit losses for outstanding receivables.

Seasonality
The Company’s revenue is relatively consistent throughout the fiscal year with the exception of the first calendar
quarter which tends to be stronger due to the cold and flu season.
COVID-19
The Company is seeing revenue continue to recover from the April 2020 lockdown-driven lows as patients and
physicians become accustomed to living with the pandemic, the use of telehealth as a medium of health service
delivery and exercising caution in public places such as in-person visits to clinics. The health services the Company
offers are considered essential and the Company does not believe this classification is likely to change. For 2021, the
Company’s operational and financial plans assume it will no longer be eligible or have access to material
government subsidies. The Company expects that it will have sufficient liquidity to operate its health services
operations based on cash flow from operations as has been the case in the past. The Company is unable to assess the
impact of COVID-19 on the uptake of technology applications as well as its data analytics platform beyond MCI
Connect, which is currently rolling out in the Company’s clinics. However, the Company believes that the proceeds
of the Offering will be sufficient for the Company to complete its data analytics platform to support initial revenues
from the platform in 2021. The Company is also unable to assess the impact of COVID-19 on its ability to acquire
attractive targets in health technology and health services.
Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financing
The Company believes it has sufficient liquidity to support continued operations and to meet its short-term liabilities
and commitments as they become due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by monitoring its operating
requirements. The Company prepares budget and cash forecasts to ensure it has sufficient funds to fulfill
obligations. In managing working capital, the Company may, where necessary, limit or control the amount of
working capital used for operations or other initiatives, pursue additional financing, manage the timing of its
expenditures, or sell assets. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
While the Company believes that it has the ability to generate sufficient amounts of cash and cash equivalents, in the
short term and long term, to maintain current operational capacity, additional sources of capital and/or financing will
be required to meet planned growth requirements. Liquidity will fluctuate based on demand for working capital
resources required for these initiatives.
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As of October 31, 2020, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $3,083,447 and a cash balance of
$1,945,200. The Company’s working capital deficiency and cash balances as of October 31, 2020 includes the
$2,009,000 dividend that was paid to existing shareholders during the month of October 2020. The Company had no
outstanding borrowings on its two lines of credit as of October 31, 2020. The Company does not expect to have a
working capital deficiency upon completion of the Offering.
The Company is subject to risks and uncertainties that could significantly impair its ability to raise funds through
debt or equity or to generate profits sufficient to meet future obligations, operational, or development needs. See
“Risk Factors” for information on the risks and uncertainties that could have a negative effect on the Company’s
liquidity.
The table below sets out the cash and working capital (including cash and cash equivalents) as at September 30,
2020 and 2019:
As at September 30,

2020

2019

Cash and cash equivalents

$3,107,039

$532,010

Working capital, including cash and cash equivalents

$7,780

$(579,640)

The table below sets out the Company’s cash and working capital (including cash and cash equivalents) as at
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017:
As at December 31,

2019

2018

2017

Cash and cash equivalents

$1,127,854

$927,808

$785,685

Working capital, including cash

$(663,584)

$(47,987)

$(163,991)

The table below summarizes the Company’s cash flows for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020
and September 30, 2019:
Nine months ended September 30,
2020

2019

Operating activities

$1,217,067

$(258,502)

Financing activities

$(1,899,848)

$(2,501,968)

Investing activities

$(42,233)

$(117,387)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

$1,127,854

$927,808

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$3,107,039

$532,010

Net cash provided by (used in)

Cash and cash equivalents as at September 30, 2020 was $3.1 million, which was higher when compared with a
balance of $0.5 million as at September 30, 2019.
Cash Flow Provided by Operating Activities (Nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020)
The Company generated $3.9 million in cash from operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2020
compared with $2.2 million in the comparable period for 2019 driven largely by the increase in net income and an
increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities that more than offset the increase in accounts receivable.
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Cash Flow Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities (Nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020)
Cash used in financing activities was $1.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared with
$2.5 million used in the comparable period for 2019 driven by a reduction in advances to related parties. Please refer
to note 4 in the quarterly statements for more detailed information.
Cash Flow Used in Investing Activities (Nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2020)
Cash used in investing activities was $0.04 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared with
$0.1 million used in the comparable period for 2019 driven by a reduction in property, plant and equipment
purchases.
Years ended December 31,

2019

2018

2017

Operating activities

$3,213,211

$3,661,254

$3,509,012

Financing activities

$(2,891,274)

$(3,327,918)

$(2,406,903)

Investing activities

$(121,892)

$(191,213)

$(596,421)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

$927,808

$785,685

$279,997

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$1,127,854

$927,808

$785,685

Net cash provided by (used in)

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, 2019 was $1.1 million, which was higher when compared with a
balance of $0.9 million as at year end 2018 and $0.8 million as at year end 2017.
Cash Flow Provided by Operating Activities (Years ended 2019, 2018 and 2017)
Cash flow provided by operating activities for the year ended 2019 was an inflow of $3.9 million, representing an
increase of $0.2 million from the inflow of $3.8 million for the year ended 2018 due to an increase in accounts
receivable from increased sales and a reduction in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 2018 cash flow from
operations increased to $3.7 million from $3.7 million in 2017 because there was a loss on sublease contracts in
2017 and no such loss in 2018.
Cash Flow Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities (Years ended 2019, 2018 and 2017)
Cash flow used in financing activities for the year ended 2019 was $(2.9 million), an increase of $0.4 million
compared to cash used in the year ended 2018 of $(3.3 million) and a decreased compared to cash used in the year
ended 2017 of $(2.4 million). The reduction in cash used from financing in 2018 was primarily due to a reduction in
advances paid to related parties. Cash flow used in financing activities in 2018 increased over 2017 due to increases
in advances to related parties and lease payments.
Cash Flow Used in Investing Activities (Years ended 2019, 2018 and 2017)
Cash flow used in investing activities during the year ended 2019 totalled $0.1 million compared to cash used of
$0.2 million for the year ended 2018 and $0.6 million cash used in 2017. Reduced capital spending in 2019 drove
the reduction in cash use in 2019 versus 2018. Cash used in financing in 2018 declined significantly from 2017 due
to the acquisition of PUCCI in 2017.
Commitments
The Company has contractual obligations that it has committed to and which are presented in the table below:
Contractual Obligations
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1 year

2– 5 years

After 5 years

Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities

$3,227,795

$-

$-

Promissory Note

$96,100

$-

$-

Due to related party

$1,252730

$-

$-

Total Contractual Obligations

$4,576,626

$-

$-

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements, other than those described below under “Transactions with
Related Parties”.
The Company is involved in legal proceedings of a nature considered normal to its business. The Company believes
that none of the litigation in which it is currently involved, or has been involved since the beginning of the most
recently completed financial year, individually or in the aggregate, is material to its consolidated financial condition
or results of operations. See “Legal Proceedings”.
Transactions with Related Parties
The following related parties have engaged in transactions with the Company:


Altima Dental Holdings Inc.: directors of the Company hold key management positions;



Altima Dental Services Ontario Inc.: directors of the Company hold key management positions;



MCI Dermatology (Woodbridge) Inc.: controlled by directors of the Company; and



FCH York Properties Inc.: controlled by directors of the Company.

Amounts due to and from related parties are set out below:
The table below sets out the Related Party Balance and Transactions as at December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017:
Related Party Balance and Transactions

2019

2018

Amounts due to related parties

$1,252,730

$1,562,605

Transactions made with related parties

2019

2018

Advances paid

$309,875

$764,523

$71,750

Occupancy costs

$148,966

$150,735

$151,034

Rental income

$414,831

$484,328

$435,202

Advances paid

$305,472

$202,216

$184,169

Expected credit loss expense

$305,472

$202,216

$184,169

2017
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The table below summarizes the Related Party Balance and Transactions as at September 30, 2020 and 2019:
Three months ended

September 30,
2020
Amounts due to related parties

1,250,530

Three months ended

Nine months ended

September 30,

September 30,

2020

2019

2020

2019

Transactions made with related parties

Advances paid

$-

$98,495

$-

$98,495

Occupancy costs

$26,793

$40,541

$134,736

$121,439

Rental income

$91,977

$121,531

$275,930

$364,594

Advances paid

$15,207

$291,996

$15,207

$298,057

Expected credit loss expense

$15,207

$291,996

$15,207

$298,057

Advances paid

$2,200

$-

$2,200

$-

MCI Medical Clinics Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, operates a clinic in a facility owned by FCH
York Properties Inc. The landlord forgave rent payments owing from the Company amounting to $76,680 in 2019
and $31,950 in 2018.
Advances between related parties that are non-interest bearing are due on demand. These transactions have been
measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed upon by the related
parties.
Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of the Financial Statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, sales and expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent liabilities. The
Company bases its judgments on historical experience and on various other assumptions that it believes are
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making estimates about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
The following discusses the most significant accounting judgments and estimates that the Company has made in the
preparation of the Financial Statements:
Estimated useful lives of property and equipment
Management estimates the useful lives of property and equipment based on the period during which the assets are
expected to be available for use. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for depreciation of property and
equipment for any period are affected by these estimated useful lives. The estimates are reviewed at least annually
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and are updated if expectations change as a result of physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence
and legal or other limits to use. It is possible that changes in these factors may cause significant changes in the
estimated useful lives of the Company’s property and equipment in the future.
Leases
Management uses judgment and estimates in the determination of the lease term for some lease contracts in which
the Company is a lessee including whether the Company is reasonably certain to exercise lessee options.
Management uses judgment and estimates in the determination of the incremental borrowing rate used to measure
lease liabilities.
Impairment testing of non-financial assets
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs of disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a
discounted cash flow (“DCF”) model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not
include restructuring activities that the Company is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will
enhance the performance of the assets of the cash generating unit being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive
to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for
extrapolation purposes. These estimates are most relevant to goodwill recognized by the Company.
Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash on cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable
and accrued liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents
Included in cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand and bank account balances. Credit risk is managed by
selecting high quality issuers and low risk investments which minimizes the potential of default by the issuer of the
certificates. Interest rate risk is mitigated by the short-term nature of the securities, which mature within less than
three months.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable is predominantly comprised of amounts due from provincial government health insurance plans
(Alberta and Ontario) and private health insurers. Accounts receivable are subject to credit risk and liquidity risk
that could result in an inability to collect amounts due. Credit risk is mitigated by regular monitoring of aged
receivables and managing the underlying business relationships with all insurance providers. Liquidity risk is
mitigated by requiring advance payment for most non-insurance or high risk transactions.
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities is predominantly comprised of physician fees trade and non-trade payables,
employee related costs and compensation accrued, sales tax and other government remittances payable, and other
Company obligations expected to be settled within one year. These obligations are subject to liquidity risk, in that
the Company may not be able to settle its obligations as they become due. See “Liquidity, Capital Resources and
Financing”, above, for discussion on how the Company manages liquidity risk.
Disclosure Controls and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
In accordance with National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings,
management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate Disclosure Controls and Procedures (“DCP”)
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and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting (“ICFR”). If and when the Company becomes a reporting issuer in
Canada, its CEO and CFO will be required to file certifications relating to DCP and ICFR for the Company in
connection with its interim and annual filings, commencing with its first reporting period after becoming a reporting
issuer.
Limitations of Controls and Procedures
The Company’s management, including the CEO and CFO, believes that any DCP or ICFR, no matter how well
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control
system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and
the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control
systems, they cannot provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the
Company have been prevented or detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in
decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally,
controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by
unauthorized override of the control. The design of any control system also is based in part upon certain assumptions
about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its
stated goals under all potential future conditions. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective
control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL
The Company is currently authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. As of the date hereof, 210.5
common shares are issued and outstanding. In connection with, and prior to, the Closing, the following pre-closing
capital changes will be implemented:


the Company will be continued under the CBCA;



the Company’s share structure will be amended so as to:
o

create a new class of an unlimited number of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares;

o

create a new class of an unlimited number of Class B Multiple Voting Shares;

o

create a new class of an unlimited number of preferred shares, issuable in series; and

o

repeal all other classes of shares.



all of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares shall be exchanged for Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares and Class B Multiple Voting Shares on the following basis: each common share will be
exchanged for 190,000 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and 190,000 Class B Multiple Voting Shares;



an aggregate of 4,000,000 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares will be transferred by certain holders thereof
to certain third parties resulting in the cancellation of an aggregate of 4,000,000 Class B Multiple Voting
Shares pursuant to the Corporation’s articles.

With respect to the transfer of the 4,000,000 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and cancellation of 4,000,000 Class
B Multiple Voting Shares, the principal shareholders of the Company, Messrs. Christodoulou and Grail, had
previously granted an option to four individuals to buy a portion of their issued and outstanding shares of the
Company. Following completion of the Pre-Closing Capital Changes, these four individuals will exercise their
option and purchase an aggregate of 4,000,000 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares from Messrs. Christodoulou and
Grail. As the corresponding 4,000,000 Class B Multiple Voting Shares are not transferrable to these individuals,
when these four individuals exercise their options and purchase an aggregate of 4,000,000 Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares from Messrs. Christodoulou and Grail, the corresponding 4,000,000 Class B Multiple Voting Shares
will be cancelled in accordance with the articles of the Company (as the same will be in effect following the PreClosing Capital Changes).
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Accordingly, immediately prior to Closing there will be 40,000,000 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares outstanding,
an aggregate of 36,000,000 Class B Multiple Voting Shares outstanding and no preferred shares outstanding.
These amendments are collectively referred to as the “Pre-Closing Capital Changes”. See “Principal
Shareholders” for the number of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and Class B Multiple Voting Shares that will
be owned by each other person or company who will beneficially own, control or direct, directly or indirectly, more
than 10% of the issued and outstanding voting shares immediately following the Closing. Unless otherwise
indicated, all information in this prospectus assumes that the Pre-Closing Capital Changes have been completed.
The summary below of the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares, Class B Multiple Voting Shares and preferred shares is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to
the Company’s articles and by-laws which will be available under its profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and Class B Multiple Voting Shares
The Class B Multiple Voting Shares carry a greater number of votes per share relative to the Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares. The Class A Subordinate Voting Shares are therefore “restricted securities” within the meaning of
such term under applicable Canadian securities laws. After giving effect to the Offering, the holders of Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares will hold approximately [●]% of the voting power of the Company’s outstanding voting
shares, on a fully diluted basis. The Company is exempt from the requirements of Section 12.3 of NI 41-101 on the
basis that it was a private issuer within the meaning of such term under applicable Canadian securities laws
immediately before filing this prospectus.
Rights
The Class A Subordinate Voting Shares are entitled to the payment of dividends, return of capital and the
distribution of assets in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company. In the event of the
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company or any other distribution of the Company’s assets among its
shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, the holders of the
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares are also entitled to participate equally in the remaining property and assets of the
Company available for distribution to the holders of shares, subject to the rights of the holders of any preferred
shares.
Other than their superior voting rights, the Class B Multiple Voting Shares have no other rights or entitlements (e.g.,
no rights to dividends or assets of the Company).
Dividends
The holders of outstanding Class A Subordinate Voting Shares are entitled to receive dividends on a share for share
basis at such times and in such amounts and form as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine, but
subject to the rights of the holders of any preferred shares. The Company is permitted to pay dividends unless there
are reasonable grounds for believing that: (i) the Company is, or would after such payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or (ii) after such payment, the realizable value of its assets would be less than the
aggregate of the Company’s liabilities and stated capital of all classes of shares. In the event of a payment of a
dividend in the form of shares, Class A Subordinate Voting Shares shall be distributed to the holders of the
Company’s outstanding Class A Subordinate Voting Shares at that time.
Voting Rights
Under the Company’s articles of incorporation, each Class A Subordinate Voting Share is entitled to one vote per
share and each Class B Multiple Voting Share is entitled to nine votes per share. As of [●], 2020, the Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares collectively represent [●]% of the Company’s total issued and outstanding shares and
[●]% of the voting power attached to all of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares and the Class B Multiple
Voting Shares collectively represent [●]% of the Company’s total issued and outstanding shares and [●]% of the
voting power attached to all of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares.
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Conversion, Transfer and Cancellation
Neither the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares nor the Class B Multiple Voting Shares are convertible into any
other class of shares. The Class B Multiple Voting Shares are not transferrable, other than to a Permitted Holder (as
defined below), and will be automatically cancelled if Dr. George Christodoulou, Dr. Sven Grail and Dr. Alex
Dobranowski Transfer their Class A Subordinate Voting Shares to someone other than a Permitted Holder on a onefor-one basis, or if they collectively hold less than 5% of the aggregate number of outstanding Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares as a group.
For purposes of the foregoing:
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person which directly or indirectly through one or
more intermediaries controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with such specified Person;
“Members of the Immediate Family” means with respect to any individual, each parent (whether by birth or
adoption), spouse, or child or other descendants (whether by birth or adoption) of such individual, each spouse of
any of the aforementioned Persons, each trust created solely for the benefit of such individual and/or one or more of
the aforementioned Persons, and each legal representative of such individual or of any aforementioned Persons
(including without limitation a tutor, curator, mandatary due to incapacity, custodian, guardian or testamentary
executor), acting in such capacity under the authority of the law, an order from a competent tribunal, a will or a
mandate in case of incapacity or similar instrument. For the purposes of this definition, a Person shall be considered
the spouse of an individual if such Person is legally married to such individual, lives in a civil union with such
individual or is the common law partner (as defined in the Income Tax Act (Canada) as amended from time to time)
of such individual. A Person who was the spouse of an individual within the meaning of this paragraph immediately
before the death of such individual shall continue to be considered a spouse of such individual after the death of
such individual;
“Permitted Holders” means, in respect of a holder of Class B Multiple Voting Shares that is an individual, the
Members of the Immediate Family of such individual and any Person controlled, directly or indirectly, by any such
holder, and in respect of a holder of Class B Multiple Voting Shares that is not an individual, an Affiliate of that
holder;
“Person” means any individual, partnership, corporation, company, association, trust, joint venture or limited
liability company;
“Transfer” of a Class A Subordinate Voting Share by Dr. George Christodoulou, Dr. Sven Grail, Dr. Alex
Dobranowski and/or a Permitted Holder shall mean any sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance, hypothecation or
other transfer or disposition of such share or any legal or beneficial interest in such share, whether or not for value
and whether voluntary or involuntary or by operation of law. A “Transfer” by Dr. George Christodoulou, Dr. Sven
Grail , Dr. Alex Dobranowski and/or a Permitted Holder shall also include, without limitation, (1) a transfer of a
Class A Subordinate Voting Share to a broker or other nominee (regardless of whether or not there is a
corresponding change in beneficial ownership) or (2) the transfer of, or entering into a binding agreement with
respect to, Voting Control over a Class A Subordinate Voting Share by proxy or otherwise, provided, however, that
the following shall not be considered a “Transfer”: (a) the grant of a proxy to the Company’s officers or directors at
the request of the Company’s Board of Directors in connection with actions to be taken at an annual or special
meeting of shareholders; or (b) the pledge of a Class A Subordinate Voting Share by Dr. George Christodoulou, Dr.
Sven Grail, Dr. Alex Dobranowski and/or a Permitted Holder that creates a mere security interest in such share
pursuant to a bona fide loan or indebtedness transaction so long as the holder of that Class A Subordinate Voting
Share continues to exercise Voting Control over such pledged shares; provided, however, that a foreclosure on such
Class A Subordinate Voting Share or other similar action by the pledgee shall constitute a “Transfer”; and
“Voting Control” with respect to a Class A Subordinate Voting Share that is held by Dr. George Christodoulou,
Dr. Sven Grail , Dr. Alex Dobranowski and/or a Permitted Holder means the exclusive power (whether directly or
indirectly) to vote or direct the voting of such Class A Subordinate Voting Share by proxy, voting agreement or
otherwise.
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A Person is “controlled” by another Person or other Persons if: (1) in the case of a company or other body corporate
wherever or however incorporated: (A) securities entitled to vote in the election of directors carrying in the
aggregate at least a majority of the votes for the election of directors and representing in the aggregate at least a
majority of the participating (equity) securities are held, other than by way of security only, directly or indirectly, by
or solely for the benefit of the other Person or Persons; and (B) the votes carried in the aggregate by such securities
are entitled, if exercised, to elect a majority of the Board of Directors of such company or other body corporate; or
(2) in the case of a Person that is not a company or other body corporate, at least a majority of the participating
(equity) and voting interests of such Person are held, directly or indirectly, by or solely for the benefit of the other
Person or Persons; and “controls”, “controlling” and “under common control with” shall be interpreted accordingly.
Subdivision or Consolidation
No subdivision or consolidation of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares or the Class B Multiple Voting Shares
may be carried out unless, at the same time, the Class B Multiple Voting Shares or the Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares, as the case may be, are subdivided or consolidated in the same manner and on the same basis.
Certain Class Votes
Except as required by the CBCA, applicable securities laws or the Company’s articles of incorporation, holders of
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and Class B Multiple Voting Shares will vote together on all matters subject to a
vote of holders of both those classes of shares as if they were one class of shares. Under the CBCA, certain types of
amendments to the Company’s articles are subject to approval by special resolution of the holders of the Company’s
classes of shares voting separately as a class, including amendments to:


change the rights, privileges, restrictions or conditions attached to the shares of such class;



add to the rights or privileges of any class of shares having rights or privileges equal or superior to the
shares of such class; and



make any class of shares having rights or privileges inferior to the shares of such class equal or superior to
the shares of such class.

Without limiting other rights at law of any holders of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares or Class B Multiple
Voting Shares to vote separately as a class, neither the holders of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares nor the
holders of the Class B Multiple Voting Shares shall be entitled to vote separately as a class upon a proposal to
amend the Company’s articles of incorporation in the case of an amendment to (1) increase or decrease any
maximum number of authorized shares of such class, or increase any maximum number of authorized shares of a
class having rights or privileges equal or superior to the shares of such class; or (2) create a new class of shares
equal or superior to the shares of such class, which rights are otherwise provided for in paragraphs (a) and (e) of
subsection 176(1) of the CBCA. Pursuant to the Company’s articles of incorporation, neither the holders of the
Company’s Class A Subordinate Voting Shares nor the holders of the Company’s Class B Multiple Voting Shares
will be entitled to vote separately as a class on a proposal to amend the Company’s articles to effect an exchange,
reclassification or cancellation of the shares of such class pursuant to Section 176(1)(b) of the CBCA.
Preferred Shares
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of preferred shares issuable in series. Each series of
preferred shares shall consist of such number of shares and having such rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions
as may be determined by the Company’s Board of Directors prior to the issuance thereof. Holders of preferred
shares, except as otherwise provided in the terms specific to a series of preferred shares or as required by law, will
not be entitled to vote at meetings of holders of shares, and will not be entitled to vote separately as a class upon a
proposal to amend the Company’s articles of incorporation in the case of an amendment of the kind referred to in
paragraph (a), (b) or (e) of subsection 176(1) of the CBCA. With respect to the payment of dividends and
distribution of assets in the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, whether voluntary or
involuntary, the preferred shares are entitled to preference over the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and any
other shares ranking junior to the preferred shares and may also be given such other preferences over Class A
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Subordinate Voting Shares, Class B Multiple Voting Shares and any other shares ranking junior to the preferred
shares as may be determined at the time of creation of such series.
Advance Notice Procedures and Shareholder Proposals
Under the CBCA, shareholders may make proposals for matters to be considered at the annual meeting of
shareholders. Such proposals must be sent to the Company in advance of any proposed meeting by delivering a
timely written notice in proper form to the Company’s registered office in accordance with the requirements of the
CBCA. The notice must include information on the business the shareholder intends to bring before the meeting.
The Company’s by-laws, as amended prior to the Closing pursuant to the Offering, will provide that holders of
voting shares seeking to nominate candidates for election as directors must provide timely notice in writing. To be
timely, a shareholder’s notice must be received by the Company: (i) in the case of an annual meeting of holders of
the Company’s voting shares, not less than 30 days prior to the date of the annual meeting of holders of the
Company’s voting shares; provided, however, that in the event that the annual meeting of holders of the Company’s
voting shares is to be held on a date that is less than 50 days after the date on which the first public announcement
(the “Notice Date”) of the date of the annual meeting was made, notice by a holder of voting shares may not be
given later than the close of business on the 10th day following the Notice Date; and (ii) in the case of a special
meeting (which is not also an annual meeting) of holders of the Company’s voting shares called for the purpose of
electing directors (whether or not called for other purposes), not later than the close of business on the 15th day
following the day on which the first public announcement of the date of the special meeting of holders of the
Company’s voting shares was made.
Such advance notice provisions will be designed to: (i) facilitate orderly and efficient meetings of shareholders;
(ii) ensure that all shareholders receive adequate notice of director nominations and sufficient information with
respect to all nominees; and (iii) allow shareholders to register an informed vote having been afforded reasonable
time for appropriate deliberation.
As a whole, these provisions are intended to provide shareholders, directors and the Company’s management with a
clear framework for nominating directors. These provisions could also have the effect of delaying until the next
shareholder meeting the nomination of certain persons for director that are favoured by the holders of a majority of
the Company’s outstanding voting securities.
Other than the advance notice procedures summarized above, the Company’s by-laws will have terms that are
customary for corporations incorporated under the CBCA.
The summary of the advance notice requirements under the Company’s by-laws described above is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the full text of the Company’s amended by-laws, a copy of which will be available under its
profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
OPTIONS AND RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES
Prior to the Closing, the Company’s Board of Directors will establish an omnibus long-term incentive plan (the
“Equity Incentive Plan”), under which Options, RSUs, DSUs, performance awards or other share or performance
based awards (collectively, the “Awards”) may be granted to employees, officers, consultants and non-employee
directors of the Company and its affiliates. After giving effect to the Pre-Closing Capital Changes and the Closing
Option Grant, an aggregate of 3,420,000 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares will be reserved for issuance as options
granted under the Equity Incentive Plan to purchase Class A Subordinate Voting Shares (“Options”). The total
number of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares reserved and available for grant and issuance pursuant to Awards
shall not exceed ten percent of the total issued and outstanding voting shares of the Company. For a summary of the
terms of the Equity Incentive Plan, see “Executive Compensation – Components of Executive Compensation – LongTerm Incentives–Equity Incentive Plan”.
The following table sets out the aggregate number of Options expected to be outstanding upon the Closing. No other
Awards are expected to be outstanding upon Closing.
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Category

Options
Granted

Exercise
Price(1)

Expiry Dates

Current and former executive officers of the Company, as a group ([●] in total)

3,420,000

$[●]

From [●] to [●]

[●]

$[●]

From [●] to [●]

Current and former employees of the Company, as a group ([●] in total)

Note:
(1)
The exercise price of all outstanding options to purchase Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, whether vested or unvested, will be the
Offering Price.

PRIOR SALES
There were no issuances of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares or securities convertible into Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares during the 12-month period preceding the date of this prospectus, other than the issuance of 10.5
common shares of the Company to Dr. Alex Dobranowski for [●] on [●], 2020. Prior to Closing, the Company will
implement the Pre-Closing Capital Changes in order to, among other things: create a new class of Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares; create a new class of Class B Multiple Voting Shares; exchange each common share for
190,000 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and 190,000 Class B Multiple Voting Shares; and repeal the common
shares. See “Description of Share Capital”.
ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT TO CONTRACTUAL RESTRICTION ON
TRANSFER
The following table sets out the number of securities of each class of securities of the Company that, to the
knowledge of the Company, are anticipated to be subject to a contractual restriction on transfer at the Closing, and
the percentage that number represents of the outstanding securities of that class. To the knowledge of the Company,
no securities of the Company are anticipated to be held in escrow at the Closing.
Number of Securities Subject to a
Contractual Restriction on Transfer(1)

Percentage of
Class(2)

Class A Subordinate Voting Shares

[●]

[●]%

Class B Multiple Voting Shares

[●]

[●]%

Designation of Class

Notes:
(1)
These voting shares will be subject to a contractual restriction on transfer pursuant to the Lock-up Agreements. See “Plan of
Distribution – Lock-up Arrangements”. Locked-up Persons include all holders of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares prior to Closing, who will
be subject to the Lock-up Agreements. At the Closing, all of the Locked-up Securities will be subject to the terms of the Lock-up Agreements and
one-third (1/3) of the Locked-Up Securities will be released in equal parts after six, twelve and eighteen months following the Closing.
(2)
Immediately prior to the Closing.

DIVIDEND POLICY
Other than as described below, MCI has not paid dividends since the date of its incorporation and it does not expect
to pay dividends in the near future. The Company expects that it will retain earnings to finance further growth. The
Board of Directors will determine if and when dividends should be declared and paid in the future and any such
determination will be based on the Company’s financial position, business environment, operating results, capital
requirements, any contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends and any other factors that the Board may
deem relevant at the time.
The Company declared and paid a dividend of $2,009,000 to the Co-Chairs in their capacity as shareholders on
October 21, 2020.
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS
The following table sets out the information regarding ownership of the Company’s voting shares owned by each
other person or company who will beneficially own, control or direct, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the
issued and outstanding voting shares immediately following the Closing:
Immediately following the Closing(1)

Name
Dr. George Christodoulou

Dr. Sven Grail

Number and
Percentage of Class A
Subordinate Voting
Shares Owned

Number and
Percentage of Class
B Multiple Voting
Shares Owned

% of Total Voting Power

[●]

[●]

[●]%(4)

[●]%(2)

[●]%(3)

[●]

[●]

[●]%(2)

[●]%(3)

[●]%(4)

Note:
(1)
Assumes that no Offered Shares are purchased by such principal shareholder under the Offering, that the Over-Allotment Option is not
exercised and the completion of the Pre-Closing Capital Changes. Each of Dr. Christodoulou and Dr. Grail hold their shares of record.
(2)
[●]% on a fully-diluted basis.
(3)
[●]% on a fully-diluted basis.
(4)
[●]% on a fully-diluted basis.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
The following table sets out information regarding the Company’s anticipated directors and executive officers at the
Closing. As of the date of this prospectus, the Company’s Board of Directors consists of Dr. Sven Grail, Dr. George
Christodoulou, Dr. Alexander Dobranowski, Mr. Kingsley Ward, Mr. Anthony Lacavera and Mr. Bashar AlRehany. The Company’s directors are elected annually and all of the above-noted individuals are expected to hold
office until the next annual meeting of holders of the Company’s voting shares, at which time they may be re-elected
or replaced.
Upon the Closing, the proposed directors and executive officers (as a group) are expected to beneficially own, or
exercise control or direction over, a total of [●] Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and [●] Class B Multiple Voting
Shares, representing in the aggregate approximately [●]% of the voting power of the Company’s outstanding voting
shares.
The following table sets out certain summary information in respect of the current and proposed directors and
executive officers of the Company.
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Name and Place of
Residence

Position(s)/Title

Date First
Became a Director

Principal Occupation(s)
for the Past Five Years

Current Board of Directors

Dr. Sven Grail(2)

Co-Executive Chair

September 1, 2020



Ontario, Canada



Dr. George
Christodoulou(1)

Co-Executive Chair

September 1, 2020




Ontario, Canada



Dr. Alexander
Dobranowski

Chief
Officer

Executive

September 1, 2020




Ontario, Canada




Kingsley Ward(1)(2)(3)

Lead Director



[●]

Ontario, Canada







Anthony Lacavera(2)(3)

Director



[●]

Ontario, Canada
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Executive
Co-Chair
of
the
Company (2013 to present)
Co-Chief Executive Officer of
Altima Dental (1993 to present).
Current member of the Royal
College of Dental Surgeons of
Ontario, the Dental Association and
College of Alberta, and a member
of the Board and Executive
Committee of the international
Association of Dental Service
Organizations.
Executive
Co-Chair
of
the
Company (2013 to present)
Co-Chief Executive Officer of
Altima Dental (1993 to present).
Current member of the Royal
College of Dental Surgeons of
Ontario, the Alberta Dental
Association and College, and the
Order de Dentistes du Quebec.
CEO of the Company (September
2020 to present)
Clinical Director of Technology of
MCI Medical Clinics Inc. (January
2019 to August 2020)
Self Employed (March 2016 to
January 2019)
Resident Medical Officer at
Modbury Public Hospital (January
2013 to March 2016)
Chairman of Vimy Ridge Group
(2014 to present)
Managing Partner of VRG Capital
Corp. (2011 to present)
Director (2002 to 2014) and
Chairman (2014 to present) of
Clarus Securities Inc.
Chairman of Data Communications
Management (2016 to present)
Chairman of Globalive Technology
(2018 to present)
Chairman (2015 to 2019) and
Director (2018 to present) of
Founders Advantage Capital,
Founder
and
Chairman
of
Globalive Capital (2004 to present)
Chairman of Globalive Technology
(2018 to present)
Co-Founder
of
Canadian

Name and Place of
Residence

Position(s)/Title

Date First
Became a Director


Bashar Al-Rehany(1)(3)

Director



[●]

Ontario, Canada





Principal Occupation(s)
for the Past Five Years
Disruption Lab (2015 to present)
Chair of DMZ at Ryerson
University (2016 to present)
Chief Executive Officer of
Euromoney’s Investment Research
Division (2017 to present)
Executive Director of Euromoney
Institutional Investor plc board
(2009 to 2016)
Chief Executive Officer of BCA
Research Inc. (2003 to present)
Executive Chairman of Ned Davis
Group (NDR) (February 2017 to
present)

Executive Officers
G. Scott Nirenberski
Ontario, Canada

Chief
Officer

Financial



n/a







Madeline Walker
Ontario, Canada

President and Chief
Operating Officer



n/a

Chief Operating Officer of
Globalive Technology (2018 to
2020)
Consultant at Muskoka Advisors
(2015 to present)
Chief Executive Officer of
Muskoka Capital Management
LLC. (2009 to 2015)
Various Portfolio Manager/Analyst
positions: Seasons Capital, Mosaic
Asset Management, Pequot Capital
(1999-2008)
Sell Side Analyst, Montgomery
Securities, Deutch Bank, Credit
Suisse First Boston (1995-1999)
Senior Financial Analyst FP&A,
Intel Corporation (1992-1995)
Chief Operating Officer of MCI
(2013 to present)

Notes:
(1)
(2)
(3)

Proposed member of the Audit Committee.
Proposed member of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee.
Proposed member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee.

Applicable corporate law permits the Board of Directors to appoint directors to fill any casual vacancies that may
occur. The Board of Directors is permitted to add additional directors between successive annual meetings of
holders of voting shares so long as the number appointed does not exceed more than one-third of the number of
directors appointed at the previous annual meeting. Individuals appointed as directors to fill casual vacancies on the
Board of Directors or added as additional directors hold office like any other director until the next annual meeting
at which time they may be re-elected or replaced.
As a group, the Company’s directors and executive officers will beneficially own, or control or direct, directly or
indirectly, a total of [●] Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, representing approximately [●]% of the Subordinate
Voting Shares (on a non-diluted basis) and [●] Class B Multiple Voting Shares, representing 100% of the Class B
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Multiple Voting Shares, in each case outstanding immediately following Closing (assuming completion of the PreClosing Capital Changes and no exercise of the Over-Allotment Option).
Biographies
The following is a brief biography of each of the individuals who will comprise the Company’s directors and
executive officers upon the Closing:
Non-Executive Directors
Kingsley Ward, BA, B.Comm., Lead Director
Mr. Ward has more than 30 years of experience initiating, structuring and monetizing private equity
investments, Mr. Ward is Chairman of his family holding company, The Vimy Ridge Group Ltd. and
Managing Partner at VRG Capital, a private equity firm. He also serves as: Chairman of Clarus Securities
Inc., an institutional investment dealer; Chairman of Nucro Technics, a pharmaceutical contract support
organization; Chairman of DATA Communications Management Corporation’s (TSX : DCM), one of
Canada’s largest marketing services companies and Chairman of Globalive Technology (TSXV : LIVE) a
software development company. He also serves as a Director (former Chairman) of Founders Advantage
Capital (TSX-V: FCF), a public private equity firm. He is a Director of Dominion Lending Centres,
Canada’s largest mortgage brokerage company. Mr. Ward is or has been a Director of numerous other
public and private companies. Mr. Ward has also been actively involved in multiple philanthropic activities
and has been actively involved in YPO (Young Presidents’ Organization) since 1999, holding a number of
executive positions.
Anthony Lacavera, Director
Mr. Lacavera is the founder and Chairman of Globalive Capital Inc., a telecommunications/technology
focused investment company. Mr. Lacavera has led Globalive Capital Inc. in raising over CAD$1.8 billion
in private capital to bring more competition to the telecommunications industry. Since 1998, Globalive
Capital Inc. has founded, co-founded, seeded, financed, operated and divested 12 companies. Globalive
Capital Inc. has invested in over 100 companies in the technology, media, and telecom industries over the
past 15 years and has 45 companies currently in its venture portfolio. In 2005, Mr. Lacavera founded and
led as CEO WIND Mobile, which became Canada’s fourth largest wireless carrier before it was sold to
Shaw Communications for approximately $1.6 billion in 2016. Mr. Lacavera was named Canada’s CEO of
the Year by the Globe and Mail in 2010, one of the 50 Most Influential Torontonians in 2013 and one of
Canada’s Top Executives by Power and Influence magazine in 2014.
Through accelerator programs such as NEXT Canada, the University of Toronto Engineering School
Hatchery, Creative Destruction Lab (CDL) and the DMZ at Ryerson University, Mr. Lacavera supports
young entrepreneurs with financing and mentorship, is active on numerous boards and advisory groups and
speaks regularly to students about entrepreneurship. Anthony has served on a variety of charitable boards
focused on university fundraising and entrepreneur advisory boards, as well as several public company
boards.
Bashar Al-Rehany, Director
Bashar Al-Rehany is the CEO of Euromoney Institutional Investor plc Investment Research Division (IRD)
which comprises of two brands, BCA Research (BCA) and Ned Davis Group (NDR). He is Chief
Executive Officer of BCA and Executive Chairman of NDR. He has been CEO of BCA since 2003 and
joined Euromoney in 2006 through the acquisition of Metal Bulletin plc which included BCA. He joined
Euromoney Institutional Investor plc as an Executive Director in 2009 and stepped down in 2016. He
became Chairman of NDR in February 2017. Bashar lead the phenomenal growth of BCA from a small
revenue company to the leading independent macroeconomic investment research firm in the world. He
also led NDR to path of revenue and profitability growth after years of decline through investment in sales
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and marketing and new products development. Bashar also created a smarter Investment Research Division
structure by integrating BCA Research and NDR realizing synergies with the strategy of “two brands one
infrastructure”.
Before joining BCA, Bashar spent six years as CEO of Dow Jones Markets Canada and Bridge Information
Systems Canada. Prior to that, he spent 13 years at Reuters plc in various management roles in the Middle
East and Canada. He holds a diploma in Mathematics & Computer Science from Teesside Polytechnic
Executive Directors
Dr. Alex Dobranowski, Founder, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Dr. Alexander Dobranowski is the CEO and co-founder of MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc. With over 10
years of specialized clinical and healthcare technology experience, Dr. Dobranowski has successfully led
multiple teams in the development and execution of innovative technology solutions to complex healthcare
problems.
Dr. Dobranowski attended business school at McMaster University and the University of Tennessee before
attending the University of Adelaide Medical School (Australia) to earn his Bachelor of Medicine and
Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS). Dr. Dobranowski has published a number of medical research papers, book
chapters and he co-authored “Radiology: Chest X-Ray Interpretation”, a medical textbook that received the
prestigious British Medical Association’s (BMA) book of the year award in 2014.
Prior to joining the MCI team, Dr. Dobranowski co-founded and developed the technology for a datadriven diagnostic imaging artificial intelligence venture (deepscreen.ai) and he has collaborated with a
number of artificial intelligence experts on data-driven healthcare initiatives. Dr. Dobranowski then worked
as the Clinical Director of Technology at MCI Medical Inc. and Altima Dental Inc., where he led the
development and scaling of clinical and patient interfacing applications that have been applied to a patient
population of over 3 million.
As a former distinguished athlete, Dr. Dobranowski was a Canadian national track and field champion in
the decathlon and Canadian national junior record holder. He competed internationally for Canada while
being a scholarship member on the track and field team at the University of Tennessee (Division I). During
his athletic career, Dr. Dobranowski qualified and competed in the Pan-American games (2003, Barbados),
and earned the esteemed “Blue” Award (2008) for his athletic achievements while attending medical
school.
Dr. Sven Grail, DMD, MBA, JD, MAGD, FICD, FAARM, Co- Founder and Co- Executive Chair
Dr. Grail is both a co-founder of Altima Dental, as well as the Co-Executive Chair and one of the principle
owners of MCI. Collectively, Altima Dental and MCI are comprised of more than one thousand healthcare
professionals caring for nearly 3 million Canadians. Altima Dental and MCI provide services in a
multidisciplinary environment including family and walk-in medicine, medical and dental specialty,
physiotherapy, occupational and mental health and other related services.
Dr. Grail is a graduate of the Boston University (DMD, MBA), where he initiated a dual-degree program
earning his DMD simultaneously with his MBA degree. He earned his Master with the Academy of
General Dentistry and was granted Fellowship into the International College of Dentists. He was also
awarded Fellowship in Anti-Aging and Regenerative Medicine. Since 1993 he has actively participated in
organized dentistry and has been involved in numerous committees along with being a Governor of the
Ontario Dental Association. He was elected three times, by his peers, to serve on the Council Member of
the Royal College of Dental Surgeons of Ontario. He is currently a member of the Board and on the
Executive Committee of the Association of Dental Service Organizations – an organization that represents
the largest dental service organizations internationally. He is active in Young President’s Organization as
well as the Creative Destruction Lab through the University of Toronto Rotman School of Management. He
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has been on the Alumni Board of Boston University and is currently a member of both the Royal College of
Dental Surgeons of Ontario as well as the Alberta Dental Association and College in Alberta.
Dr. George Christodoulou, BA, DDS, MBA, MAGD, Co- Founder and Co- Executive Chair
Dr. Christodoulou is a co-founder of Altima Dental, which is one of the largest Dental Service
Organizations in Canada and has been one of the principles owners of MCI since 2013. The combined
healthcare group enables nearly three million patients to access a vast, multidisciplinary group of dentists,
medical doctors, medical and dental specialists, physiotherapists, other healthcare practitioners, and related
services. Comprised of well over one thousand healthcare providers and support staff in over 100 clinics
across Canada. Dr. Christodoulou has created a team of dedicated professionals providing access to a vast
range of healthcare services for Canadians.
Dr. Christodoulou is a graduate of the University of Toronto Dental School (DDS) and the Rotman School
of Management (MBA). He practiced in the Greater Toronto Area for more than 20 years and in 2014
earned a Master with the Academy of General Dentistry. He is a member of the Royal College of Dental
Surgeons of Ontario as well as a member of the Alberta Dental Association and College and the Order des
dentistes du Québec. In 2007, Dr. Christodoulou was presented with the Arbor Award for outstanding
voluntary service to the University of Toronto.
Executive Officers
G. Scott Nirenberski, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary
Mr. Nirenberski has over 20 years’ experience investing in the technology sector in the San Francisco Bay
Area. He began his career in corporate finance and planning at Intel and subsequently held research analyst
positions with Montgomery Securities, Deutsche Bank and Credit Suisse First Boston. Mr. Nirenberski ran
technology research teams for multi-billion dollar hedge funds Pequot Capital and Seasons Capital. He cofounded Mosaic Asset Management, a San Francisco based $280 million TMT hedge fund. Most recently
Mr. Nirenberski held the Chief Operating Officer position at Globalive Technology, a publicly listed
software development company. Mr. Nirenberski has a B.Sc. (Hon) from the University of Toronto, an
MBA from Carnegie Mellon University, and is a CFA holder.
Madeline Walker, President and Chief Operating Officer
Mrs. Walker is responsible for all aspects of the operations of MCI Medical Clinics including its clinic
network, telehealth and privately insured offerings.
Prior to joining MCI, Mrs. Walker served as Chief Operating Officer for Greybrook Health where she was
responsible for the execution of the business strategies by lending support to day-to-day operations of
Greybrook Health portfolio companies. Prior to Greybrook Health, Mrs. Walker spent 10 years at TLC
Vision as the COO from the beginning in 1993 to 2003 during which time she was instrumental in building
TLC into the largest eye care service provider organization in North America with revenues of more than
$300,000,000. She personally managed the expansion of over 60 laser clinics and hired over 700
employees.
Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies
To the Company’s knowledge, no current or proposed director, or executive officer is, as at the date of the
prospectus, or was within 10 years before the date of the prospectus, a director, chief executive officer or chief
financial officer of any company (including the Company) that:
(a)

was subject to a cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the company access to
any statutory exemptions, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; or
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(b)

was subject to a cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the company access to
any statutory exemptions, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, that
was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or
chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acting
in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer.

Bankruptcies
To the Company’s knowledge, no current or proposed director or executive officer or shareholder holding a
sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company:
(a)

is, as at the date of the prospectus, or has been within the 10 years before the date of the
prospectus, a director or executive officer of any company (including the Company) that, while
that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that
capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with
creditors or had a receive, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or

(b)

has, within the 10 years before the date of the prospectus, became bankrupt, made a proposal
under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or
trustee appointed to hold assets of the director, executive officer or shareholder.

Penalties or Sanctions
To the Company’s knowledge, no current or proposed director or executive officer or a shareholder holding a
sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, has been subject to:
(a)

any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities
regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory
authority; or

(b)

any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be
considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision.

Conflicts of Interest
The members of the Board of Directors are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best
interests of the Company and to disclose any interests, which they may have in any project or opportunity of the
Company. If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Board of Directors, any director in a conflict is required
to disclose his or her interest and abstain from voting on such matter. See “Corporate Governance”.
Other than disclosed herein, there are no known existing or potential conflicts of interest among the Company, its
directors and officers or other members of management of the Company or of any proposed director, officer or other
member of management as a result of their outside business interests except that certain of the directors and officers
serve as directors and officers of other companies, and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise between their
duties to the Company and their duties as a director or officer of such other companies. See “Corporate
Governance–Board of Directors” and “Risk Factors”.
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The following section describes the significant elements of the Company’s proposed executive compensation
program following the Pre-Closing Capital Changes and Closing, with particular emphasis on the process for
determining compensation payable to the Company’s CEO, CFO and, other than the CEO and the CFO, the three
most highly compensated executive officers of the Company, or the three most highly compensated individuals
acting in a similar capacity, whose total compensation was, individually, more than $150,000 for the most recently
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completed financial year (collectively, the “NEOs”). For fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2021, the NEOs are expected to be
the following (assuming the continued employment of such individuals with the Company): Dr. George
Christodoulou (Co-Chair), Dr. Sven Grail (Co-Chair), Dr. Alex Dobranowski (CEO), Mr. G. Scott Nirenberski
(CFO) and Ms. Madeline Walker (COO).
Upon the Closing, the Company will establish a standing committee to be named the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee, which will meet with management to review the Company’s executive compensation
program and, if deemed appropriate, make further recommendations to the Board regarding changes to the program
in light of the then relevant factors. An overview of the role and responsibilities of the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee can be found elsewhere in this prospectus under “Corporate Governance”.
Overview
The Human Resources and Compensation Committee, in consultation with the CEO, will be responsible for
establishing, reviewing and overseeing the compensation policies of the Company and compensation of the NEOs.
It is anticipated that the CEO will make recommendations to the Human Resources and Compensation Committee
each year with respect to the compensation for the NEOs. The Human Resources and Compensation Committee will
review the recommendations of the CEO in determining whether to make a recommendation to the Board of
Directors or recommend any further changes to compensation for the executives. In addition, the Human Resources
and Compensation Committee will annually review and make recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding
the compensation for the CEO.
Compensation Philosophy and Objectives
The Company’s executive compensation practices are based on a pay-for-performance philosophy that is designed
to attract, motivate and retain its executives. Assessment of performance will be based on the Company’s financial
and operational performance, as well as individual contributions, and effective risk management. This philosophy is
intended to effectively support the Company’s goals of retaining and attracting the highest calibre of talent in order
to maintain its leadership position in the industry.
Pay will be benchmarked and compared on a target total direct compensation basis (base salary plus short-term
target annual incentive plus target annual long-term equity-based incentive). The Board will review benchmarking
data for external market context, and views the 50th percentile of total compensation as a point of reference and a
guideline, but does not target executive compensation to a fixed percentile relative to one specific peer group.
Informed judgment, including consideration of MCI’s internal hierarchy, criticality of the role, market context and
performance, will be applied to peer data so as to avoid an entirely “mechanical” process for setting each position’s
pay.
Components of Executive Compensation
Consistent with the Company’s historical approach, the compensation program for executives on the Closing will
consist of three major elements: (i) base salary; (ii) annual short-term incentives; and (iii) long-term incentives.
Perquisites and personal benefits are not a significant element of compensation of the NEOs.
Base Salary
A primary element of the Company’s compensation program is base salary. The Company’s view is that a
competitive base salary is a necessary element for attracting and retaining qualified executive officers. Base salaries
are set and adjusted to reflect the scope of an executive’s responsibility and prior experience, and the overall market
demand for such executives at time of hire. Base salaries will be reviewed annually.
Effective as of September 1, 2020, the base salaries for the NEOs are as follows:


Dr. George Christodoulou (Co-Chair) - $300,000
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Dr. Sven Grail (Co-Chair) - $300,000



Dr. Alex Dobranowski (CEO) - $350,000



Mr. G. Scott Nirenberski (CFO) - $300,000



Ms. Madeline Walker (COO) - $300,000

For the period from September 1, 2020 to November 30, 2020, each NEO other than the CEO will be receiving
7,500 Options, and the CEO will be receiving 8,750 Options, with each Option being exercisable at the Offering
Price, in lieu of receiving their cash base salary for such period. Accordingly, the NEOs will only receive their prorated cash base salary for fiscal 2020 for the month of December 2020.
Short-Term Incentives
MCI will grant short-term incentive awards to its executive officers in the form of annual cash bonuses, which are
intended to motivate and reward such executive officers for achieving and surpassing annual corporate and
individual goals approved by the Board. The Company believes that a performance-based bonus program promotes
its overall compensation objectives by tying a meaningful portion of an executive’s compensation to the overall
growth of the business, thereby aligning the interests of executive officers with the interests of holders of voting
shares and other stakeholders. Bonuses for the CEO will be recommended by the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee and approved by the Board, while bonuses for all other NEOs will be recommended by
the CEO and reviewed and approved by the Human Resources and Compensation Committee. In the past, bonus
levels were mainly determined based on the informed judgement of the Board. Following completion of the
Offering, the Company intends to put in place a more structured scorecard to assess performance, while still
allowing the Human Resources and Compensation Committee to use its informed judgment to determine the final
bonus levels.
For fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2021, each of the NEOs will be eligible for target annual incentives in an amount of up to
100% of each of their respective base salaries. The performance criteria applicable to the bonuses potentially
payable to the NEOs are expected to include: 50% tied to the achievement of corporate objectives and 50% tied to
the achievement of individual objectives.
Long-Term Incentives
The executive officers of the Company, along with other employees, will be eligible to participate in the long-term
incentive program of the Company which will be comprised of Awards issued pursuant to the Equity Incentive Plan.
The purpose of the long-term incentive program is to promote greater alignment of interests between employees and
shareholders, and to support the achievement of the Company’s longer-term performance objectives, while
providing a long-term retention element.
One-time Closing Option Grant to Employees in Connection with Offering
In connection with and conditional upon completion of the Offering, the Board will approve a one-time grant of
Options pursuant to the Equity Incentive Plan to purchase an aggregate of 3,420,000 Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares to certain officers and employees, including the NEOs, which Options will be exercisable at the Offering
Price (the “Closing Option Grant”). 25% of the Options granted to the NEOs pursuant to the Closing Option Grant
will vest on each anniversary of the Closing Date. Other than Options expected to be granted in connection with the
Closing Option Grant, it is expected that no further Options will be granted to the NEOs during fiscal 2020 or fiscal
2021.
Equity Incentive Plan
On [●], 2020, the Board approved the Equity Incentive Plan. The following summary of the Equity Incentive Plan
above is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Equity Incentive Plan, a copy of which will be
available under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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The Equity Incentive Plan contains the following general terms:
1.

The Equity Incentive Plan allows for grants of Awards.

2.

The Equity Incentive Plan provides for grants to be approved by the Board.

3.

Awards cannot be granted at less than the market value, which is defined as the closing price of the Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares on the TSX on the last trading day prior to the relevant date.

4.

The Equity Incentive Plan grants broad powers to the Board to set terms of Awards, including with respect
to vesting (e.g., vesting may be set on any schedule and on any criteria, including performance).
Specifically, vesting may be conditional upon passage of time, continued employment, satisfaction of
performance criteria or any combination of the foregoing, provided that:
(a)
performance conditions to vesting of any portion of an Award, other than RSUs granted to
Canadian residents, will be measured over a period of not less than one year;
(b)
unless otherwise set forth in the applicable Award agreement, any RSUs granted under the Equity
Incentive Plan shall vest as to ½ on each of the first and second anniversary of the date of grant; and
(c)
unless otherwise set forth in the applicable Award agreement, any DSUs granted under the Equity
Incentive Plan shall vest as to 25% on the third, sixth, ninth and twelfth month anniversary of the date of
grant.

5.

The Equity Incentive Plan provides that the Board may decide to accelerate Awards (and their expiration
dates) upon a change of control of the Company. With respect to Awards made under the Equity Incentive
Plan, a “change of control” is defined generally to include acquisitions by persons or groups of beneficial
ownership representing more than 50% of either the then outstanding voting shares or voting power of the
then outstanding voting securities of the Company (with certain exclusions); members of the Company’s
then “incumbent board” ceasing to be a majority of the Board of the Company; a merger, reorganization,
statutory or mandatory share exchange, business combination, consolidation or similar transaction
involving the Company or one of its subsidiaries; a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the
assets of the Company and its subsidiaries (considered on a consolidated basis); or the acquisition of assets
or shares of another entity by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, unless the holders of the voting shares
and voting securities own more than 50% of the “resulting entity” from the transaction (in substantially the
same proportions), the members of the “incumbent board” of the Company continue to hold a majority of
the board seats of the “resulting entity” and no other person owns more than 50% of the voting shares or
voting power (unless such ownership existed before the combination); or the shareholders approve a plan of
complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

6.

The Equity Incentive Plan explicitly specifies the consequences of termination of employment (including
upon death or disability).

7.

The Equity Incentive Plan allows Awards other than Options to have up to ten-year terms and Options to
have five-year terms, provided that if the term of any Award is to expire during a trading “blackout”
established by the Company or pursuant to any lock-up agreement or similar trading restriction or within
ten business days thereafter, the expiry date of such Award shall be extended to ten business days following
the end of the applicable blackout period.

Deferred Share Units
The Equity Incentive Plan permits non-employee directors to receive all or a portion of such non-employee
director’s annual retainer, if eligible, through the grant of DSUs. Such DSUs will generally be fully vested at the
time of their issuance and are settled within 10 days following the retirement of the applicable director or at the time
the applicable director otherwise ceases to hold office or their engagement is terminated, subject to payment or other
satisfaction of all related withholding obligations in accordance with the provisions of the Equity Incentive Plan.
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Pursuant to the Equity Incentive Plan, settlement of DSUs shall be made in Class A Subordinate Voting Shares,
unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, taking into account best practices in corporate governance.
Termination of Employment or Service
Unless otherwise determined by the Board (including by the terms of the Award or the Equity Incentive Plan or any
resolution of such Board), the following general rules will apply with respect to Awards:


if employment or service is terminated for any reason whatsoever other than death, disability, or for cause
(in the opinion of the Company’s legal counsel), or if service of a consultant is terminated for any reason
whatsoever other than death, (A) any non-vested Award granted pursuant to the Equity Incentive Plan
outstanding at the time of such termination and all rights thereunder shall wholly and completely terminate
and no further vesting shall occur, and (B) the participant shall be entitled to exercise his or her rights with
respect to the portion of any Option vested as of the date of termination for a period that shall end on the
earlier of: (1) the expiration date set forth in the Award with respect to the vested portion of such Award; or
(2) the date that occurs 90 days after such termination date;



if the employment or service is terminated by retirement, the participant will be able to exercise his or her
rights with respect to the vested portion of any Option until the date specified in the Award and any vested
RSUs, PSUs and DSUs shall be settled in accordance with the provisions of the Equity Incentive Plan;



if employment or service is terminated by death or disability of an employee or director (or death of a
consultant), non-vested Awards will terminate and the participant (or his or her estate) will be able to
exercise his or her rights with respect to the vested portion of any Option until the earlier of the date
specified in the Award or during the one-year period following death or disability (and special provisions
are made with respect to death or disability after retirement and while the retiree has the power to exercise
an Award as provided above) and any vested RSUs, PSUs and DSUs shall be settled in accordance with the
provisions of the Equity Incentive Plan; and



if employment or service is terminated for cause, within the meaning of the Employment Standards Act,
2000 (Ontario), any unvested Award granted pursuant to the Equity Incentive Plan shall be cancelled and
all rights thereunder terminated.

The Equity Incentive Plan allows the Board to set other terms relating to termination of employment or service and
relating to leaves of absence, including allowing or providing for acceleration of vesting and continuation of Awards
(or exercise periods) beyond the period generally provided above (subject to applicable rules of the TSX).
Equity Incentive Plan Limitations
The Equity Incentive Plan is an evergreen plan since the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares covered by grants
which have been exercised shall be available for subsequent grants under the Equity Incentive Plan and the number
of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares available to grant increases as the number of issued and outstanding Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares increases. As an evergreen plan, the Equity Incentive Plan must be approved by
shareholders every three years pursuant to section 613 of the TSX Company Manual.
Under the Equity Incentive Plan, the total number of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares reserved and available for
grant and issuance pursuant to Awards shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the total issued and outstanding Class
A Subordinate Voting Shares (on a non-diluted basis) from time to time.
For as long as the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares are listed for trading on the TSX and the standards with
respect to securityholder approval, and security based compensation arrangements, apply to the Company:


the number of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares issued to insiders (including associates of insiders if
legally required) within any one year period and issuable to the insiders at any time, under the Equity
Incentive Plan and all other Company security-based compensation arrangements shall not exceed 10% of
the total issued and outstanding voting shares, respectively, excluding any issued and outstanding Class B
Multiple Voting Shares;
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the number of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares issued, or reserved for issuance with respect to Awards,
to any one insider (including associates of the insider if legally required) within any one year period under
the Equity Incentive Plan and all other Company security-based compensation arrangements shall not
exceed 5% of the total issued and outstanding voting shares, excluding any issued and outstanding Class B
Multiple Voting Shares; and



subject to adjustment under the Equity Incentive Plan, no more than one percent (1%) of the total issued
and outstanding voting shares of the Company (on a non-diluted basis) from time to time, excluding any
issued and outstanding Class B Multiple Voting Shares, shall be reserved and available for grant and
issuance pursuant to Awards to the non-employee directors.

For these purposes, “insider” generally means a director or officer, a director or officer of an insider of one of the
Company’s subsidiaries or a person (or group) holding greater than 10% beneficial ownership of voting securities.
Transferability
Unless an Award otherwise provides, an Award is not transferable, other than by testamentary disposition by the
participant or the laws of intestate succession. The Board may allow transfers to family members or related entities.
Eligibility
All non-employee directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company and its affiliates may become
eligible for Awards under the Equity Incentive Plan.
Amendments and Termination
The Equity Incentive Plan provides that the Board may amend, suspend or terminate the Equity Incentive Plan,
subject to applicable law and the rules of the TSX. The Equity Incentive Plan specifically provides that, to the extent
required by applicable law or by the rules of the TSX, shareholder approval will be required for the following types
of amendments:


any amendment which reduces the exercise price or purchase price of an Award, except for purposes of
maintaining an Award’s value in the case of adjustment or a change of control in accordance with the
Equity Incentive Plan;



any amendment that would result in the cancellation of an Option in exchange for an Option with a lower
exercise price from that of the original Option or another Award or cash payment except in the case of
adjustment or a change of control in accordance with the Equity Incentive Plan;



any amendment extending the term of an Award beyond its original expiry date, except as otherwise
permitted by the Equity Incentive Plan;



any amendment extending eligibility to participate in the Equity Incentive Plan to persons other than
officers, employees, non-employee directors or consultants or increasing the annual limit on Awards to
non-employee directors;



any amendment permitting the transfer of Awards, other than for normal estate settlement purposes or to a
trust governed by a RRSP, RRIF, TFSA, RESP or similar plan;



any amendment increasing the maximum aggregate number of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares that may
be subject to issuance at any given time in connection with Awards granted under the Equity Incentive
Plan;



any amendment to the amendment provisions; and



any other amendment required to be approved by shareholders under applicable law or rules of the TSX.
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Shareholder approval for amendments to the Equity Incentive Plan are, by contrast, not required in connection with
the following types of amendments, which may be made by the Board alone, unless and to the extent prohibited by
applicable law or by the rules of the TSX:


amendments of a technical, clerical or “housekeeping” nature including, without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, any amendments for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, error or omission in the Equity
Incentive Plan or to correct or supplement any provision of the Equity Incentive Plan that is inconsistent
with any other provision of the Equity Incentive Plan;



amendments necessary to comply with the provisions of applicable law and the applicable rules of the
TSX;



amendments necessary in order for Awards to qualify for favorable treatment under the Income Tax Act
(Canada);



amendments respecting administration of the Equity Incentive Plan including, without limitation, the
method or manner of exercise of any Award;



any amendments to the vesting provisions of the Equity Incentive Plan or any Award;



any amendments to the early termination provisions of the Equity Incentive Plan or any Award, whether or
not such Award is held by an insider, provided such amendment does not entail an extension of an Award
beyond the original expiry date;



any amendments in the termination provisions of the Equity Incentive Plan or any Award, other than an
Award held by an insider in the case of an amendment extending the term of an Award, provided any such
amendment does not entail an extension of the expiry date of such Award beyond its original expiry date;



the addition of any form of financial assistance by the Company for the acquisition by all or certain
categories of participants of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares under the Equity Incentive Plan, and the
subsequent amendment of any such provision;



the addition or modification of a cashless exercise feature, payable in cash or Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares, which provides for a full deduction of the number of underlying Class A Subordinate Voting Shares
from the Equity Incentive Plan reserve;



adjustments to outstanding Awards in the event of a change of control or similar transaction entered into by
the Company;



amendments necessary to suspend or terminate the Equity Incentive Plan; and



any other amendment, whether fundamental or otherwise, not requiring shareholder approval under
applicable law or the rules of the TSX.

Performance Vesting Conditions for Awards Intended to Qualify as Performance-Based Compensation
Some Awards granted under the Equity Incentive Plan are subject to the attainment of pre-established performance
goals. Such goals may include elements that reference the performance by the Company or its subsidiaries,
divisions, or its business or geographical units or functions and/or elements that reflect individual performance.
A performance goal need not be based upon an increase or positive result under a business criterion and could
include, for example, maintaining the status quo or limiting economic losses (measured, in each case, by reference to
a specific business criterion). To the fullest extent allowed by law, the Equity Incentive Plan allows performance
goals to be established based on individual goals and performance in addition to or in substitution for criteria
described above, as long as such goals are pre-established and objective and not based on mere continued
employment. The Board will determine whether the applicable qualifying performance criteria have been achieved.
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The Board may appropriately adjust any evaluation of performance under a performance goal to exclude any of the
following events that occur during a performance period: asset write-downs, litigation or claim judgments or
settlements, the effect of changes in or provisions under tax law, accounting principles or other such laws or
provisions affecting reported results, accruals for reorganization and restructuring programs and any extraordinary
non-recurring items as described in applicable accounting literature or the Company’s management’s discussion and
analysis of financial condition and results of operations appearing in the Company’s periodic reports under
applicable law for the applicable period.
Term
The Board has the power, at any time, to amend, suspend or terminate the Equity Incentive Plan, subject to the
above-detailed restrictions.
Pension Benefits and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
The Company does not have a company-sponsored pension plan, and none of its NEOs participate in a nonqualified
deferred compensation plan.
Other Perquisites and Benefits
The Company also provides a limited benefits package to executive officers that consists of health and dental
benefits, life insurance, long term disability insurance and an employee and family assistance plan. Some executive
officers may also be entitled to receive a car allowance.
Compensation Risk Assessment
Following the Closing, the Board will review the potential risks associated with the structure and design of the
various compensation plans of the Company, including a comprehensive review of the material compensation plans
and programs for all employees.
Summary Compensation Table
The following table presents total compensation amounts expected to be paid, accrued or otherwise expensed by the
Company with respect to fiscal 2021, for each of the NEOs (assuming the continued employment of each NEO).

Name and principal position

Dr. George
Christodoulou, Co-Chair
Dr. Sven Grail, Co-Chair
Dr. Alex Dobranowski,
CEO
Mr. G. Scott Nirenberski,
CFO
Ms. Madeline Walker,
President

Non-Equity Incentive Plan
compensation
Annual
Long-term
incentive
incentive
plans(4)
plans

Year

Salary(1)

Share
awards(2)

Option
awards(3)

2021

$300,000

N/A

$[●] (5)

$150,000

2021
2021

$300,000

N/A

$[●] (5)

$150,000

$350,000

N/A

$[●] (5)

$300,000

N/A

$300,000

N/A

2021
2021

Pension
Value

All other
compensation(5)

Total
compensation

N/A

N/A

N/A

$[●]

N/A

N/A

N/A

$[●]

$175,000

N/A

N/A

N/A

$[●]

$[●] (5)

$150,000

N/A

N/A

N/A

$[●]

$[●] (5)

$150,000

N/A

N/A

N/A

$[●]

Notes:
(1)
(2)

(3)

Amounts reflect the annualized base salary for each NEO to be in effect as of the Closing for fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2021. For fiscal
2020, the NEOs will only receive their pro-rated cash base salary for the month of December 2020.
The Company does not intend to grant any share-based awards to the Company’s NEOs in fiscal 2020 or fiscal 2021, other than the
Closing Option Grant. For the period from September 1, 2020 to November 30, 2020, each NEO other than the CEO will be receiving
7,500 Options, and the CEO will be receiving 8,750 Options, with each Option being exercisable at the Offering Price, in lieu of
receiving their cash base salary for such period.
Reflects Options expected to be granted under the Closing Option Grant. Other than options expected to be granted in connection with
the Closing Option Grant, it is not expected that NEOs will receive further grants of Options for fiscal 2020 or fiscal 2021. See
“Executive Compensation – Components of Executive Compensation”. Option values have been calculated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model based on the Offering Price.
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(4)

(5)

The total amount of all short-term incentive bonuses to be paid or payable in or with respect to fiscal 2021 has yet to be determined.
However, in connection with fiscal 2021, the Board estimates cash bonuses to the NEOs as set out in this column. Other than a
performance bonus payable to Ms. Walker in the amount of $700,000, MCI does not anticipate cash bonuses being paid to NEOs in
respect of fiscal 2020.
None of the NEOs are entitled to perquisites or other personal benefits which, in the aggregate, are worth over $50,000 or over 10% of
their base salary.

Outstanding Option-based and Share-based Awards
The following table sets out, for each NEO, the value of all option-based and share-based awards that are anticipated
to be outstanding on the Closing. The Company does not anticipate having any share-based awards outstanding on
the Closing.
Option-based awards

Name
Dr. George Christodoulou
Dr. Sven Grail
Dr. Alex Dobranowski
Mr. G. Scott Nirenberski
Ms. Madeline Walker

Number of securities
underlying unexercised
options
570,000 Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares(2)
570,000 Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares(2)
1,140,000 Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares(2)
570,000 Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares(2)
570,000 Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares(2)

Option
exercise price
$[●](2)

Option expiration date
5 year anniversary of Closing Date

Value of
unexercised inthe-money
options (1)
$0

$[●](2)

5 year anniversary of Closing Date

$0

$[●](2)

5 year anniversary of Closing Date

$0

$[●](2)

5 year anniversary of Closing Date

$0

$[●](2)

5 year anniversary of Closing Date

$0

Notes:
(1)
(2)

Option values have been calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the Offering Price.
Reflects Options expected to be granted under the Closing Option Grant. See “Executive Compensation – Components of Executive
Compensation”.

Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested or Earned During the Year
The following table indicates, for each NEO, the value of incentive plan awards expected to be vested or earned
during fiscal 2021 (assuming the continued employment of each NEO).

Name
Dr. George Christodoulou
Dr. Sven Grail
Dr. Alex Dobranowski
Mr. G. Scott Nirenberski
Ms. Madeline Walker

Option-Based Awards – Value
Vested During the Year(1)
$[●]
$[●]
$[●]
$[●]
$[●]

Share-Based
Awards – Value
Vested During the
Year
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Non-Equity Incentive Plan
Compensation – Value
Earned During the Year
$450,000
$450,000
$560,000
$450,000
$450,000

Note:
(1)

Option values have been calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the Offering Price.

NEO Employment Agreements including Provisions Relating to Termination or Change of Control
The Company has written employment agreements with each of its NEOs and each executive officer is entitled to
receive compensation established by the Company as well as other benefits in accordance with plans available to the
most senior employees.
Each NEO’s employment agreement sets forth the terms and conditions of such NEO’s employment, including their
annual base salary, cash bonus of up to [●]% of base salary, to be approved by the Board, and any awards pursuant
to the Company’s equity incentive plan or any other equity plan that is approved by the Board. Each NEO’s
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employment agreement also includes, among other things, provisions regarding intellectual property rights,
confidentiality, non-competition and non-solicitation as well as eligibility for the Company’s benefit plans. In the
event that such NEO is terminated without cause, the Company shall provide such NEO with notice of termination,
pay in lieu of notice, or some combination of the two, equal to (i) four (4) months of notice, plus (ii) an additional
one (1) month of notice for every completed year of service thereafter, subject to an overall maximum entitlement of
twelve (12) months. In the event that such NEO is terminated for cause, such NEO will receive payment of any
salary and vacation pay earned up to and including the date of termination. In such a situation, all other entitlements
that such NEO may have as of the date of termination will be automatically extinguished, except for such minimum
mandated entitlement, if any. Each NEO’s employment agreement also states that in the event of a restatement of
financial results of the Company as a result of material noncompliance or serious misconduct, the value of any
incentive compensation paid to such NEO in the twenty-four (24) months prior to the restatement, shall be repaid to
the Company by such NEO.
Upon the Closing, each of these employment agreements will be reviewed by the Board in consultation with the
Human Resources and Compensation Committee and may, as considered appropriate, be amended to reflect the
changed status of the Company and the compensation framework developed following the Closing. A summary of
the termination and/or change of control provisions of the current employment agreements follows.
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
The Board of Directors, through the Human Resources and Compensation Committee, will be responsible for
reviewing and approving the directors’ compensation arrangements and any changes to those arrangements.
Following the Closing, the Human Resources and Compensation Committee will establish the compensation
arrangements for each director that is not an employee of the Company or one of its affiliates. The directors’
compensation program will be designed to attract and retain the most qualified individuals to serve on the Board of
Directors. It is expected that non-executive directors, other than the Co-Chairs of the Board, will be paid an annual
retainer of $30,000. It is expected that the Co-Chairs of the Board will each receive an annual retainer of $45,000.
Each of the proposed directors will receive an initial grant of DSUs worth an amount equal to such director’s annual
retainer at the Offering Price. It is also expected that the Lead Director and committee chairs and committee
members will receive an additional retainer. The Company plans to compensate members of the Board of Directors
with an annual retainer for their roles as both directors and committee members, rather than by way of per meeting
fees.
The Equity Incentive Plan permits non-employee directors to receive all or a portion of such non-employee
director’s annual retainer, if eligible, through the grant of DSUs. Such DSUs will generally be fully vested at the
time of their issuance and are settled on the third business day following the retirement of the applicable director or
at the time the applicable director otherwise ceases to hold office or their engagement is terminated, subject to
payment or other satisfaction of all related withholding obligations in accordance with the provisions of the Equity
Incentive Plan.
Directors who are employees of, and who receive a salary from, the Company or one of its affiliates will not be
entitled to receive any remuneration for serving as directors, but will be entitled to reimbursement of their
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in serving as directors.
It is expected that the Human Resources and Compensation Committee will establish a share ownership guideline
pursuant to which directors will be expected to hold Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and DSUs having a
minimum value of three times their annual retainer, within five years of first being elected to the Board.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
General
The securities regulatory authorities in Canada adopted National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate
Governance Practices (“NI 58-101”) and National Policy 58-201 – Corporate Governance Guidelines (“NP 58201”). NP 58-201 contains a series of guidelines for effective corporate governance. The guidelines deal with such
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matters as the constitution and independence of corporate boards, their functions, the effectiveness and education of
Board members and other items dealing with sound corporate governance.
For the purposes of this disclosure, the applicable meaning of “independent” is that which is provided in National
Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees (“NI 52-110”).
Three of the six members who are expected to form the Board of Directors following the Closing are “independent”,
within the meaning of NI 52-110. The Board of Directors has determined that none of Messrs. Kingsley Ward,
Anthony Lacavera and Bashar Al-Rehany has a material relationship with the Company that could be reasonably
expected to interfere with the exercise of their respective independent judgement. Further, none of the circumstances
set out in Sections 1.4 and 1.5 of NI 52-110 apply to any of Messrs. Kingsley Ward, Anthony Lacavera and Bashar
Al-Rehany. In addition, the Board of Directors has considered that none of Messrs. Kingsley Ward, Anthony
Lacavera or Bashar Al-Rehany exercise control over the Company by virtue of beneficial ownership of the
Company’s securities or any relationship with a beneficial owner thereof, and accordingly the Board of Directors
does not consider that any such security holdings or relationships will interfere with the exercise of their respective
independent judgement. Dr. Sven Grail, Dr. George Christodoulou and Dr. Alexander Dobranowski, are not
considered “independent” because they also function as NEOs of the Company and, in the cases of Dr. Sven Grail
and Dr. George Christodoulou, by virtue of their shareholdings in MCI.
Kingsley Ward has been appointed as the Lead Director by the Board of Directors and is responsible for ensuring
that the independent directors have opportunities to meet without management and non-independent directors, as
required. The Lead Director will be appointed and replaced from time to time by a majority of independent directors
and will be an independent director. Discussions among the independent directors will be led by the Lead Director
who will provide feedback subsequently to the Co-Chairs of the Board of Directors.
Upon the Closing, charters will be implemented for the Board and each of its standing committees, as well a position
description for the CEO. Position descriptions for each of the Co-Chairs of the Board, the Lead Director and the
chairs of each of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee, the Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committee and the Audit Committee, will be included in their respective charters. Each of these charters and
position descriptions will be available on the Company’s website at www.mcionehealth.com. A copy of the charter
of the Audit Committee is appended to this prospectus at Appendix “B”.
Board of Directors
Overview
The Company’s articles provide for a minimum of one and a maximum of ten directors, and the Board of Directors
has the power to set the number of directors within the minimum and maximum number. In addition, the Board of
Directors may appoint one or more additional directors who shall hold office until the close of the next annual
meeting of holders of the Company’s voting shares, provided that the total number of directors so appointed may not
exceed one-third of the number of directors elected at the previous annual meeting of holders of the Company’s
voting shares.
Upon the Closing, the Board of Directors will be comprised of six directors: Dr. Sven Grail, Dr. George
Christodoulou, Kingsley Ward, Dr. Alexander Dobranowski, Anthony Lacavera and Bashar Al-Rehany. Certain
members of the Board of Directors are also members of the board of directors of other reporting issuers, as noted
below:
Name of Director
Kingsley Ward
Anthony Lacavera

Name(s) of Reporting Issuer(s) and Exchange
Data Communications Management (TSX:DCM), Founders Advantage Capital
(TSXV:FCF), Globalive Technology (TSXV:LIVE)
Globalive Technology (TSXV:LIVE)

The mandate of the Board of Directors will require that the Board meet as many times as it considers necessary to
carry out its responsibilities effectively, and in any event on a quarterly basis, at minimum, and that all Board
meetings include meetings of independent directors without any members of management present to allow for open
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discussions between such independent directors. A copy of the mandate of the Board of Directors is appended to this
prospectus at Appendix “A”.
Director Tenure
It is expected that each of the proposed directors of the Company will serve until the close of the next annual
meeting of holders of the Company’s voting shares or until his or her successor is elected or appointed. The Board is
not expected to adopt a term limit for directors. The Board believes that the imposition of director term limits may
discount the value of experience and continuity amongst Board members and runs the risk of excluding experienced
and potentially valuable Board members. The Board will rely on an annual director assessment procedure, as more
fully described below, in evaluating Board members, and believes that it can best strike the right balance between
continuity and fresh perspectives without mandated term limits.
Board and Senior Management Diversity
MCI recognizes and embraces the benefits of having diversity on the Board and in its senior management. Prior to
the Closing, the Company will adopt a diversity policy, which recognizes that it is important to ensure that members
of the Board and senior management provide the necessary range of perspectives, experience and expertise required
to achieve the Company’s objectives and deliver for the Company’s stakeholders.
The Company also recognizes that the Board and its senior management appointments must be based on
performance, ability, merit and potential. Therefore, the Company ensures a merit-based competitive process for
appointments. The Company’s commitment to diversity will include ensuring that diversity is given due
consideration by the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee.
With respect to the Board composition, on an annual basis, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
will: (i) assess the effectiveness of the Board appointment/nomination process at achieving the Company’s diversity
objectives; (ii) measure the annual and cumulative progress in achieving its gender diversity targets, if targets have
been adopted; and (iii) monitor implementation of the policy. Currently, the Board does not believe that targets or
strict rules set out in a formal policy necessarily result in the identification or selection of the best candidates. At any
given time the Board may seek to adjust one or more objectives concerning its diversity and measure progress
accordingly.
With respect to senior management appointments, on an annual basis, the Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committee will: (i) assess the effectiveness of the senior management appointment process at achieving the
Company’s diversity objectives; (ii) consider and, if determined advisable, recommend to the Board for adoption,
measurable objectives for achieving diversity in senior management; and (iii) monitor implementation of the policy.
At any given time the Board may seek to adjust one or more objectives concerning senior management diversity and
measure progress accordingly.
Board Mandate
The mandate of the Board of Directors is to provide oversight for the Company and to act honestly and in good faith
with a view to its best interests. The Board acts in accordance with the Company’s articles of incorporation and bylaws, as well as with other applicable laws and Company policies. The Board will discharge its responsibilities both
directly and through the work performed by its standing committees, as well as any other committees appointed
from time to time on an ad hoc basis. The Board will review and approve any transactions and decisions that fall
within its approval mandate in advance and will review the results of these decisions on a regular basis. A copy of
the mandate of the Board of Directors is attached as Appendix “A” to this prospectus and will be available on the
Company’s website at www.mcionehealth.com.
Position Descriptions
Chair of the Board, Lead Director and Committee Chairs
It is expected that Dr. Sven Grail and Dr. George Christodoulou will be the Co-Chairs of the Board of Directors. A
written position description for the Chair or Co-Chairs, as the case may be, is included as part of the mandate of the
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Board of Directors, which sets out the position’s key responsibilities, including duties related to working with senior
management, Board meetings, shareholders’ meetings, director development and communication with shareholders
and regulators. The Board of Directors will also adopt a position description for the Lead Director setting out the
Lead Director’s responsibility for ensuring that the independent directors have opportunities to meet without
management and non-independent directors, as required. The charters for the standing committees of the Board will
include each committee chairman’s responsibilities, including chairing committee meetings and working with the
respective committee and management to ensure, to the greatest extent possible, the effective functioning of the
committee. These charters and position descriptions will be considered by the Board of Directors for approval
annually.
CEO
Dr. Alexander Dobranowski is the Company’s CEO. The primary functions of the CEO are to lead the management
of the Company’s business and affairs and to lead the implementation of the resolutions and the policies of the
Board of Directors. Prior to the Closing, the Board will develop a written position description for the CEO which
will set out the CEO’s key responsibilities, including duties relating to strategic planning, operational direction and
interaction with the Board of Directors and communication with shareholders. The CEO position description will be
considered by the Board of Directors for approval annually.
Orientation and Continuing Education
Upon the Closing, the Board will consist of directors who are familiar with the industry or who bring particular
expertise to the Board from their professional experience. New directors will be expected to participate in an initial
information session on the Company in the presence of its senior executive officers to learn about, among other
things, the business of MCI, its financial situation and its strategic planning. All directors will receive a record of
public information about the Company, as well as other relevant corporate and business information including
corporate governance practices of the Company, the structure of the Board and its standing committees, its corporate
organization, the charters of the Board and its standing committees, the Company’s articles, the Code and other
relevant corporate policies. Senior management will make regular presentations to the Board on the main areas of
the business and the directors will have the opportunity to ask questions.
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
The Company has a code of business conduct and ethics (the “Code”) for directors, officers, employees and
consultants.
Directors and executive officers are required by applicable law and the Company’s corporate governance practices
and policies to promptly disclose any potential conflict of interest that may arise. If a director or executive officer
has a material interest in an agreement or transaction, applicable law and principles of sound corporate governance
require them to declare the interest in writing and, where required by applicable law, to abstain from voting with
respect to such agreement or transaction.
The Board will monitor compliance with the Code by delegating responsibility for investigating and enforcing
matters related to the Code to management, who will report breaches of the Code to the appropriate officer of the
Company. Certain of the matters covered by the Code will also be subject to Audit Committee oversight.
The Board will also delegate the communication of the Code to employees and to management who will be expected
to encourage and promote a culture of ethical business conduct. Employees and consultants of MCI are required to
immediately report any such conflicts of interest to their direct supervisor, a member of the human resources team or
a senior executive officer. The Code also sets out: (i) standards for the Company’s and its employees’ relationships
with patients and others; (ii) standards for the accuracy of the Company’s books and records and the provision of
information to external auditors; and (iii) rules regarding the ownership, protection and proper use of the Company’s
assets.
Any waiver of the Code’s provisions in respect of a director or officer must be approved by the Board, and the CEO
may approve waivers in respect of employees and consultants, and must report such waivers to the Board.
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A copy of the Code will be available on the Company’s website at www.mcionehealth.com.
Committees
Prior to the Closing, the Board of Directors will implement charters for each of its proposed standing committees,
namely the Audit Committee, Human Resources and Compensation Committee and the Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee. The Board of Directors will delegate to the applicable committee those duties and
responsibilities set out in each standing committee’s charter and the charters will be reviewed annually by the Board.
Audit Committee
The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its financial oversight obligations, including the
responsibility: (i) to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility to oversee the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting processes and audits of the Company’s financial statements; (ii) to review the Company’s
financial reports and other financial information, disclosure controls and procedures and internal accounting and
financial controls; (iii) to oversee the work of the external auditor in preparing or issuing an audit report or related
work, monitor the independence of the external auditor and pre-approve all auditing services and permitted nonaudit services provided by the external auditor; and (iv) to serve as an independent and objective party to monitor
the Company’s financial reporting processes and internal control systems. A copy of the charter of the Audit
Committee is attached as Appendix “B” to this prospectus and will be available on the Company’s website at
www.mcionehealth.com.
As of the Closing, the members of the Audit Committee are expected to be Kingsley Ward, Bashar Al-Rehany and
Dr. George Christodoulou. Each of the expected members of the Audit Committee are “independent” (other than Dr.
George Christodoulou) within the meaning of NI 52-110. The Board of Directors has determined that each of
Messrs. Ward and Al-Rehany do not have a material relationship with the Company that could be reasonably
expected to interfere with the exercise of their respective independent judgement. Further, none of the circumstances
set out in Sections 1.4 and 1.5 of NI 52-110 apply to Messrs. Ward and Al-Rehany. In addition, the Board of
Directors has considered that neither of Messrs. Ward and Al-Rehany exercise control over the Company by virtue
of beneficial ownership of the Company’s securities or any relationship with a beneficial owner thereof, and
accordingly the Board of Directors does not consider that any such security holdings or relationships will interfere
with the exercise of their respective independent judgement. As Dr. George Christodoulou is not independent by
virtue of the fact that he is an executive officer of the Company and by virtue of his shareholdings in MCI, the
Company is relying on the exemption set forth in Section 3.2 of NI 52-110 in respect of his membership on the
Audit Committee. Each of the current and expected members of the Audit Committee are also “financially literate”
within the meaning of NI 52-110. For the purposes of NI 52-110, an individual is financially literate if he or she has
the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of
accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and level of complexity of the issues that can
reasonably be expected to be raised by the issuer’s financial statements. All current and expected members of the
Audit Committee have experience reviewing financial statements and dealing with related accounting and auditing
issues. The education and experience of each expected member of the Audit Committee relevant to the performance
of his or her duties as a member of the Audit Committee can be found under “The Board of Directors and
Management – Biographies”.
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
The Audit Committee charter includes responsibilities regarding the provision of non-audit services by MCI’s
external auditors. This policy encourages consideration of whether the provision of services other than audit services
is compatible with maintaining the auditor’s independence and requires Audit Committee pre-approval of permitted
audit and audit-related services.
Auditor Fees

Fees billed by Norton McMullen LLP in the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were approximately $28,125
and $25,500 respectively, as detailed below. “Audit fees” refers to the aggregate fees billed by the external auditor
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for audit services. “Audit related fees” refers to aggregate fees billed for assurance and related services by the
Company’s external auditor that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the Financial
Statements and not reported under audit fees including the review of interim filings and travel related expenses for
the annual audit. “Tax fees” includes fees for professional services rendered by the external auditor for tax
compliance, tax advice, and tax planning. “All other fees” includes all fees billed by the external auditors for
services not covered in the other three categories.
Year ended
2019

Year ended
2018

$28,125

$25,500

Audit-related fees .....................................................................................................................................

$0

$0

Tax fees .....................................................................................................................................................

$0

$0

All other fees ............................................................................................................................................

$0

$0

Total...................................................................................................................................................

$28,125

$25,500

Audit fees ................................................................................................................................................

Human Resources and Compensation Committee
Prior to the Closing, the Board will establish a standing committee to be named the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee. The members of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee are expected to be
Kingsley Ward, Dr. Sven Grail and Anthony Lacavera. Each of the expected members of the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee are “independent” (other than Dr. Sven Grail) within the meaning of NI 52-110.
The Human Resources and Compensation Committee will fulfill its responsibility overseeing the development and
regular assessment of the Company’s compensation structure for directors and members of senior management.
With respect to compensation, the Human Resources and Compensation Committee will: (i) annually review the
compensation structure and policies in respect of senior management and may recommend any changes to such
structure and policies to the Board for consideration; (ii) seek and consider the CEO’s recommendations for
compensation of the other members of senior management and may recommend any changes to such compensation
to the Board for consideration; and (iii) review the Company’s incentive compensation and other equity-based plans
and recommend changes to such plans to the Board when necessary, and exercise all authority of the Board with
respect to the administration of such plans; and (iv) annually review directors’ compensation and may recommend
any changes to the Board for consideration.
The Human Resources and Compensation Committee will develop the Company’s compensation policies for
directors and senior management to ensure that they: (i) properly reflect their respective duties and responsibilities;
(ii) are competitive in attracting, retaining and motivating qualified candidates for such roles; (iii) align the interests
of the directors and senior management with that of shareholders and the Company as a whole; and (iv) are based on
established corporate and individual performance goals and objectives.
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
Prior to the Closing, the Board will establish a standing committee to be named the Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee. The members of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee are expected to be
Bashar Al-Rehany, Anthony Lacavera and Kingsley Ward. Each of the expected members of the Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committee are “independent” within the meaning of NI 52-110.
The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will fulfill its responsibility by performing the following
primary functions: (i) monitoring the composition and performance of the Board and its standing committees; (ii)
overseeing the development and regular assessment of the Company’s approach to corporate governance issues, and
ensuring that such approach supports the effective functioning of the Company with a view to the best interests of
the Company; and (iii) the development and regular assessment of the performance of senior management.
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The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will annually review and assess the performance goals and
objectives relevant to the CEO, the CFO and other members of senior management, and recommend any changes to
such goals and objectives to the Board for consideration. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
will also review and assess the Company’s succession plan for the CEO, CFO, and other members of senior
management.
Board Nominations
The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will be tasked with seeking and evaluating suitable
candidates to serve on the Board. In so doing, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will: (i)
consider what competencies and skills the Board, as a whole, should possess; (ii) assess what competencies and
skills each existing director possesses; (iii) recommend to the Board the necessary and desirable competencies of
directors, taking into account the Company’s strategic direction and changing circumstances and needs; (iv) identify
individuals qualified to become new Board members and recommending to the Board the new director nominees for
the next annual general meeting of shareholders; and (v) annually conduct, review and report to the Board the results
of an assessment of the Board’s performance and effectiveness.
To assist the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee’s task in assessing the contribution of individual
directors and in the creation of a more transparent, effective corporate governance culture, the Board will enact the
compensation structure more fully described under “Director Compensation”.
The complete and full responsibilities, powers and operation of the Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committee will be set out in its charter, a copy of which will be available on the Company’s website at
www.mcionehealth.com.
Diversity and Inclusion
The Company believes that having a diverse Board and executive team offers a depth of perspective that enhances
Board and management operations and performance. The Company further believes that having a diverse and
inclusive organization overall is beneficial to its success, and the Company is committed to diversity and inclusion
at all levels of the Company to ensure that it attracts, retains and promotes the brightest and most talented
individuals.
The Board does not intend to specifically define diversity, but the Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committee will value diversity of experience, perspective, education, background, race, gender and national origin
as part of its overall evaluation of director nominees for election or re-election and the Board and the Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committee will value the same as part of their respective evaluation of candidates for
executive positions. This will be achieved through ensuring that diversity considerations are taken into account to
fill vacancies, continuously monitoring the level of women, visible minorities, aboriginal persons and persons with
disabilities represented on our Board and in our executive team, continuing to broaden recruiting efforts to attract
and interview qualified female candidates, and committing to retention and training to ensure that our most talented
employees are promoted from within our organization. The Company does not currently have a written diversity
policy in place.
The Board and the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee consider merit as the key requirement for
Board and executive appointments that the Board is permitted to make, and as such, it is not expected to adopt a
target regarding women, aboriginal persons, visible minorities and persons with disabilities in executive officer
positions or as directors of the Company. The Company has one woman acting as an executive officer on behalf of
the Company (representing approximately 33% of the Company’s executive officers), and does not have any women
sitting on the Board.
Assessments
As described above, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will be responsible for overseeing and
assessing the functioning of the Board of Directors and the committees of the Board. The Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee will annually review and evaluate and make recommendations to the Board with regard to
the size, composition and role of the Board and its standing committees (including any additional committees to be
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established) and the methods and processes by which the Board, committees and individual directors fulfill their
duties and responsibilities, including the methods and processes for evaluating Board, committee and individual
director effectiveness.
Majority Voting Policy
While the Board will be responsible for recommending the nominees to be elected by holders of the Company’s
voting shares at each annual meeting of shareholders, the Company will adopt a majority voting policy to deal with
situations where a candidate recommended by the Board for election has more votes withheld than are voted in
favour of such nominee. The Company believes that each director should have the confidence and support of the
shareholders. Where a director nominee has more votes withheld than are voted in favour of such nominee, the
nominee, even though duly elected as a matter of corporate law, will be required to tender his or her resignation
which will be accepted by the Board, absent extraordinary circumstances, within 90 days after the date of the
shareholder meeting.
Social Networking Policy
The Company has established a social networking policy (the “Policy”) whereby employees are required to be
sensitive and mindful of content posted on employee publications such as personal blogs or social networks. Under
the Policy, such content must be created and maintained on the employees’ own personal computer and on their own
time outside of the workplace, and must comply with the Company’s image or reputation. Published material that is
considered offensive, demeaning or insulting to the Company is in contravention of the Policy.
The Policy prohibits employees from engaging in any form of libel, slander, intimidation, harassment or threats
towards any other employee, physician, patient, supplier or affiliate of the Company on any social network sites or
any blogs. Further, employees must ensure that confidential, proprietary, copyrighted or other sensitive information
related to the Company does not appear on any social network sites or any blogs, unless with the specific written
permission from the President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company. Discussions regarding employees,
patients, and corporate customers are considered a breach of confidentiality under the Policy.
The Company also reserves the right to investigate or take legal action, where a breach of the Policy has occurred. In
addition, employees are encouraged to address work concerns with the appropriate authority of the Company, which
includes the Clinic Manager, Regional Manager, human resources, and the President and Chief Operating Officer.
Timely Disclosure, Confidentiality and Insider Trading
Prior to the Closing, the Company will adopt a disclosure policy that extends to all employees of the Company, the
Board, those authorized to speak on its behalf and all other insiders. Pursuant to the disclosure policy, the Board will
delegate to a committee responsibility for overseeing the Company’s disclosure practices. Among other things, the
committee will be responsible for ensuring appropriate systems, processes and controls for disclosure will be in
place.
The disclosure policy will address, among other things, disclosure of documents filed with securities regulators,
financial and non-financial documents, including management’s discussion and analysis and news releases. All
material information must be publicly disclosed immediately via news release, subject to limited exceptions such as
confidential information, in which case appropriate confidential filings will be made, or if the disclosure would be
unduly detrimental to the Company. The disclosure policy will also institute standards and procedures to prevent the
misuse or inadvertent disclosure of material information such as restricting access to documents and files containing
confidential information on a “need to know” basis. Further, to ensure the investing community, regulators, and the
media, are receiving consistent and accurate information, the Company will designate the CEO, CFO and Co-Chairs
of the Board to be the Company’s spokespersons.
The Company will also, prior to the Closing, adopt an insider trading policy that applies to all directors, officers,
employees and consultants of the Company, and to all others who have material non-public information about the
Company. The insider trading policy will prohibit persons in a special relationship with the Company to purchase or
sell any securities of the Company with knowledge of material information that has not been publicly disclosed.
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Further, the insider trading policy will prohibit the communication of material non-public information, from insiders
to any person, including family members, neighbours, friends or acquaintances. The insiders will also be prohibited
from making any recommendations or express opinions on the basis of material non-public information for the
purpose of or in the context of trading in the Company’s securities.
All directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company and others who have material non-public
information about the Company will be provided with a copy of the insider trading policy and will be expected to
comply with such policy.
The Company will observe blackout periods prior to quarterly earnings announcements and when material changes
are pending. Regular blackout periods will commence after the close of each quarter just ended for the Company,
which typically occurs a week or two after the end of such quarter, and end at the close of business on the second
trading day following the issuance of a news release disclosing results for the quarter just ended. For material
changes, the blackout period will commence one trading day prior to the news release disclosing the material change
and end one full trading day after the press release announcing the material change. In addition, insiders who are
notified of a blackout period will be prohibited from trading in securities of the Company during such blackout
period.
INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
None of MCI’s directors or executive officers, nor any associate of such director or executive officer is indebted to
the Company or its subsidiary or has any indebtedness to another entity that is the subject of a guarantee, support
agreement, letter of credit or similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Company or its subsidiary.
ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT
In the opinion of Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP, legal counsel to the Company, and Borden Ladner Gervais
LLP, legal counsel to the Underwriters, based on the current provisions of the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax
Act”) and the regulations thereunder (the “Regulations”), the Offered Shares, if issued on the date hereof would be,
on such date, qualified investments under the Tax Act and the Regulations for a trust governed by a “registered
retirement savings plan” (“RRSP”), a “registered retirement income fund” (“RRIF”), a “registered disability
savings plan” (“RDSP”), a “registered education savings plan” (“RESP”), a “tax-free savings account” (“TFSA”),
or a “deferred profit sharing plan” (as those terms are defined in the Tax Act), provided that on such date the
Offered Shares are listed on a “designated stock exchange” (as defined in the Tax Act), which currently includes the
TSX.
Notwithstanding that the Offered Shares may be “qualified investments” for a trust governed by a RRSP, RRIF,
RDSP, RESP or TFSA (each a “Plan”), if the Offered Shares are a “prohibited investment” for a Plan, the annuitant,
holder, or subscriber of such Plan, as the case may be, will be subject to penalty taxes as set out in the Tax Act. The
Offered Shares will generally not be a prohibited investment for a Plan, if the annuitant, holder, or subscriber, as the
case may be, (i) deals at arm’s length with the Company, for the purposes of the Tax Act, and (ii) does not have a
“significant interest” as defined in the Tax Act in the Company. In addition, the Offered Shares will not be a
prohibited investment if the Offered Shares are “excluded property” within the meaning of the Tax Act, for the Plan.
Prospective purchasers of Offered Shares who intend to hold the Offered Shares in a Plan should consult their own
tax advisors in regard to the application of the prohibited investment rules in their particular circumstances.
RISK FACTORS
An investment in the Offered Shares should be considered a highly speculative investment that involves significant
risk. A prospective purchaser of Offered Shares should carefully consider all of the information disclosed in this
prospectus prior to making a decision to purchase the Offered Shares. In addition to the other information presented
in this prospectus, the following risk factors should be given special consideration when evaluating an investment in
the Company. Some of the following factors are interrelated and, consequently, prospective purchasers of Offered
Shares should treat such risk factors as a whole. The following information is a summary only of certain risk factors
that prospective purchasers of Offered Shares should consider and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, and
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must be read in conjunction with, the detailed information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. These risks and
uncertainties are not the only ones that could affect the Company or the Offered Shares and additional risks and
uncertainties not currently known to the Company, or that it currently deems immaterial, may also impair the
business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company and/or the value of the Offered Shares. If any
of the following risks or other risks occur, they could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations and/or the value of the Offered Shares. There is no assurance that any
risk management steps taken by the Company will avoid future loss due to the occurrence of the risks described
below or other unforeseen risks.
Risks Relating to the Business and the Industry
The Company’s primary care clinics business is highly dependent on provincial government insurance payments.
Historically the vast majority of the Company’s revenues have been dependent upon health insurance plans
regulated and stipulated by provincial governments in Alberta and Ontario. The Provincial Plans determine billing
rates for a majority of medically necessary services in their respective provinces. Payment rates and coverages can
be changed by Provincial Plans at their sole discretion. The Provincial Plans may also reject payment requests if, in
their discretion, they feel the services provided by the Company’s physicians do not meet their guidelines for
payment. The Company cannot ensure that the exercise of discretion by the Provincial Plans will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Company derives a majority of its revenue from primary care clinics and healthcare services.
The Company derives the majority of its revenue from primary care patients. While the Company intends to broaden
the scope of products and services it offers, it may not be successful in deriving the revenue from these efforts that it
expects. Failure to broaden the scope of products and services that are attractive to the Company’s patients and
corporate customers or penetrate additional verticals may inhibit the growth of repeat users and harm the Company’s
business. Furthermore, the Company may have limited or no experience with new offerings and these offerings may
present new and difficult technology, regulatory, operational and other challenges. If the Company experiences
service disruptions, failures or other issues with any such new offerings, the Company’s business may be materially
and adversely affected. The Company’s newer activities may not recoup the Company’s investments in a timely
manner or at all. If any of this were to occur, it could damage the Company’s reputation, limit the Company’s
growth and materially and adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Company’s primary care clinics business is highly dependent on physicians agreeing to practice with MCI.
The Company is only able to access the funds provided by the Provincial Plans, upon which the vast majority of the
Company’s revenues have been historically dependent, based on the insured services provided by MCI’s physicians.
Should physicians no longer wish to carry on their practice under the Company’s operating model if, for example,
because it is no longer cost effective to do so or because carrying on their practice in this manner contravenes
applicable laws or regulations or the policies of the health regulatory college by which they are governed, it could
damage the Company’s reputation, limit the Company’s growth and materially and adversely affect the Company’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.
If payments for services by private insurers for services are reduced or if corporate customers reduce their
demand for services, the Company’s business could be harmed.
The Company derives a portion of its revenue from a variety of privately insured occupational and medical health
services provided to businesses. If any private insurers reduce their payment rates for services or elect not to cover
some or all of the Company’s services, the Company’s business may be harmed. Similarly, if any of these services
were found to be medically necessary services covered by the Plans, private insurers may also enter into sole source
contracts with some healthcare providers, which could effectively limit the Company’s pool of potential patients. In
addition, corporate customers could decide to shift to less expensive options for medical services. Any of the
foregoing could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.
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The Company’s revenue growth rate is dependent on maintaining its stable clinical revenue base and
successfully acquiring new clinics, health service providers and technology providers to fulfill the Company’s
strategic objectives.
The Company’s existing clinic management business is relatively stable but depends on acquisitions to grow. The
Company’s growth has traditionally depended on acquisition of other primary care clinics and additional health
service offerings. To the extent the Company does not continue to grow the Company’s business organically or
through acquisitions, the Company’s future revenue growth may not be consistent with historic trends. The
Company has encountered, and expect to continue to encounter, risks and difficulties frequently experienced by
growing companies, including challenges in financial forecasting accuracy, determining appropriate acquisition
targets and investments and developing new services and product offerings. Any evaluation of the Company’s
business and prospects should take into account the risks and uncertainties inherent in investing in growing
companies.
If the Company cannot keep pace with rapid developments in healthcare technology and change in the
Company’s industry and continue to grow its patient base, the use of the Company’s services could decline,
reducing the Company’s revenue.
Certain markets in which the Company competes are subject to rapid and significant changes. The healthcare
technology market, in particular, is characterized by rapid technological change, new product and service
introductions, evolving industry standards, changing patient needs, consolidation and the entrance of non-traditional
competitors. In order to remain competitive and continue to acquire new patients, the Company is continually
involved in a number of projects to develop new services and improve the Company’s existing services. These
projects may not be successful and carry some risks, such as cost overruns, delays in delivery, performance
problems and lack of patient adoption, and may cause the Company to become subject to additional regulation. Any
inability to develop or delay in the delivery of new services or the failure to differentiate the Company’s services or
to accurately predict and address market demand could render the Company’s services less desirable, or even
obsolete, to the Company’s patients. In addition, many current or prospective patients may find competing services
more attractive if the Company does not keep pace with market innovation or changes in response to COVID-19,
and many may choose to switch to competing services even if the Company does its best to innovate and provide
superior services.
The Company relies in part, and may in the future rely in part, on third parties, including some of the Company’s
competitors and potential competitors, for the development of, and access to, new technologies. If the Company is
unable to maintain these relationships, it may lose access to new technologies or may not have the speed-to-market
necessary to successfully launch new offerings.
The Company’s future success will depend on the Company’s ability to adapt to technological changes and evolving
industry standards. The Company cannot predict the effects of technological changes on the Company’s business. If
the Company is unable to adapt to technological changes or evolving industry standards on a timely and costeffective basis by introducing new services and improving existing services, the Company’s business, financial
condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
The Company may face challenges in expanding into new geographic regions inside and outside of Canada and
continuing the Company’s growth within these markets.
All of the Company’s revenue in 2019 was generated in Canada, and the Company plans to expand in multiple
geographic regions both within and outside Canada. In particular the Company plans to grow the Company’s datadriven analytics business in the United States. The Company will face challenges associated with entering and
expanding in markets in which the Company has limited or no experience and in which the Company may not be
well-known. Offering the Company’s products and services in new geographic regions requires substantial
expenditures and takes considerable time, and the Company may not recover its investments in new markets in a
timely manner or at all. For example, the Company may be unable to attract a sufficient number of patients, fail to
anticipate competitive conditions or fail to adapt and tailor the Company’s products and services to different
markets.
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The development of the Company’s products and services globally exposes the Company to risks relating to staffing
and managing cross- border operations, increased costs and difficulty protecting intellectual property and sensitive
data, tariffs and other trade barriers, differing and potentially adverse tax consequences, increased and conflicting
regulatory compliance requirements, lack of acceptance of the Company’s products and services, challenges caused
by distance, language, and cultural differences, exchange rate risk and exposure to political instability. Accordingly,
the Company’s efforts to develop and expand the geographic footprint of the Company’s operations may not be
successful, which could limit the Company’s ability to grow its business.
The Company’s growth depends on its ability to retain existing patients, market additional services to existing
patients and attract new patients.
The Company’s future growth and profitability depend upon its ability to retain existing patients, market additional
services to existing patients and attract new patients in the face of intense competition in its industry. While the
Company has longstanding relationships with many of its patients, they can obtain primary care health services from
other clinics. The Company cannot predict the level of attrition in the future and higher than expected attrition could
lead to a decline in revenue. Potential patients may be resistant to changing their healthcare services providers and
may prefer to stay with their current family doctor. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Company’s efforts to expand its product portfolio and market reach may not succeed and may reduce the
Company’s revenue growth.
The Company expects to derive a significant portion of its revenue growth by deploying the Company’s data-driven
analytics platform and technology tools into the Canadian market for healthcare services, acquiring technology to
support the Company’s roadmap and acquiring health service providers to expand the Company’s health services
offerings. The Company’s efforts to expand its product portfolio and market reach may not succeed and may reduce
the Company’s revenue growth. The Company’s efforts will depend on its ability to retain existing patients and
corporate health services customers, increase sales of new health services to existing patients and corporate health
customers, and attract new customers to its forthcoming data analytics platform.
It may be difficult to attract new customers to the Company’s forthcoming data analytics platform because of
potential complications associated with software integration costs and other transition costs, business disruption and
loss of accustomed functionality. Attracting data analytics customers may require them to switch from one vendor to
MCI, which is a significant undertaking and, as a result, potential customers often resist changing vendors. The
Company intends to overcome these factors by making investments to enhance the functionality of its data analytics
software and to differentiate its services. However, there can be no assurance that the Company’s efforts will be
successful, and this resistance may adversely affect the Company’s growth.
Substantial and increasingly intense competition may harm the Company’s business.
The industry in which the Company operates, is highly competitive, is evolving and is characterized by
technological change. The Company competes with traditional healthcare service providers such as governmentoperated facilities, individual physician practices, and other networks of clinics. Current or future competitors may
have longer operating histories, larger corporate customer bases, greater brand recognition and more extensive
commercial relationships in certain jurisdictions, and greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than
the Company. As a result, the Company’s competitors may be able to develop products and services better received
by corporate customers or may be able to respond more quickly and effectively than the Company can to new or
changing opportunities, technologies, regulations or corporate customer requirements. In addition, larger
competitors may be able to leverage a larger patient base and clinic network to adopt more aggressive pricing
policies, which could cause the Company to lose potential patients or corporate customers, or to sell its solutions at
lower prices.
Competition may intensify as the Company’s competitors enter into business combinations or alliances or raise
additional capital, or as established companies in other market segments or geographic markets expand into the
Company’s market segments or geographic markets. The Company also expects to face additional competition from
new entrants. To remain competitive, the Company will require a continued high level of investment in research and
development, marketing, sales and patient and corporate customer support. If the Company cannot compete against
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existing and future competitors, its business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially and
adversely affected.
The Company’s success will be dependent on its ability to market its products and services. There is no guarantee
that the Company’s products and services will remain competitive. Unforeseen competition, and the inability of the
Company to effectively develop and expand the market for its products and services, could have a significant
adverse effect on the growth potential of the Company. The Company cannot assure that it will be able to compete
effectively against existing and future competitors. In addition, competition or other competitive pressures may
result in price reductions, reduced margins or loss of market share, any of which could have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.
If the Company fails to manage its growth effectively, its business could be harmed.
In order to manage the Company’s growth effectively, the Company must continue to strengthen its existing
infrastructure, develop and improve its processes and internal controls, create and improve its reporting systems, and
timely address issues as they arise. As the Company continues to strengthen its existing infrastructure and systems,
the Company will also be required to hire additional personnel. These efforts may require substantial financial
expenditures, commitments of resources, developments of the Company’s processes, and other investments and
innovations. Furthermore, the Company encourages employees to quickly develop and launch new features for the
Company’s products and services. As the Company grows, the Company may not be able to execute as quickly as
smaller, more efficient organizations. In addition, as the Company grows, the Company may not be able to maintain
its entrepreneurial company culture, which fosters innovation and talent. If the Company does not successfully
manage its growth, its business may be adversely affected.
A key component of the Company’s growth strategy is to acquire, integrate, and operate additional primary care
clinic locations and quickly implement the Company’s methodology and framework in order to scale, deliver better
performance and drive significant synergies to increase its revenues. Accordingly, the Company is dependent upon
its ability to find appropriate opportunities to acquire and develop new primary care clinics. The Company’s success
in developing new locations will depend on its ability to identify desirable locations, negotiate acceptable lease
terms, market effectively and extend its existing business model and information technology systems, which may
prove challenging and costly. Existing primary care clinics may be adversely affected by the opening of new
locations in the same geographic region. New primary care clinics may not achieve the same profitability as existing
locations, and there may be significant costs associated with closing or relocating primary care clinics. If the
Company does not successfully manage its growth, the Company’s business and financial performance may be
adversely affected.
The Company’s business has generated net losses and the Company expects to continue to generate net losses as
the Company continues to make significant investments in the Company’s business.
As a result of the nature of government insured primary care offerings and the Company’s investments in new
technology and service offerings, the Company has historically generated low EBITDA margins. The Company
intends to accelerate investments in its business, including with respect to its employee base, sales, distribution and
marketing; development of new products, services and features; expansion of office space and other infrastructure;
and development of international operations and general administration, including legal, finance and other
compliance expenses related to being a public company. If the Company is unable to generate adequate revenue
growth and manage its expenses, the Company’s results of operations and operating metrics may fluctuate and the
Company expects to continue to incur net losses, which could cause the market price of the Company’s securities to
decline. The Company cannot assure investors that their increased investment in the business will result in
corresponding revenue growth.
Any future acquisitions, partnerships or joint ventures that the Company makes or enters into could disrupt the
Company’s business and harm the Company’s financial condition.
Acquisitions, partnerships and joint ventures are an integral part of the Company’s growth strategy, and in recent
years, the Company has consummated a number of acquisitions. The Company evaluates, and expect in the future to
evaluate, potential strategic acquisitions of, and partnerships or joint ventures with, businesses providing services or
technologies that are complementary to the Company’s existing services and technologies. However, the Company
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may not be successful in identifying acquisition, partnership and joint venture targets or the Company may use
estimates and judgments to evaluate the operations and future revenue of a target that turn out to be inaccurate. In
addition, the Company may not be able to successfully finance or integrate a particular business, service or
technology that the Company acquires or with which the Company forms a partnership or joint venture, and the
Company may not achieve the anticipated benefits of such project or the Company may lose customers or patients as
a result. Furthermore, the integration of any acquisition, partnership or joint venture may divert management’s time
and resources from the Company’s existing business and disrupt its operations. Certain acquisitions, partnerships
and joint ventures the Company has and may in the future make may prevent the Company from competing for
certain customers or in certain lines of business and may lead to a loss of customers to the extent the Company
acquires businesses with non-competes or exclusivity provisions in their agreements with corporate customers.
Certain acquisitions may also enmesh the Company in outstanding or unforeseen legal, regulatory, contractual,
employee or other issues. As a result of any of the foregoing, the Company may spend time and money on projects
that do not increase its revenue or profitability. Moreover, the Company’s competitors may be willing or able to pay
more than the Company for acquisitions, which may cause the Company to lose certain acquisitions that the
Company would otherwise desire to complete. Even if the Company successfully competes for a certain acquisition,
partnership or joint venture, the Company may finance the project with cash on hand, equity or debt, or a
combination thereof, which could decrease the Company’s cash reserves, dilute the Company’s shareholders,
including investors under this prospectus, or significantly increase the Company’s level of indebtedness or place
other restrictions on the Company’s operations. The Company cannot ensure that any acquisition, partnership or
joint venture the Company makes will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial
condition and results of operations.
The Company’s results of operations may be adversely affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
The Company’s financial results are reported in Canadian dollars. Currently all of the Company’s sales and a
substantial portion of the Company’s operating costs are transacted in Canadian dollars. The Company has not
historically entered into arrangements to hedge foreign currency risk given the Company’s operating profile. In the
future, a growing percentage of the Company’s sales may be transacted in foreign currencies, and in particular, U.S.
dollars. In situations where the Company is not hedged, either through hedging arrangements or through a natural
hedging resulting from an offset in such currencies, the Company’s results of operations will be affected by
movements in these currencies against the Canadian dollar. Significant fluctuations in relative currency values
against the Canadian dollar could thus have a significant impact on the Company’s results of operations.
A deterioration in the quality of the products and services the Company offers, including support services, could
adversely impact the Company’s ability to attract and retain patients.
The Company’s patients expect a consistent level of quality in the provision of health services it offers. The health
services the Company currently provides, as well as future offerings to broaden its appeal are a key element of the
value proposition to the Company’s existing patients and corporate health customers as well as the Company’s
ability to attract new patients and corporate customers. Any deterioration in quality or the Company’s ability to
expand its health service offerings could adversely affect the Company’s health services growth plans.
Technology-enabled products such as the Company’s forthcoming data-driven analytics platform will require
service and customer engagement to support and foster new corporate customers. The products and services the
Company delivers and intends to deliver are designed to provide reports and complex information, all at high
volumes and processing speeds. If the reliability, functionality or speed of the Company’s products and services is
compromised or the quality of those products or services is otherwise degraded, or if the Company fails to provide a
high level of support and quickly detect and remediate any performance issues, the Company could experience
significant processing or reporting errors. This, in turn, could prevent the Company from attracting new corporate
customers. In addition, if the Company is unable to scale the Company’s support functions to address the growth of
its corporate customer base, the quality of the Company’s support may decrease, which could adversely affect the
Company’s ability to attract and retain corporate customers.
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If the Company loses key personnel, the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations may
be adversely affected.
The success of the Company’s business strategy is dependent upon the ability and experience of a number of key
personnel who have substantial experience with the Company’s operations, the rapidly changing healthcare
technology industry and the markets in which the Company offers its services. Many of the Company’s key
personnel have worked for the Company for a significant amount of time or were recruited by the Company
specifically due to their industry experience. In particular, the Company is highly dependent on the contributions of
the Company’s entire leadership team, including the Co-Chairs, CEO, CFO and COO, as well as other members of
the Company’s management team. The loss of the services of one or a combination of the Company’s senior
executives and key managers could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition
and results of operations.
The Company’s business functions at the intersection of rapidly changing technological, medical, social, economic
and regulatory developments that require a wide-ranging set of expertise and intellectual capital. In order for the
Company to successfully compete and grow, the Company must attract, recruit, develop and retain the necessary
personnel who can provide the needed expertise across the entire spectrum of the Company’s healthcare
professionals and intellectual capital needs. The market for qualified personnel is competitive, and the Company
may not succeed in recruiting and retaining additional personnel, or the Company may fail to effectively replace
departing personnel with qualified or effective successors. Failure to retain or attract key personnel could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. The Company’s
effort to retain and develop personnel may also result in significant additional expenses, which could adversely
affect the Company’s profitability.
If the Company is not able to establish and maintain positive relationships with healthcare professionals, it could
have a negative impact on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Company expects to derive a significant portion of the Company’s revenue from through services provided by
physicians and other licensed healthcare professionals at primary care clinics and through virtual care. These
healthcare professionals are often engaged by the Company through management services agreements. As a result,
continuation of current and successful negotiation of future management services agreements is critical to the
Company’s future business, revenue growth and results of operations. The Company’s healthcare practitioners may
have no obligation to renew their agreements with the Company after the initial term expires. In addition, the
Company’s healthcare practitioners may negotiate terms less advantageous to the Company upon renewal, which
may reduce the Company’s revenue.
The Company’s success will also be dependent on its ability to attract new healthcare practitioners. Competition for
physicians and other medical professionals who are experienced in providing care is intense. The Company may
experience difficulty in forming new relationships with healthcare practitioners with appropriate qualifications.
Many of the companies and healthcare services providers with which the Company competes for experienced
personnel have greater resources than the Company has. If the Company fails to attract new personnel, the
Company’s business and future growth prospects could be harmed.
In addition, there can be no assurance that the Company’s contracts with physicians and other healthcare
practitioners will be interpreted favorably. As a result, options for recourse available to the Company may be
limited. The Company may also suffer reputational harm due to the actions of a healthcare practitioner. Due to the
foregoing, claims against physicians or other licensed healthcare service providers associated with the Company
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Company’s balance sheet includes intangible assets and goodwill. The impairment of a significant portion of
these assets may negatively affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
As of September 30, 2020, the Company’s balance sheet included intangible assets that amounted to $242,842 and
including goodwill that amounted to $151,142. These assets consisted primarily of identified intangible assets
associated with patient and partner relationships, technologies and goodwill associated with recent acquisitions. The
Company also expects to engage in additional acquisitions, which may result in the Company’s recognition of
additional intangible assets and goodwill. Under current accounting standards, the Company is required to amortize
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certain intangible assets over the useful life of the asset, while certain other intangible assets are not amortized. On
at least an annual basis, the Company assesses whether there have been impairments in the carrying value of certain
intangible assets. If the carrying value of the asset is determined to be impaired, then it is written down to fair value
by a charge to earnings. An impairment of a significant portion of intangible assets and/or goodwill could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Company is subject to risks associated with leasing space and equipment and is subject to a number of longterm non-cancelable leases with substantial lease payments.
The Company leases its primary care clinic locations and are subject to risks associated with leasing, occupying and
making tenant improvements to real property, including adverse demographic and competitive changes affecting the
property, changes in availability of and contractual terms for leasable space, credit risk in relation to tenant
improvement allowances from landlords and potential liability for environmental conditions or personal injury
claims. There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to extend, renew or continue to lease its existing
primary care clinic locations.
Additional sites that the Company leases may be subject to long-term non-cancelable leases if the Company is
unable to negotiate shorter terms. If an existing or future location is not profitable, and the Company decides to close
it, the Company may nonetheless be committed to perform its obligations under the applicable lease including,
among other things, paying the base rent for the balance of the lease term. In addition, if the Company is not able to
enter into new leases or renew existing leases on terms acceptable to the Company, this could have an adverse effect
on the Company’s results of operations and profitability. Any failure to make lease payments when due, or the
inability to extend, renew or continue to lease space and equipment in key locations, would likely harm the
Company’s business, profitability and results of operations.
The Company’s insurance policies may not be sufficient to cover all claims.
The Company’s insurance policies may not adequately cover all risks to which the Company is exposed and may not
be adequate for all liabilities actually incurred or indemnification claims against the Company. A significant claim
not covered by the Company’s insurance, in full or in part, may result in significant expenditures by the Company.
Moreover, the Company may not be able to maintain insurance policies in the future at reasonable costs, on
acceptable terms or at all, which may adversely affect the Company’s business and the trading price of its securities.
The successful assertion of one or more large claims against the Company that exceed available insurance coverage,
or the occurrence of changes in the Company’s insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of
large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition
and results of operations.
Management has limited experience with the requirements and demands of managing a publicly-traded
company.
Management has historically operated the business of the Company as a privately-owned company. The individuals
who will constitute MCI’s senior management team have had limited experience in managing a publicly-traded
entity. The Company will be required to develop control systems and procedures required to operate as a public
company, and these systems and procedures could place a significant strain on the Company’s management systems,
infrastructure and other resources. The Company can provide no assurances that its management’s past experience
will be sufficient to enable the Company to successfully operate as a public company. Although management has
engaged a number of professional service providers to assist the Company with complying with its continuous
disclosure, filing, and other requirements applicable to public entities, if management of the Company is unable to
satisfactorily manage the Company as a public entity and ensure that it remains in compliance with all continuous
disclosure and other requirements applicable to public entities, there could occur a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
Management may not be able to successfully implement adequate internal controls over financial reporting.
Proper systems of internal controls over financial accounting and disclosure are critical to the operation of a public
company. However, the Company does not expect that its DCP or ICFR will prevent all error and all fraud. A
control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that
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the control system’s objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. Due to the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected in a timely manner or at all. If the Company
cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, its reputation and operating results could be materially
adversely affected, which could cause investors to lose confidence in the Company’s reported financial information,
which in turn could result in a reduction in the value of the Company’s securities.
Conflicts of interest may arise between the Company and its directors and officers as a result of other business
activities undertaken by such individuals.
The Company may be subject to various potential conflicts of interest because of the fact that some of its directors
and executive officers may be engaged in a range of business activities. In addition, the Company’s directors and
executive officers may devote time to their outside business interests, so long as such activities do not materially or
adversely interfere with their duties to the Company and subject to any contractual restrictions restricting such
activities. In some cases, the Company’s executive officers and directors may have fiduciary obligations associated
with business interests that interfere with their ability to devote time to the Company’s business and affairs, which
could adversely affect the Company’s operations. These business interests could require significant time and
attention of the Company’s executive officers and directors.
Conflicts of interest, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies provided under applicable laws and
policies of the Company. For example, a director who has a material interest in a matter before the Board or any
committee on which he or she serves is required to disclose such interest as soon as the director becomes aware of it
and absent himself or herself from the meeting while discussions and voting with respect to the matter are taking
place. In accordance with applicable laws, the directors of the Company are required to act honestly and in good
faith with a view to the best interests of the Company.
Professional conflict of interest rules may impact the Company’s ability to incentivize the Company’s healthcare
professionals.
Healthcare professionals are subject to strict conflict of interest rules which may prohibit or discourage certain
healthcare professionals from working within the Company’s operating model. Those rules may also prohibit or
discourage the Company’s healthcare professionals from acquiring equity in the Company thereby depriving the
Company of standard method of incentivizing its key personnel to participate in the achievement of a corporate
vision. If the Company cannot incentivize its healthcare professionals, the Company’s business may be materially
and adversely affected.
The Company’s risk management policies and procedures may not be fully effective in mitigating the Company’s
risk exposure in all market environments or against all types of risks, which could expose the Company to losses
and liability and otherwise harm the Company’s business.
The Company operates in a regulated industry and the Company and industry have experienced significant change
in recent years, including in connection with certain acquisitions and this Offering. Accordingly, the Company’s risk
management policies and procedures may not be fully effective at identifying, monitoring and managing the
Company’s risks. Some of the Company’s risk evaluation methods depend upon information provided by third
parties regarding markets, customers or other matters that are otherwise inaccessible to the Company. In some cases,
however, that information may not be accurate, complete or up-to-date. The Company’s risk management policies,
procedures, techniques and processes may not be effective at identifying all of the risks to which the Company is
exposed or enabling it to mitigate the risks the Company has identified. In addition, when the Company introduces
new services, focus on new business types or begin to operate in markets in which the Company has a limited
history or experience, the Company may be less able to forecast and reserve accurately for new risks. If the
Company’s risk management policies and processes are ineffective, the Company may suffer financial losses, the
Company may be subject to liability and the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations may
be materially and adversely affected.
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The Company’s services must integrate and interoperate with a variety of operating systems, software, hardware,
web browsers and networks.
The Company is dependent on the ability of the Company’s products and services to integrate with a variety of
operating systems, software, hardware, networks and web browsers that the Company does not control. Any changes
in these systems or networks that degrade the functionality of the Company’s products and services, impose
additional costs or requirements on the Company or give preferential treatment to competitive services could
materially and adversely affect usage of the Company’s products and services. Given the nature of the Company’s
business and the pace of technological change, the Company may be unsuccessful in attempting to keep up with
changing systems or the cost of doing so could be prohibitive, either of which could materially adversely affect the
Company’s business and operations. In the event that it is difficult for the Company’s patients and corporate
customers to access and use the Company’s products and services, the Company’s business may be materially and
adversely affected.
In addition, the Company’s solutions, including hardware and software, interoperate with mobile networks offered
by telecom operators and mobile devices developed by third parties. Changes in these networks or in the design of
these mobile devices may limit the interoperability of the Company’s solutions with such networks and devices and
require modifications to the Company’s solutions. If the Company is unable to ensure that its hardware and software
continue to interoperate effectively with such networks and devices, or if doing so is costly, the Company’s
business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.
If certain of the Company’s suppliers do not meet the Company’s needs, or if there are material price increases
on supplies, it could negatively impact the Company’s ability to effectively provide the services the Company
offers and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.
The Company has significant suppliers that may be the sole or primary source of products critical to the services the
Company provides, or to which the Company has committed obligations to make purchases, sometimes at particular
prices. If any of these suppliers do not meet the Company’s needs for the products they supply, including in the
event of a product recall, shortage or dispute, and the Company is not able to find adequate alternative sources, or if
the Company experiences material price increases from these suppliers that the Company is unable to mitigate, it
could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows.
Changes in accounting standards or inaccurate estimates or assumptions in the application of accounting
policies could adversely affect the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.
The Company’s accounting policies and methods are fundamental to how the Company records and reports the
Company’s financial condition and results of operations. Future changes in accounting standards, pronouncements
or interpretations could require the Company to change its policies and procedures. Such changes could materially
impact how the Company records and reports its financial condition and results of operations. See notes 1 and 2 to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 2019 included elsewhere in this prospectus.
Additionally, the Company’s assumptions, estimates and judgments related to complex accounting matters could
significantly affect its financial results. IFRS and related accounting pronouncements, implementation guidelines
and interpretations with regard to a wide range of matters that are relevant to the Company’s business, including, but
not limited to, revenue recognition, impairment of long-lived assets, leases and related economic transactions,
intangibles, self- insurance, income taxes, property and equipment, litigation and equity-based compensation are
highly complex and involve many subjective assumptions, estimates and judgments by the Company. Changes in
these rules or their interpretation or changes in underlying assumptions, estimates or judgments by the Company (i)
could require the Company to make changes to its accounting systems to implement these changes that could
increase the Company’s operating costs and (ii) could significantly change the Company’s reported or expected
financial performance.
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The Company’s results of operations may be adversely affected by changes in the application of Excise Taxes.
A key factor in the ability of the Company to attract physicians to practice with the Company is their ability to
receive approximately 70% of the amount that they bill to the Provincial Plans in a way that does not attract the
application of Excise Taxes. Should the Canada Revenue Agency require Excise Taxes to be applied to all or any
portion of the amounts billed to the Provincial Plans, it could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
An occurrence of a natural disaster, widespread health epidemic, pandemic or other outbreaks could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Company’s business could be materially and adversely affected by natural disasters, such as fires or floods, the
outbreak of a widespread health epidemic, pandemic, such as COVID-19, or other events, such as wars, acts of
terrorism, power shortages or communication interruptions. In addition to previously identified risks associated with
the current COVID-19 pandemic, the occurrence of a disaster or similar event could materially disrupt the
Company’s business and operations. These events could also cause the Company to close its operating facilities
temporarily, which would severely disrupt the Company’s operations and have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the Company’s revenues could be
materially reduced to the extent that a natural disaster, health epidemic, such as COVID-19, or other major event
harms the economies of the regions in which the Company operates. The Company’s operations could also be
severely disrupted if the Company’s patients and other third-party providers or other participants were affected by
natural disasters, health epidemics, such as COVID-19, or other major events.
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, including the resulting global economic uncertainty and measures taken in
response to the pandemic, could materially impact the Company’s business and future results of operations and
financial condition.
The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted the economy and put unprecedented strains on governments, healthcare
systems, businesses and individuals around the world. The impact and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic are
difficult to assess or predict. It is even more difficult to predict the impact on the global economic market, which
will depend upon the actions taken by governments, businesses and other enterprises in response to the pandemic.
The pandemic has already caused, and is likely to result in further, significant disruption of global financial markets
and economic uncertainty. The pandemic has resulted in authorities implementing numerous measures to try to
contain the virus, such as travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter in place or total lock-down orders, and
business limitations and shutdowns. Such measures have significantly contributed to rising unemployment and
negatively impacted consumer and business spending. The extent to which COVID-19 impacts the Company’s
financial results will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including
new information that may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19 and the actions taken by governments to
curtail or treat its impact, including shelter in place directives, business limitations and shutdowns, travel bans and
restrictions, loan payment deferrals (whether government-mandated or voluntary), moratoriums on debt collection
activities and other actions, which, if imposed or extended, may impact the economies in which the Company now,
or may in the future, operate. Adverse market conditions resulting from the spread of COVID-19 could materially
adversely affect the Company’s business and the value of its securities.
The Company’s corporate customers and its healthcare practitioners may reduce or delay their technology-driven
transformation initiatives and technology development, which could materially and adversely impact the Company’s
business. Further, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company has experienced, and may continue to
experience, slowed growth or decline in new demand for its products and services and lower demand from its
existing corporate customers for expansion within its products and services, as well as existing and potential
customers reducing or delaying purchasing decisions. The Company has experienced, and may continue to
experience, an increase in prospective corporate customers seeking lower prices or other more favorable contract
terms and current corporate customers attempting to obtain concessions on the terms of existing contracts, all of
which has adversely affected and could materially adversely impact the Company’s business, results of operations
and overall financial condition in future periods. Further, the Company may face increased competition due to
changes to competitors’ products or services, including modifications to their terms, conditions and pricing that
could materially adversely impact the Company’s business, results of operations and overall financial condition in
future periods.
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The COVID-19 pandemic could cause the Company’s third-party service providers such as data center hosting
facilities and cloud computing platform providers, which are critical to its infrastructure, to shut down their business,
experience security incidents that impact the Company’s business, delay or disrupt performance or delivery of
services or experience interference with the supply chain of hardware required by their systems and services, any of
which could materially adversely affect the Company’s business. Further, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in
the Company’s employees and those of many of its corporate customers working from home and conducting work
via the internet, and if the network and infrastructure of internet providers becomes overburdened by increased
usage or is otherwise unreliable or unavailable, the Company’s employees’ and its corporate customers’ employees’
access to the internet to conduct business could be negatively impacted. Limitations on access or disruptions to
services or goods provided by or to some of the Company’s suppliers upon which its platform and business
operations relies could interrupt the Company’s ability to provide its platform, decrease the productivity of its
workforce and significantly harm its business operations, financial condition and results of operations. In addition,
the Company’s technology platforms and the other systems or networks used in its business may experience an
increase in attempted cyber-attacks, targeted intrusion, ransomware and phishing campaigns seeking to take
advantage of shifts to employees working remotely using their household or personal internet networks as a result of
the COVID-19 pandemic. The success of any of these unauthorized attempts could substantially impact the
Company’s technology platforms, the proprietary and other confidential data contained therein or otherwise stored
or processed in the Company’s operations, and ultimately its business. Any actual or perceived security incident also
may cause the Company to incur increased expenses to improve the Company’s security controls and to remediate
security vulnerabilities.
The spread of COVID-19 has caused the Company to modify its business practices to help minimize the risk of the
virus to its employees, its partners, its corporate customers and end users of health services, and the communities in
which the Company participates, which could negatively impact the Company’s business. In response to the
COVID-19 pandemic, the Company has enabled its employees to work remotely, implemented travel restrictions for
all non-essential business and shifted company events to virtual-only experiences, and the Company may deem it
advisable to similarly alter, postpone or cancel additional events in the future. There is no certainty that the measures
the Company have taken will be sufficient to mitigate the risks posed by the virus. If the COVID-19 pandemic
worsens, especially in regions where the Company has offices, its business activities originating from affected areas
could be adversely affected. Disruptive activities could include additional business closures in impacted areas,
further restrictions on the Company’s employees’ and service providers’ ability to travel, impacts to productivity if
the Company’s employees or their family members experience health issues and potential delays in hiring and
onboarding of new employees. The Company may take further actions that alter its business operations as may be
required by local, provincial, state or federal authorities or that the Company determines are in the best interests of
its stakeholders. Such measures could negatively affect its sales and marketing efforts, sales cycles, employee
productivity or corporate customer retention, any of which could harm the Company’s financial condition and
business operations. Changes in internal controls due to remote work arrangements may result in control
deficiencies and impact the Company’s financial reporting systems, which may also be material.
Additionally, diversion of management focus to address the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic could potentially
disrupt the Company’s operating plans. The extent and continued impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on its business
will depend on certain developments, including: the duration and spread of the outbreak; government responses to
the pandemic; the impact on the Company’s patients; the impact on corporate customer, industry or employee
events; and the effect on the Company’s partners and end users of health services, third-party service providers,
corporate customers and supply chains, all of which are uncertain and cannot be predicted. The effect of the
COVID-19 pandemic may not be fully reflected in the Company’s results of operations and overall financial
condition until future periods.
The Company submitted an application to the Government of Canada for the CEWS for which it was eligible due to
the COVID-19 pandemic for the periods of June 2020 through August 2020. CEWS of $1,886,349 has been
recorded principally as a reduction of employee costs in the interim condensed consolidated financial statements of
the Company for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.
To the extent that the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects the Company’s business and financial results, it may
also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section.
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Risks Relating to Intellectual Property and Technology
Accidental or unauthorized access to or disclosure, loss, destruction or modification of data, through
cybersecurity breaches, computer viruses, human error, natural or man-made disasters, or disruption of the
Company’s services could expose the Company to liability, protracted and costly litigation and damage to the
Company’s reputation.
In connection with the various services the Company provides and anticipates to provide to its patients, the
Company collects, stores processes and transmits the sensitive personal and health data of its patients and, in some
cases through providing services to the Company’s patients as well as other end users of health services, including
but not limited to names, addresses, identification numbers, medical histories, credit or debit card numbers and
expiration dates and/or bank account numbers.
Cybersecurity incidents are increasing in frequency and evolving in nature and include, but are not limited to,
installation of malicious software, ransomware, viruses, social engineering (including phishing attacks), denial of
service or other attacks, employee theft or misuse, unauthorized access to data and other electronic security
breaches. Threats may derive from human error, fraud or malice on the part of employees or third parties, or may
result from accidental technological failure. Concerns about security increase when the Company transmits
information (including personal and health data). Electronic transmissions can be subject to attack, interception, loss
or corruption. In addition, computer viruses and malware can be distributed and spread rapidly over the internet and
could infiltrate the Company’s systems or those of its patients and other associated participants. Infiltration of the
Company’s systems or those of the Company’s associated participants could in the future lead to, disruptions in
systems, accidental or unauthorized access to or disclosure, loss, destruction, disablement or encryption of, use or
misuse of or modification of confidential or otherwise protected information (including personal and health data)
and the corruption of data.
An increasing number of organizations, including large enterprises and businesses, other large technology
companies, financial institutions and government institutions, have disclosed breaches of their information
technology systems, some of which have involved sophisticated and highly targeted attacks, including on portions of
their websites or infrastructure. Given the unpredictability of the timing, nature and scope of information technology
disruptions, there can be no assurance that any security procedures and controls that the Company or its associated
participants have implemented will be sufficient to prevent security incidents from occurring. Furthermore, because
there are many different security breach techniques and such techniques continue to evolve and are generally not
detected until after an incident has occurred, the Company may be unable to anticipate attempted security breaches
or other security incidents, react in a timely manner, determine the nature or scope of an incident, or implement
adequate preventive measures.
As a defense, in connection with its IT security program, the Company maintains a disaster recovery plan and has
implemented controls over unauthorized access, including remediation strategies and controls to prevent future
attacks. The Company’s CEO oversees and implements the Company’s cybersecurity risk mitigation strategy. The
Company’s defensive measures, however, may not prevent future access or protect the Company against use of
sensitive data or against other cybersecurity related incidents. Furthermore, the Company cannot be certain that
these measures will be successful and will be sufficient to counter all current and emerging technology threats that
are designed to breach the Company’s systems. While the Company maintains insurance coverage that may cover
certain aspects of cyber risks and incidents, the Company’s insurance coverage may be insufficient to cover all
losses resulting from a cybersecurity incident.
In connection with the services the Company provides, the Company shares information with its associated
participants who collect, process, store and transmit sensitive data. The accidental or unauthorized access to or
disclosure, loss, destruction, disablement or encryption of, use or misuse of or modification of data by the Company
or through systems the Company provides could result in significant fines, penalties, orders, sanctions and
proceedings or actions against the Company by governmental bodies and other regulatory authorities, end users or
third parties, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results
of operations. Any such proceeding or action, and any related indemnification obligation, could damage the
Company’s reputation, force the Company to incur significant expenses in defense of these proceedings, distract the

96

Company’s management, increase the Company’s costs of doing business or result in the imposition of financial
liability.
The Company’s security measures or those of its corporate customers could be insufficient and breached as a result
of third-party action, human (including employee) errors, technological limitations, defects or vulnerabilities in the
Company’s offerings or those of the Company’s third-party service providers, natural or man-made disasters,
malfeasance or otherwise. In addition, many of the Company’s physicians have limited competency regarding data
security and handling requirements and may thus experience data losses. Because the Company does not control its
corporate customers and the Company’s ability to monitor their data security is limited, the Company cannot ensure
the security measures they take will be sufficient to protect data (including personal and health data).
Any accidental or unauthorized access to or disclosure, loss, destruction, disablement or encryption of, use or misuse
of or modification of data, cybersecurity breach or other security incident that the Company or its corporate
customers have in the past experienced, and in the future could experience, or the perception that one has occurred
or may occur, could harm the Company’s reputation, reduce the demand for the Company’s products and services
and disrupt normal business operations. In addition, it may require the Company to spend material resources to
investigate or correct the breach and to prevent future security breaches and incidents, expose the Company to
uninsured liability, increase the Company’s risk of regulatory scrutiny, expose the Company to legal liabilities,
including litigation, regulatory enforcement, indemnity obligations or damages for contract breach, and cause the
Company to incur significant costs, any of which could materially adversely affect the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, there could be public announcements regarding any such
incidents and any steps the Company takes to respond to or remediate such incidents, and if securities analysts or
investors perceive these announcements to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of the
Company’s securities. In addition, the Company’s remediation efforts may not be successful. While no security
incidents have had a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations,
the Company cannot predict the impact of any such future events. These risks may increase as the Company
continues to grow and collect, process, store and transmit increasingly large amounts of data.
The Company relies on external suppliers and development firms in foreign jurisdictions.
The Company is dependent on external suppliers and offshore contracted development firms for development of its
software applications and core data analytics platform. The Company does not control many aspects of the activities
of the parties it relies on. The Company has entered into a master services agreement with its primary development
supplier (the “Master Services Agreement”) and the primary development supplier may subcontract development
to other parties not vetted by the Company, subject to the terms of the Master Services Agreement. As a result, many
important aspects of technology development (including costs and timing) are outside the Company’s direct control.
The success of the Company’s technology solutions is dependent upon the ability of its external suppliers and
contractor development firms to attract, recruit, develop, retain and subcontract with the necessary personnel who
can provide the needed expertise to develop the Company’s software applications and core data analytics platform.
The market for qualified personnel is competitive and is not limited to competition from within the industry. Larger
companies with diverse technology development needs may be able to leverage their superior resources to limit the
personnel available in the labour market. The Company’s suppliers may not succeed in recruiting and retaining
additional personnel, or may fail to effectively replace departing personnel with qualified or effective successors.
Increased costs in retaining and developing personnel may also result in significant additional expenses, which could
adversely affect the Company’s profitability.
While the Company’s relationship with its external suppliers and development firms is generally positive, there is no
assurance that the Company will be successful in maintaining these contractual relationships. In the event that these
external firms do not carry on the development work on the software applications and core data analytics platform
on conditions and in a manner that is agreeable to the Company, it may need to identify and engage other suitable
firms to take on the development work, in which case the estimated costs of the development may increase and the
schedule for completion may be delayed. If any of the external firms seek to impose conditions on their obligations
to conduct their work for the Company in addition to or different from the terms set forth in the Master Services
Agreement, or decide to discontinue their relationship with the Company or take some other adverse action against
the Company, the Company may not be able to complete the development of its software applications and core data
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analytics platform, or may be delayed in doing so, and the costs for developing the Company’s products may
significantly increase beyond those forecasted.
The jurisdictions in which the Company’s external suppliers and development firms are located may expose them to
heightened political, economic and regulatory instability. Exposure to these factors could result in the disruption of
business, theft or extortion of funds, regulatory infractions, difficulty enforcing contracts and reputational damage to
the Company. In addition, the Company is responsible for ensuring that its software applications and core data
analytics platform are being developed to meet any guidelines and requirements of applicable regulatory authorities,
laws and regulations and industry standards in the jurisdictions where the technology will be deployed. The
Company’s reliance on third parties does not relieve it of these responsibilities.
The Company’s systems and the Company’s third-party providers’ systems may fail, including due to factors
beyond the Company’s control, which could interrupt the Company’s service, cause the Company to lose business
and increase the Company’s costs.
The Company depends on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of numerous systems, including the Company’s
computer systems, the Company’s software and that of third parties and telecommunications networks, as well as
data centers and other systems of third parties. The Company’s systems and operations or those of its associated
participants could be exposed to interruptions, delays or outages from, among other things, fire, natural disaster,
power loss, telecommunications failure, unauthorized entry and computer viruses. The Company’s systems or those
of third parties may also contain undetected errors or other performance problems or may fail due to human error.
Although the Company maintains insurance policies specifically for property and business interruptions, these
policies may not be adequate to cover losses arising as a result of any such interruptions. Defects in the Company’s
systems or those of third parties, errors or delays in the processing of health data and the provision of care,
telecommunications failures or other difficulties could result in:


loss of revenue;



loss of patients or corporate customers;



loss or breach of patients or corporate customers, or health services end user data;



fines imposed by regulators;



harm to the Company’s business or reputation resulting from negative publicity;



exposure to fraud losses or other liabilities;



additional operating and development costs;



diversion of technical and other resources; and/or



breach of contractual obligations, such as guarantees to maintain performance levels at certain
levels given to many of the Company’s corporate customers, which could harm corporate
customer relationships and cause the Company to incur other additional liability.

The Company’s business is also dependent on the continued growth and maintenance of the internet’s infrastructure.
There can be no assurance that the internet’s infrastructure will continue to be able to support the demands placed on
it by sustained growth in the number of users and amount of traffic. To the extent that the internet’s infrastructure is
unable to support the demands placed on it, the business of patients and corporate customers, and thus the
Company’s business, may be impacted. The Company may also be disadvantaged by the adverse effect of any
delays or cancellations of private sector or government initiatives designed to expand broadband access. The
Company, and its patients and corporate customers, may be impacted by a reduction in the growth of, or a decline
in, access to broadband and internet.
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The Company relies on third-party data centers to host aspects of its platform and solutions. Any interruptions,
delays or outages in the services provided by these providers, or a deterioration of the Company’s relationships with
them, could impact the use of, and the Company’s patients and corporate customers satisfaction with, the
Company’s products and services and could harm the Company’s business and reputation. Any of the foregoing
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
If the Company is unable to successfully obtain, maintain, protect, enforce or otherwise manage the Company’s
intellectual property and proprietary rights, the Company may incur significant expenses and the Company’s
business may be adversely affected.
The Company’s success will depend in part on obtaining, maintaining, protecting and enforcing relevant intellectual
property and proprietary rights, which may include patent, design, utility model, trademark, copyright and trade
secret protection, as well as regulatory exclusivity periods and confidentiality agreements (collectively, “IP
Rights”). The Company cannot be sure that its means of obtaining, maintaining and enforcing the Company’s IP
Rights in Canada or abroad will be adequate to protect such rights against infringement, misappropriation or other
violation. The Company may not receive protection for pending or future applications relating to IP Rights owned
by or licensed to the Company, and the scope of protection granted under any issued or registered IP Rights may not
be sufficiently broad to protect the Company’s technology, products, services, systems, brands, trademarks or
information. Also, because of the rapid pace of technological change in the Company’s industry, aspects of the
Company’s business and the Company’s products and services rely on technologies developed or licensed by third
parties, and the Company may not be able to obtain or continue to obtain licenses and technologies from these third
parties on reasonable terms or at all. Moreover, the laws of certain jurisdictions, including emerging countries, do
not protect IP Rights to the same extent as the laws of Canada. If the Company cannot adequately obtain, maintain,
protect or enforce the Company’s IP Rights, third parties may be able to compete more successfully against the
Company and develop and commercialize substantially identical products, services or technologies, which could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.
Third parties may challenge, invalidate, circumvent, infringe or misappropriate the Company’s IP Rights, and such
IP Rights may be lost or no longer sufficient to permit the Company to take advantage of current market trends or to
otherwise provide competitive advantages, which could result in costly redesign efforts, discontinuance of certain
service offerings or other competitive harm. Others, including the Company’s competitors, may independently
develop similar technology, duplicate the Company’s products and services or design around the Company’s IP
Rights, and in such cases, the Company could not assert its IP Rights against such parties. Moreover, third parties
may infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate IP Rights owned or licensed by the Company and the Company
may assert claims against such third parties to enforce, or determine the scope and enforceability of, the Company’s
IP Rights, which could result in lengthy litigation or other proceedings and could cause a diversion of resources and
may not prove successful. Such third parties could also counterclaim that any IP Rights the Company asserts are
invalid or unenforceable and if such counterclaims are successful, the Company could lose valuable IP Rights.
The Company relies heavily on trade secrets and proprietary know-how to protect its products, services and
technology and their development and commercialization, and rely in part on confidentiality agreements with
suppliers and other partners, employees, independent contractors and consultants. However, the Company cannot
guarantee that the Company has entered into such agreements with each party that has or may have had access to the
Company’s trade secrets. Moreover, these agreements may be breached, and the Company may not have or be able
to enforce adequate remedies for any such breach. There is also no guarantee that these agreements or other
precautions will provide sufficient protection against any unauthorized access, use or misuse, misappropriation,
counterfeiting, cloning, reverse engineering or disclosure of any of the Company’s trade secrets, proprietary knowhow and any other information or technology. Trade secrets can be difficult to protect and some courts inside and
outside of Canada are unwilling or less willing to protect trade secrets as compared to other forms of intellectual
property. Defending against unauthorized access, use or misuse, misappropriation, counterfeiting, cloning, reverse
engineering or disclosure of the Company’s technology, trade secrets, proprietary know-how and other IP Rights
and technology may result in lengthy and expensive litigation or other proceedings with uncertain outcomes and
cause significant disruption to the Company’s business and operations. If the Company is unable to obtain, maintain,
protect or effectively enforce the Company’s IP Rights, it could impact the development, manufacture and
commercialization of the Company’s products, services and solutions and have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.
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Claims by others that the Company has infringed their proprietary technology or other IP Rights could harm the
Company’s business.
The Company’s success depends, in part, on its ability to develop and commercialize its services and technologies
without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the IP Rights of third parties. However, the Company
may not be aware that the Company’s products, services, solutions or technologies are infringing, misappropriating
or otherwise violating third-party IP Rights, and such third parties may bring claims alleging such infringement,
misappropriation or violation. Third parties may have issued, or may eventually issue, patents that could be
infringed by the Company’s services or technology. Any of these third parties could make a claim of infringement
against the Company with respect to its services or technology. The Company may also be subject to claims by third
parties for breach of copyright, trademark, license usage or other IP Rights. When any such claims are asserted
against the Company, the Company may seek to license the third party’s IP Rights, which could be expensive. The
Company may be unable to obtain the necessary licenses on satisfactory terms, if at all. Any claim from third parties
may result in a limitation on the Company’s ability to use the intellectual property subject to these claims or could
prevent the Company from registering its brands as trademarks. Even if the Company believes that intellectual
property-related claims are without merit, defending against such claims is time-consuming and expensive, and
could result in the diversion of the time and attention of the Company’s management and employees. Claims of
intellectual property infringement also might require the Company to redesign affected services, enter into costly
settlement or license agreements, pay costly damage awards, change the Company’s brands or face a temporary or
permanent injunction prohibiting the Company from importing, marketing, selling or operating certain of the
Company’s services, using certain of the Company’s brands or operating the Company’s business as presently
conducted. Even if the Company has an agreement for indemnification against such costs, the indemnifying party, if
any in such circumstances, may be unable to uphold its contractual obligations.
The Company may be subject to adverse publicity or reputational harm, even if claims against the Company are later
shown to be unfounded or unsubstantiated. Moreover, there could be public announcements of the results of
hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments and if securities analysts or investors perceive these
results to be negative, it could have an adverse effect on the price of the Company’s securities. The award of
damages, or the Company’s entry into any license or settlement agreement in connection with such claims, could
affect the Company’s ability to compete with third parties and have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.
If the Company is unable to obtain or fails to comply with the licenses required to operate the Company’s
business or experience disputes with licensors or disruptions to the Company’s business relationships with its
licensors, the Company could lose license rights that are important to the Company’s business.
The Company has entered and will enter into license agreements with third parties and may need to obtain additional
licenses from the Company’s existing licensors and others to advance or allow commercialization of the Company’s
solutions. It is possible that the Company may be unable to obtain any additional licenses at a reasonable cost or on
reasonable terms, if at all. In that event, the Company may be required to expend significant time and resources to
redesign the Company’s solutions or to develop or license replacement technology, all of which may not be feasible
on a technical or commercial basis. If the Company is unable to do so, the Company may be unable to develop or
commercialize the affected solutions, which could disrupt and adversely affect the Company’s business.
Disputes may arise regarding intellectual property, including software and data, that is subject to a licensing
agreement, including the scope of rights granted under the license agreement and other interpretation-related issues.
In addition, the agreements under which the Company currently licenses intellectual property or technology from
third parties are complex, and certain provisions in such agreements may be susceptible to multiple interpretations.
The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could narrow what the Company believes
to be the scope of the Company’s rights to the relevant intellectual property or technology or increase what the
Company believes to be the Company’s financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement. If these events
were to occur, the Company may lose the right to continue to use and exploit such licensed intellectual property or
technology in connection with the Company’s operations and solutions, which could have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

100

The Company’s use of open source software could negatively affect the Company’s ability to sell the Company’s
solutions and could subject the Company to litigation.
The Company’s solutions may incorporate and could be dependent to some extent on the use and development of
open source software and the Company intends to continue the Company’s use and development of open source
software in the future. Such open source software is generally licensed by its authors or other third parties under socalled “open source” licenses and is typically freely accessible, usable and modifiable.
Pursuant to such open source licenses, the Company may be subject to certain conditions, including requirements
that the Company offer its proprietary software that incorporates the open source software for no cost, that the
Company make available source code for modifications or derivative works the Company creates based upon,
incorporating or using the open source software, that the Company licenses such modifications or derivative works
under the terms of the particular open source license or that the Company grants other licenses to its intellectual
property. The Company seeks to ensure that its proprietary software is not combined with, and does not incorporate,
open source software in ways that would require the release of the source code of the Company’s proprietary
software to the public. Certain components of the Company’s platform and products incorporate software that is
licensed under an open source license which would require release of proprietary code if such platform or products
was released or distributed to third parties. The Company takes steps to ensure that such platform or products are not
released or distributed but the Company has co-located certain such platform or products on third parties’ premises.
If an author or other third party that uses or distributes such open source software were to allege that the Company
had not complied with the conditions of one or more of these licenses, the Company could be required to incur
significant legal expenses defending against such allegations and could be subject to significant damages, enjoined
from the sale of the Company’s solutions that contain or are dependent upon such open source software and required
to comply with the foregoing conditions, which could disrupt the distribution and sale of some of the Company’s
solutions. Litigation could be costly for the Company to defend, have a negative effect on the Company’s operating
results and financial condition or require the Company to devote additional research and development resources to
change the Company’s platform. As there is little or no legal precedent or judicial interpretation governing the
interpretation of many of the terms of certain of these licenses, the potential impact of these terms on the Company’s
business is uncertain and may result in unanticipated obligations regarding the Company’s solutions and
technologies.
Any requirement to disclose the Company’s proprietary source code, in defending its use of open source licenses or
otherwise, the termination of open source license rights or payments of damages for breach of contract could be
harmful to the Company’s business, results of operations or financial condition, and could help the Company’s
competitors develop products and services that are similar to or better than ours with lower development effort and
time. Alternatively, to avoid the public release of the affected portions of its source code, the Company could be
required to expend substantial time and resources to re-engineer some or all of the Company’s software.
In addition to risks related to license requirements, use of open source software can lead to greater risks than use of
third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties, controls on the origin
or development of the software or remedies against the licensors, nor are there any guarantees of any updates to the
open source software being released, which means that some open source software can be more susceptible to
cybersecurity attacks than commercially available software. Many of the risks associated with usage of open source
software cannot be eliminated and could adversely affect the Company’s business.
It is possible that the Company may not be aware of all instances where open source software has been incorporated
into the Company’s proprietary software or used in connection with the Company’s solutions or its corresponding
obligations under open source licenses. The Company does not have open source software usage policies or
monitoring procedures in place. The Company relies on multiple software programmers to design its proprietary
software and the Company cannot be certain that its programmers have not incorporated open source software into
its proprietary software that the Company intends to maintain as confidential or that they will not do so in the future.
To the extent that the Company is required to disclose the source code of certain of its proprietary software
developments to third parties, including the Company’s competitors, in order to comply with applicable open source
license terms, such disclosure could harm the Company’s intellectual property position, competitive advantage,
results of operations and financial condition. In addition, to the extent that the Company has failed to comply with
the Company’s obligations under particular licenses for open source software, the Company may lose the right to
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continue to use and exploit such open source software in connection with the Company’s operations and solutions,
which could disrupt and adversely affect the Company’s business.
Risks Relating to Regulation and Litigation
The Company is subject to costs and risks associated with new or changing laws and regulations and
governmental action affecting the Company’s business.
The Company operates in a complex regulatory and legal environment and are subject to a wide variety of laws and
regulations in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates. Some of the provincial and federal laws and
regulations in Canada and other jurisdictions in which the Company operates that affect or may affect it include:
those relating to provision of healthcare, consumer products, product liability and consumer protection; those
relating to negligence; those relating to the manner in which the Company advertises, markets and sells products and
services; labor and employment laws, including wage and hour laws; tax laws or interpretations thereof; data
protection and privacy laws and regulations. Continuing to achieve and sustain compliance with these laws may
prove costly.
The laws and regulations specifically applicable to the Company may also change on the basis of a change in the
nature of the Company’s products or services, or a change in the jurisdictions in which those products or services are
being offered, including, but not limited to, as a result of acquisitions. There can be no guarantee that the Company
will have sufficient resources to comply with new laws, regulations or government action, or to successfully
compete in the context of a shifting regulatory environment. Moreover, these laws and regulations may change,
sometimes significantly, as a result of political, economic and social events.
Laws and regulations relating to the healthcare industry and privacy are particularly complex and subject to change
which could create significant additional costs related to monitoring and compliance, and could require changes to
its operating model which could result in lower revenue. Although the Company maintains that its operations are in
compliance with existing laws, there can be no assurance that the Company’s operations will not be challenged in
the future and, if challenged, that they will not be found to violate applicable laws. Any such ruling against the
Company could subject it to potential damages, injunctions and/or civil and criminal penalties or require it to
restructure the Company’s arrangements in a way that would affect the control or quality of the Company’s services
or change the amounts that the Company receives from its operations, which could have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s business.
The costs and effects of pending and future litigation, investigations or similar matters, or adverse facts and
developments related thereto, could materially affect the Company’s business, financial position and results of
operations.
The Company is, and may be in the future, party to legal, arbitration and administrative investigations, inspections
and proceedings arising in the ordinary course of the Company’s business or from extraordinary corporate, tax or
regulatory events that involve the Company or its associated participants, particularly with respect to negligence,
civil, tax and labor claims.
The Company’s indemnities and insurance may not cover all claims that may be asserted against the Company, and
any claims asserted against the Company, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, may harm the Company’s
reputation. Furthermore, there is no guarantee that the Company will be successful in defending ourselves in
pending or future litigation or similar matters under various laws. Should the ultimate judgments or settlements in
any pending or future litigation or investigation significantly exceed the Company’s indemnity rights, they could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations and the price
of the Company’s securities. Further, even if the Company adequately addresses issues raised by an inspection
conducted by an agency or successfully defend the Company’s case in an administrative proceeding or court action,
the Company may have to set aside significant financial and management resources to respond and settle issues
raised by such proceedings, which could adversely affect the Company’s business.
The Company is heavily reliant on its healthcare professionals, and the Company’s success depends on the
satisfactory performance by its healthcare professionals of their professional obligations including maintenance of
their required qualifications. The Company’s healthcare professionals could be subject to negligence claims, suits or
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complaints relating to services provided from time to time. From time to time, the Company’s healthcare
professionals may enmesh the Company in outstanding or unforeseen legal, regulatory, contractual, employee or
other issues. The failure of the Company’s healthcare professionals to perform their professional obligations or the
successful assertion of one or more large claims against the Company, whether or not those claims may be covered
by an indemnity or insurance, could adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.
The Company may be subject to claims that the Company has wrongfully hired an employee or healthcare
professional from a competitor, or that the Company’s employees, consultants or independent contractors have
wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information of third parties or that the Company’s employees have
wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former employers.
Many of the Company’s employees, consultants and advisors, or individuals that may in the future serve as the
Company’s employees, consultants and advisors, are currently or were previously employed at companies that are
the Company’s competitors or are potential competitors. The Company may be subject to claims that the Company,
its employees, consultants or independent contractors or advisors have, inadvertently or otherwise, used or disclosed
confidential or proprietary information, trade secrets or know-how of these third parties. Litigation may be necessary
to defend against these claims. Even if the Company is successful in defending against these claims, litigation could
result in substantial cost and be a distraction to the Company’s management and employees. If the Company fails in
defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, the Company may lose valuable intellectual
property rights or personnel. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.
Changes in laws or regulations relating to privacy and data protection, or any actual or perceived failure by the
Company to comply with such laws and regulations, or contractual or other obligation relating to, privacy and
data protection could adversely affect the Company’s business.
The Company receives, generates and stores significant and increasing volumes of sensitive information, notably,
personal and health information of the Company’s employees, its patients, corporate customers and any end users of
health services. The Company is and will increasingly be subject to a variety of laws, directives and regulations, as
well as contractual obligations, relating to the collection, use, retention, security, disclosure, de-identification and
other processing of personal information in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates. The regulatory
framework for privacy, data protection and data transfers is rapidly evolving and is likely to remain uncertain for the
foreseeable future. For example, (i) Canadian Ministers were mandated to draft and implement a new bill to reform
the PIPEDA providing for the establishment of new rights related to privacy, such as personal data portability, the
ability to remove, delete and erase personal data and the ability to withdraw consent to the exchange or sale of
personal data, and (ii) the Government of Ontario has recently amended the Personal Health Information Protection
Act, 2004 (Ontario), with forthcoming regulations that will set new standards for the de-identification of personal
health information.
Complying with evolving Canadian laws, regulations or other obligations relating to privacy, data protection, data
transfers, data localization, or information security may cause the Company to incur substantial operational costs or
require the Company to modify its data practices. Non-compliance could result in proceedings against the Company
by governmental entities or others, could result in substantial fines or other liability, and may otherwise adversely
affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
Although the Company endeavors to comply with its published policies concerning the Company’s data privacy
practices, the Company may at times fail to do so or be alleged to have failed to do so. The publication of the
Company’s privacy policies that provide promises and assurances about privacy and security can subject the
Company to potential government or legal action if they are found to be deceptive, unfair, or misrepresentative of
the Company’s actual practices. Any failure, real or perceived, by the Company to comply with its posted privacy
policies or with any regulatory requirements, certifications or orders, or other privacy laws and regulations
applicable to the Company could cause patients to reduce their use of the Company’s products and services and
could materially and adversely affect the Company’s business. In many jurisdictions, enforcement actions and
consequences for noncompliance can be significant and are rising.
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Additionally, some Canadian privacy laws require companies to notify individuals of security breaches involving
particular personal information, which could result from breaches experienced by the Company or its service
providers. Any actual or perceived security breach could harm the Company’s reputation and brand, expose the
Company to potential liability, result in a fine or require the Company to expend significant resources on data
security and in responding to any such actual or perceived breach. Any contractual protections the Company may
have from its service providers may not be sufficient to adequately protect the Company from any such liabilities
and losses, and the Company may be unable to enforce any such contractual protections.
In addition to government regulation, the Company’s patients and prospective corporate customers have required,
and may in the future require, the Company to comply with certain privacy, data protection and information security
standards, including with respect to the Company’s data encryption practices, and the Company may undertake
contractual commitments to adhere to such standards.
The Company expects that there will continue to be new proposed laws (including amendments to laws) and
regulations and guidance concerning privacy, data protection and information security, and the Company cannot yet
determine the impact such future laws, regulations, standards and guidance may have on the Company’s business.
New laws, amendments to or re-interpretations of existing laws, regulations, industry standards, guidance,
contractual obligations, corporate customer expectations and other obligations may require the Company to incur
additional costs and restrict the Company’s business operations. Because the interpretation and application of laws,
standards, contractual obligations and other obligations relating to privacy and data protection are still uncertain, it is
possible that these obligations may be interpreted and applied in a manner that varies by jurisdiction and/or that is
inconsistent with the Company’s data privacy policies and procedures, including with respect to the Company’s data
encryption practices, or the features of the Company’s platform. If so, the Company may face fines, lawsuits,
regulatory investigations, imprisonment of Company officials and public censure, other claims and penalties,
significant costs for remediation and damage to the Company’s reputation. The Company could also be required to
fundamentally change its business activities and practices, which could adversely affect the Company’s business.
The Company may be unable to make such changes and modifications in a commercially reasonable manner, or at
all. Furthermore, the costs of compliance with, and other burdens imposed by, the laws, regulations, policies and
guidance that are applicable to the businesses of the Company’s patients and corporate customers may limit the use
and adoption of, and reduce the overall demand for, the Company’s services. Any inability to adequately address
privacy, data protection, or information security-related concerns, even if unfounded, or to successfully negotiate
related contractual terms with corporate customers, or to comply with applicable laws, regulations, policies,
standards and guidance relating to privacy, data protection and information security, including those with which the
Company elects to comply, could result in additional cost and liability to the Company, harm the Company’s
reputation and brand, damage the Company’s relationship with important providers and adversely affect the
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Company may become involved in regulatory or agency proceedings, investigations and audits.
The Company’s business requires compliance with many laws and regulations and the sensitive nature of the
healthcare industry may attract increased regulatory and agency scrutiny. Failure to comply with these laws and
regulations could subject the Company to regulatory or agency proceedings or investigations and could also lead to
damage awards, fines and penalties. The Company may become involved in a number of government or agency
proceedings, investigations and audits. The outcome of any regulatory or agency proceedings, investigations, audits,
and other contingencies could harm the Company’s reputation, require the Company to take, or refrain from taking,
actions that could harm its operations or require the Company to pay substantial amounts of money, harming its
financial condition. There can be no assurance that any pending or future regulatory or agency proceedings,
investigations and audits will not result in substantial costs or a diversion of management’s attention and resources
or have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operation.
The Company may also become party to litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business which could
adversely affect its business. Should any litigation in which the Company becomes involved be determined against
the Company, such a decision could adversely affect the Company’s ability to continue operating and the value of
the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and could use significant resources. Even if the Company is involved in
litigation and is successful, litigation can redirect significant Company resources, including the time and attention of
management and available working capital. Litigation may also create a negative perception of MCI’s brand.
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Risks Relating to the Offering
The Company’s dual class share structure has the effect of concentrating voting control and the ability to
influence corporate matters with those shareholders who held its shares prior to the Offering, including the
Company’s executive officers, employees and directors and their affiliates.
The Company’s Class B Multiple Voting Shares have nine votes per share and the Company’s Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares have one vote per share. After giving effect to the Offering, shareholders who hold Class B Multiple
Voting Shares, including the Company’s executive officers, directors and their affiliates, will together hold over
97% of the voting power of the Company’s outstanding voting shares, on a fully diluted basis, and therefore will
have significant influence over the Company’s management and affairs and over all matters requiring shareholder
approval, including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions.
In addition, because of the 9-to-1 voting ratio between the Company’s Class B Multiple Voting Shares and Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares, the holders of the Company’s Class B Multiple Voting Shares collectively continue to
control a majority of the combined voting power of the Company’s voting shares even where the Class B Multiple
Voting Shares represent a substantially reduced percentage of the Company’s total outstanding shares. The
concentrated voting control of holders of the Company’s Class B Multiple Voting Shares limits the ability of holders
of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares to influence corporate matters for the foreseeable future, including the
election of directors as well as with respect to decisions regarding amendment of the Company’s share capital,
creating and issuing additional classes of shares, making significant acquisitions, selling significant assets or parts of
the Company’s business, merging with other companies and undertaking other significant transactions. As a result,
holders of Class B Multiple Voting Shares have the ability to influence many matters affecting the Company and
actions may be taken that the Company’s Class A subordinate voting shareholders may not view as beneficial. The
market price of the Company’s Class A Subordinate Voting Shares could be adversely affected due to the significant
influence and voting power of the holders of Class B Multiple Voting Shares. Additionally, the significant voting
interest of holders of Class B Multiple Voting Shares may discourage transactions involving a change of control,
including transactions in which an investor, as a holder of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, might otherwise
receive a premium for the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares over the then-current market price, or discourage
competing proposals if a going private transaction is proposed by one or more holders of Class B Multiple Voting
Shares.
Future transfers of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares held by Dr. George Christodoulou, Dr. Sven Grail,
Dr. Alex Dobranowski and/or a Permitted Holder may result in some or all of their Class B Multiple Voting Shares
being cancelled, which might have the effect, over time, of increasing the relative voting power of the holders of
Class B Multiple Voting Shares who retain their shares. Each of the Company’s directors and officers owes a
fiduciary duty to the Company and must act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the
Company. However, any director and/or officer that is a shareholder, even a controlling shareholder, is entitled to
vote his or her shares in his or her own interests, which may not always be in the interests of the Company’s
shareholders generally.
The Company’s articles of incorporation amend certain default rights provided for under the CBCA for holders of
Class B Multiple Voting Shares and Class A Subordinate Voting Shares to vote separately as a class for certain
types of amendments to the Company’s articles of incorporation. Specifically, neither the holders of the Class B
Multiple Voting Shares nor Class A Subordinate Voting Shares shall be entitled to vote separately as a class upon a
proposal to amend the Company’s articles of incorporation to (1) increase or decrease any maximum number of
authorized shares of such class, or increase any maximum number of authorized shares of a class having rights or
privileges equal or superior to the shares of such class; or (2) create a new class of shares equal or superior to the
shares of such class, which rights are otherwise provided for in paragraphs (a) and (e) of subsection 176(1) of the
CBCA. Pursuant to the Company’s articles of incorporation, neither holders of the Company’s Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares nor holders of the Company’s Class B Multiple Voting Shares are entitled to vote separately as a
class on a proposal to amend the Company’s articles of incorporation to effect an exchange, reclassification or
cancellation of the shares of such class pursuant to Section 176(1)(b) of the CBCA.
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The Company’s capital structure and certain Canadian legislation could delay or deter a change of control, limit
attempts by the Company’s shareholders to replace or remove the Company’s current senior management and affect
the market price of the Company’s Class A Subordinate Voting Shares.
The Company’s articles of incorporation authorize the Company’s Board of Directors to issue an unlimited number
of preferred shares without shareholder approval and to determine the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions
granted to or imposed on any unissued series of preferred shares. Those rights may be superior to those of the
Company’s Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and Class B Multiple Voting Shares. For example, preferred shares
may rank prior to Class A Subordinate Voting Shares as to dividend rights, liquidation preferences or both, may
have full or limited voting rights and may be convertible into Class A Subordinate Voting Shares or Class B
Multiple Voting Shares. If the Company were to issue a significant number of preferred shares, these issuances
could deter or delay an attempted acquisition of the Company or make the removal of management more difficult,
particularly in the event that the Company issues preferred shares with special voting rights. Issuances of preferred
shares, or the perception that such issuances may occur, could cause the trading price of the Company’s Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares to drop.
In addition, provisions in the CBCA and in the Company’s articles of incorporation and by-laws may have the effect
of delaying or preventing changes in the Company’s senior management, including provisions that:


require that any action to be taken by the Company’s shareholders be effected at a duly called annual or
special meeting and not by written consent;



establish an advance notice procedure for shareholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting,
including proposed nominations of persons for election to the Company’s Board of Directors; and



require the approval of a two-thirds majority of the votes cast by shareholders present in person or by proxy
in order to amend certain provisions of the Company’s articles of incorporation, including, in some
circumstances, by separate class votes of holders of the Company’s Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and
Class B Multiple Voting Shares.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by the Company’s shareholders to launch a proxy contest or
replace or remove the Company’s current senior management by making it more difficult for shareholders to replace
members of the Company’s Board of Directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of the Company’s
senior management. Any of these provisions could have the effect of delaying, preventing or deferring a change in
control which could limit the opportunity for the Company’s Class A subordinate voting shareholders to receive a
premium for their Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, and could also affect the price that investors are willing to
pay for Class A Subordinate Voting Shares.
The Company’s articles of incorporation permit the Company to issue an unlimited number of Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares and Class B Multiple Voting Shares. The Company anticipates that the Company will, from time to
time, issue additional Class A Subordinate Voting Shares in the future. Subject to the requirements of the TSX, the
Company will not be required to obtain the approval of shareholders for the issuance of additional Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares. Any further issuances of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares will result in immediate
dilution to existing shareholders and may have an adverse effect on the value of their shareholdings.
The Company may in the future issue preferred shares and, if preferred shares are issued in the future, the terms
selected by the Company’s Board of Directors could decrease the amount of earnings and assets available for
distribution to holders of the Company’s Class A Subordinate Voting Shares or adversely affect the rights and
powers, including the voting rights, of the holders of the Company’s Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and Class
B Multiple Voting Shares without any further vote or action by the holders of the Company’s Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares and Class B Multiple Voting Shares. The issuance of preferred shares, or the issuance of rights to
purchase preferred shares, could make it more difficult for a third-party to acquire a majority of the Company’s
outstanding voting shares and thereby have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of the
Company or an unsolicited acquisition proposal or of making the removal of management more difficult.
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Additionally, the issuance of preferred shares may have the effect of decreasing the market price of the Company’s
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares.
There is no market for the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and none may develop following the Offering.
There is no public market for the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. The Offering Price of the Offered Shares will
be determined by negotiation between the Company and the Underwriters. The Company cannot predict the price at
which the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares will trade upon the Closing and there can be no assurance that an
active trading market will develop after the Closing or, if developed, that such a market will be sustained at the
Offering Price. In addition, if an active public market does not develop or is not maintained, holders of Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares may have difficulty selling their Class A Subordinate Voting Shares.
The price of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares in public markets may experience significant fluctuations.
The market price for Class A Subordinate Voting Shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in
response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s control, including the following: (i) actual
or anticipated fluctuations in the Company’s quarterly results of operations; (ii) recommendations by securities
research analysts; (iii) changes in the economic performance or market valuations of other issuers that investors
deem comparable to the Company; (iv) addition or departure of the Company’s executive officers and other key
personnel; (v) release or expiration of lock-up or other transfer restrictions on the Company’s voting shares; (vi)
sales or perceived sales of the Company’s voting shares; (vii) significant acquisitions or business combinations,
strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by or involving the Company or its competitors; and
(viii) news reports relating to trends, concerns, technological or competitive developments, regulatory changes and
other related issues in the Company’s industry or target markets.
Financial markets have recently experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected
the market prices of equity securities of public entities and that have, in many cases, been unrelated to the operating
performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such entities. Accordingly, the market price of the Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares may decline even if the Company’s operating results or prospects have not changed.
Additionally, these factors, as well as other related factors, may cause decreases in asset values that are deemed to
be other than temporary, which may result in impairment losses. As well, certain institutional investors may base
their investment decisions on consideration of the Company’s environmental, governance and social practices and
performance against such institutions’ respective investment guidelines and criteria, and failure to satisfy such
criteria may result in limited or no investment in the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares by those institutions, which
could materially adversely affect the trading price of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. There can be no
assurance that continuing fluctuations in price and volume will not occur. If such increased levels of volatility and
market turmoil continue for a protracted period of time, there could be a material adverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial condition and results of operations, as well as the trading price of the Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares.
Management has indicated its plan for the use of proceeds of the Offering but will ultimately exercise its
discretion in how such funds are put to use.
The Company currently intends to allocate the net proceeds received from the Offering as described under “Use of
Proceeds”, however, management will have discretion in the actual application of the net proceeds, and may elect to
allocate the net proceeds differently from that described under “Use of Proceeds” if it believes it would be in the
Company’s best interests to do so. Shareholders may not agree with the manner in which management chooses to
allocate and spend the net proceeds of the Offering. The failure by management to apply these funds effectively
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business. Additionally, the Company may not be successful
in implementing the Company’s business strategies and the Company’s actual capital expenditures and capital
expenditure requirements may be materially different from forecasted expenditures described in this prospectus.
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The Company’s failure to raise additional capital or generate cash flows necessary to expand its operations and
invest in new technologies in the future could reduce its ability to compete successfully and harm its results of
operations.
The Company may need to raise additional funds, and the Company may not be able to obtain additional debt or
equity financing on favourable terms or at all. If the Company engages in additional debt financing, the Company
may be required to accept terms that restrict its ability to incur additional indebtedness, force the Company to
maintain specified liquidity or other ratios or restrict its ability to pay dividends or make acquisitions. Any failure to
adhere to these covenants could result in penalties or defaults that could further restrict its liquidity or limit its ability
to obtain financing. If the Company needs additional capital and cannot raise it on acceptable terms, or at all, the
Company may not be able to pursue its growth strategy.
In addition, the Company may in the future attempt to increase its capital resources by making offerings of debt
securities or additional offerings of equity securities. Upon bankruptcy or liquidation, holders of its debt securities
and lenders with respect to other borrowings will receive a distribution of its available assets prior to the holders of
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. Future equity offerings of other types of equity securities may dilute the
holdings of its existing shareholders or reduce the market price of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, or both.
The Company’s decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors
beyond its control. As a result, the Company cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of its future
offerings.
Holders of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares may be subject to dilution resulting from future offerings of Class
A Subordinate Voting Shares by the Company.
MCI may raise additional funds in the future by issuing equity securities. Holders of Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares will have no pre-emptive rights in connection with such further issues. The Board of Directors has the
discretion to determine if an issuance of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares is warranted, the price at which such
issuance is effected and the other terms of issue of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. In addition, additional Class
A Subordinate Voting Shares may be issued by the Company in connection with the exercise of options granted
following the completion of the Offering. Such additional equity issuances could, depending on the price at which
such securities are issued, substantially dilute the interests of the holders of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares.
It is not anticipated that any dividend will be paid to holders of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares for the
foreseeable future.
No dividends on the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares have been paid to date. The Company anticipates that, for
the foreseeable future, it will retain future earnings and other cash resources for the operation and development of its
business. Payment of any future dividends will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors after taking into
account many factors, including the Company’s earnings, operating results, financial condition, current and
anticipated cash needs, and restrictions in financing agreements.
Significant holders of the Company’s Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, including Locked-up Persons, may
seek to sell all or a portion of their shareholdings in the future, which could reduce the market price of the Class
A Subordinate Voting Shares.
Sales of a substantial number of the Company’s voting shares in the public market could occur at any time before or
after the expiration of the Lock-up Agreements described in “Plan of Distribution – Lock-up Arrangements” and
“Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restriction on Transfer”. These sales, or the market
perception that the holders of a large number of the Company’s voting shares intend to sell such shares, especially
where the holders of such shares are Company insiders, could significantly reduce the market price of the Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares, including to below the Offering Price. There is no assurance that Locked-up Persons
will maintain ownership of their holdings of the Company’s voting shares for any significant period of time
following the expiration of the contractual lock-up period, if at all. Furthermore, the Company cannot predict the
effect, if any, that future public sales of these securities or the availability of these securities for sale will have on the
market price of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. If the market price of the Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares were to drop as a result, this might impede the Company’s ability to raise additional capital and might cause
remaining holders of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares to lose all or part of their investments.
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In addition, the Underwriters might waive the provisions of the Lock-up Agreements and allow the Locked-up
Persons to sell their voting shares at any time. There are no pre-established conditions for the grant of such a waiver
by the Underwriters, and any decision by them to waive those conditions may depend on a number of factors, which
might include market conditions, the performance of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares in the market and the
Company’s financial condition at that time. If the restrictions in such Lock-up Agreements are waived, additional
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares will be available for sale into the public market, subject to applicable securities
laws, which could reduce the market price for Class A Subordinate Voting Shares.
Holders of options to purchase Class A Subordinate Voting Shares will have an immediate income inclusion for tax
purposes when they exercise their options (that is, tax is not deferred until they sell the underlying Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares). As a result, these holders may need to sell Class A Subordinate Voting Shares
purchased on the exercise of options in the same year that they exercise their options. This might result in a greater
number of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares being sold in the public market, and fewer long-term holdings of
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares by management of the Company and other employees.
The market price for Class A Subordinate Voting Shares may be less than the Offering Price.
The price of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares will fluctuate with market conditions and other factors outside
of the control of the Company, including those noted in this “Risk Factors” section. If a holder of Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares sells its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, the price received may be more or less than
the original investment and as a result investors could lose some or all of their investment.
Requirements to comply with public company reporting obligations, as well as those of any stock exchange, may
strain the Company’s systems and resources.
As a public entity, the Company will be subject to the reporting requirements and related rules and regulations of the
Canadian provincial securities regulators, as well as the rules of any stock exchange on which the Company’s
securities may be listed from time to time. These requirements may place a strain on the Company’s systems and
resources. The applicable securities legislation requires that MCI file annual, quarterly and event-driven reports with
respect to its business and financial condition and operations and requires that MCI maintain effective DCP and
ICFR. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures,
significant resources and management oversight will be required. The Company will be implementing additional
procedures and processes for the purpose of addressing the standards and requirements applicable to public
companies. However, the Company cannot assure prospective purchasers of Offered Shares that these procedures
and processes will be sufficient to allow it to satisfy its obligations as a public company on a timely basis. In
addition, sustaining MCI’s growth will also require it to commit additional management, operational and financial
resources to identify new professionals to join the Company and to maintain appropriate operational and financial
systems to adequately support expansion. These activities may divert management’s attention from other business
concerns, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, financial
performance and cash flows. MCI expects to incur significant additional annual expenses related to these steps and,
among other things, additional directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, director fees, reporting requirements of the
applicable Canadian securities regulatory authorities and other regulators, transfer agent fees, hiring additional
accounting, legal and administrative personnel, increased auditing and legal fees and similar expenses.
Tax and accounting requirements may change in ways that are unforeseen to the Company and the Company
may face difficulty or be unable to implement and/or comply with any such changes.
The Company is subject to numerous tax and accounting requirements, and changes in existing accounting or
taxation rules or practices, or varying interpretations of current rules or practices, could have a significant adverse
effect on the Company’s financial results, the manner in which it conducts its business or the marketability of any of
its products. In the future, the geographic scope of the Company’s business may expand, and such expansion will
require the Company to comply with the tax laws and regulations of multiple jurisdictions. Requirements as to
taxation vary substantially among jurisdictions. Complying with the tax laws of these jurisdictions can be time
consuming and expensive and could potentially subject the Company to penalties and fees in the future if the
Company were to inadvertently fail to comply. In the event the Company was to inadvertently fail to comply with
applicable tax laws, this could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial
condition of the Company.
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LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
The Company currently, and from time to time, is involved in legal proceedings, as well as demands, claims and
threatened litigation, that arise in the normal course of the Company’s business.
In October 2019, a third party claim was lodged at the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (the “Court”) against MCI
Medical Clinics Inc. and others by U-Heights Project Developer Corp. asserting that the Company had breached a
lease agreement for a clinic. The matter is currently being considered by the Court, and the Company expects
judgment before the end of 2021. The Company considers it to be too early to make a determination as to its
probability of the outcome and has therefore not recognized a provision in relation to this claim. The potential
undiscounted amount of the total payments that the Company could be required to make, if there was an adverse
decision related to the lawsuit, is estimated to be approximately $3,000,000.
In October 2017, a claim was lodged at the Court against MCI Medical Clinics Inc. and others by Robert Huljek
asserting medical malpractice. The matter is currently being considered by the Court, and the Company expects
judgment before the end of 2021. The Company considers it to be too early to make a determination as to its
probability of the outcome and has therefore not recognized a provision in relation to this claim. The potential
undiscounted amount of the total payments that the Company could be required to make, if there was an adverse
decision related to the lawsuit, is estimated to be approximately $5,250,000.
MCI intends to vigorously defends these claims, and believes that the ultimate amount of liability, if any, for any
pending claims of any type will not materially affect its financial position or results of operations. However, the
ultimate outcome of any litigation is uncertain and, regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on
the Company’s business because of defence costs, negative publicity, diversion of management resources and other
factors. See “Risk Factors”.
INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS
Other than as disclosed in this prospectus, none of the directors or executive officers of the Company, nor any
person or company that beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of any class
or series of the Company’s outstanding voting securities, nor any associate or affiliate of the foregoing persons, has
or has had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the three years prior to the date of this
prospectus that has materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the Company or its subsidiaries.
AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
The auditors of the Company are BDO Canada LLP located at 3115 Harvester Rd #400, Burlington, ON L7N 3N8.
The transfer agent and registrar of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares will be Computershare Investor Services
Inc. at its principal offices located at 100 University Ave, Toronto, ON M5J 2Y1.
MATERIAL CONTRACTS
Except for contracts made in the ordinary course of business, the Underwriting Agreement is the only material
contract entered into by the Company to the date hereof which is currently in effect and considered to be currently
material. See “Plan of Distribution – General” for details regarding the Underwriting Agreement.
The Underwriting Agreement will be available on the Company’s SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com.
PROMOTER
Dr. George Christodoulou and Dr. Sven Grail may be considered to be promoters of the Company within the
meaning of Canadian securities legislation. Upon completion of the Offering, Dr. George Christodoulou and Dr.
Sven Grail will each hold 46% of the total voting power. See “Principal Shareholders”.
Dr. Alexander Dobranowski may be considered to be a promoter of the Company within the meaning of Canadian
securities legislation. Upon completion of the Offering, Dr. Dobranowski will hold [●] Class A Subordinate Voting
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Shares (being [●]% of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares), [●] Class B Multiple Voting Shares (being [●]% of
the Class B Multiple Voting Shares) and [●]% of the total voting power. In consideration of entering into a contract
with the Company to assume the role of CEO, Dr. Dobranowski assigned and transferred certain intellectual
property rights relating to brightOS to MCI in October 2020.
EXPERTS
BDO Canada LLP are the external auditors of the Company and have confirmed that they are independent of the
Company within the meaning of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
Ontario (registered name of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario).
Certain legal matters relating to the distribution of the Offered Shares will be passed upon by Fasken Martineau
DuMoulin LLP, on behalf of the Company, and by Borden Ladner Gervais LLP, on behalf of the Underwriters. As
at the date hereof the partners and associates of Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP as a group, and the partners and
associates of Borden Ladner Gervais LLP as a group, beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, less than 1% of the
Company’s outstanding voting shares.
PURCHASERS’ STATUTORY RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION
Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw from an
agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after receipt or deemed
receipt of a prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces, the securities legislation further provides a
purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of the price or damages if the prospectus
and any amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that such remedies
for rescission, revisions of the price or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by
the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the
securities legislation of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor.
Purchasers on the President’s List who purchase Offered Shares under the Offering have the same rights and
remedies for rescission and/or damages against the Company and the Underwriters, as the case may be, as other
purchasers.
GLOSSARY
This glossary defines certain business, industry, technical and legal terms used in this prospectus for the
convenience of the reader. It is not a comprehensive list of all defined terms used in this prospectus.
“Annual Financial Statements” has the meaning given to such term under “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis”.
“Audit Committee” means the audit committee of the Company.
“Award” has the meaning given to such term under “Options and Rights to Purchase Securities”.
“Board of Directors” or “Board” means the board of directors of the Company.
“brightOS” means the Company’s data analytics platform that enables the Company’s clinicians and data scientists
to better visualize and derive insights from de-identified clinical data.
“CAGR” means compound annual growth rate.
“Canaccord” means Canaccord Genuity Corp.
“CBCA” means the Canada Business Corporations Act.
“CDS” means CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc.
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“CEO” means Chief Executive Officer.
“CECRA” means Canada Emergency Commercial Rent Assistance.
“CEWS” means Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy.
“CFO” means Chief Financial Officer.
“CIO” means Chief Privacy and Information Officer.
“Class A Subordinate Voting Shares” means the Class A subordinate voting shares in the capital of the Company.
“Class B Multiple Voting Shares” means the Class B multiple voting shares in the capital of the Company.
“Closing” means the closing of the Offering.
“Closing Date” means the date of the Closing, which is scheduled to occur on or about [●] or on such earlier or later
date as the Company and the Underwriters may agree.
“Closing Option Grant” has the meaning given to such term under “Executive Compensation – Components of
Executive Compensation – Long-Term Incentives – One-time Closing Option Grant to Employees in Connection
with Offering”.
“Code” has the meaning given to such term under “Corporate Governance – Board of Directors – Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics”.
“COO” means Chief Operating Officer.
“Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee” means the corporate governance and nominating
committee of the Company.
“Court” has the meaning given to such term under “Legal Proceedings”.
“DCF” means discounted cash flow.
“DCP” has the meaning given to such term under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis – Disclosure Controls
and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting”.
“DSU” means a deferred share unit granted under the Equity Incentive Plan.
“E&Y Report” means the market study report titled Realizing the Value of Primary Healthcare Data in Canada,
prepared by Ernst & Young LLP for MCI in September 2020.
“EBITDA” has the meaning given to such term under “About this Prospectus – Non-IFRS Measures”.
“EBITDA margin” has the meaning given to such term under “About this Prospectus – Non-IFRS Measures”.
“EMR” means electronic medical records.
“Equity Incentive Plan” has the meaning given to such term under “Options and Rights to Purchase Securities”.
“Excise Tax” means taxes levied under Part IX of the Excise Tax Act (Canada) including, where applicable, both the
federal and provincial portion of those taxes, or under any provincial legislation imposing a similar value added or
multi-staged tax.
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“FCA” has the meaning given to such term under “Plan of Distribution – Distribution in the United Kingdom”.
“Financial Promotion Order” has the meaning given to such term under Plan of Distribution – Distribution in the
United Kingdom”.
“Financial Statements” has the meaning given to such term under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis”.
“fiscal 2020” means the current fiscal year of the Company ending December 31, 2020.
“FSMA” has the meaning given to such term under “Plan of Distribution – Distribution in the United Kingdom”.
“Gross margin” has the meaning given to such term under “About this Prospectus – Non-IFRS Measures”.
“Gross profit” has the meaning given to such term under “About this Prospectus – Non-IFRS Measures”.
“Human Resources and Compensation Committee” means the human resources and compensation committee of
the Company.
“IASB” means the International Accounting Standards Board.
“ICFR” has the meaning given to such term under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis – Disclosure Controls
and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting”.
“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB.
“IT” has the meaning given to such term under “Risk Factors”.
“Lead Director” means Kingsley Ward, or such other independent lead director as may be appointed from time to
time.
“Lock-up Agreements” has the meaning given to such term under “Plan of Distribution – Lock-up Arrangements”.
“Locked-up Persons” has the meaning given to such term under “Plan of Distribution – Lock-up Arrangements”.
“Locked-up Securities” has the meaning given to such term under “Plan of Distribution – Lock-up Arrangements”.
“MCI” or “Company” means MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc., incorporated under the OBCA. In connection
with, and prior to, the Closing, the Pre-Closing Capital Changes will be implemented (including the continuation of
the Company under the CBCA).
“MCI Connect” means the portal for applications and services developed by MCI.
“MD&A” has the meaning given to such term under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis”.
“NCI System” means non-certificated inventory system of CDS.
“NEO” has the meaning given to such term under “Executive Compensation”.
“NI 41-101” means National Instrument 41-101 – General Prospectus Requirements.
“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees.
“NI 58-101” means National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices.
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“Notice Date” has the meaning given to such term under “Description of Share Capital – Advance Notice
Procedures and Shareholder Proposals”.
“NP 58-201” means National Policy 58-201 – Corporate Governance Guidelines.
“OBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (Ontario).
“Offered Shares” has the meaning given to such term on the face page of this prospectus.
“Offering” has the meaning given to such term on the face page of this prospectus.
“Offering Price” means the price of each Class A Subordinate Voting Share that will be issued pursuant to the
Offering, as indicated on the face page of this prospectus.
“Options” has the meaning given to such term under “Options and Rights to Purchase Securities”.
“Over-Allotment Option” has the meaning given to such term on the face page of this prospectus.
“Plan” has the meaning given to such term under “Eligibility for Investment”.
“Pre-Closing Capital Changes” has the meaning given to such term under “Description of Share Capital”.
“President’s List” has the meaning given to such term on the face page of this prospectus.
“Provincial Plans” means the Alberta Health (AH) and Ontario Health Insurance Plan (OHIP).
“PSU” means a performance share unit granted under the Equity Incentive Plan.
“PUCCI” has the meaning given to such term under “Business of the Company – General Development of the
Business”.
“Qualified Institutional Buyer” has the meaning given to such term on the face page of this prospectus.
“Quarterly Financial Statements” has the meaning given to such term under “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis”.
“RDSP” has the meaning given to such term under “Eligibility for Investment”.
“relevant persons” has the meaning given to such term under “Plan of Distribution – Distribution in the United
Kingdom”.
“Regulations” has the meaning given to such term under “Eligibility for Investment”.
“RESP” has the meaning given to such term under “Eligibility for Investment”.
“RRIF” has the meaning given to such term under “Eligibility for Investment”.
“RRSP” has the meaning given to such term under “Eligibility for Investment”.
“RSU” means a restricted share unit granted under the Equity Incentive Plan.
“SaaS” means software-as-a-service.
“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval.
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“Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the regulations thereunder in effect on the date hereof.
“TFSA” has the meaning given to such term under “Eligibility for Investment”.
“TSX” has the meaning given to such term on the face page of this prospectus.
“Underwriters” has the meaning given to such term on the face page of this prospectus.
“Underwriters’ Fee” has the meaning given to such term on the face page of this prospectus.
“Underwriting Agreement” means the underwriting agreement dated [●] among the Company and the
Underwriters.
“United States” has the meaning given to such term on the face page of this prospectus.
“U.S. Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc. (formerly Altima Healthcare Canada Inc.)
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of MCI OneHealth Technologies Inc. (formerly
Altima Healthcare Canada Inc.) and its subsidiaries (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the consolidated statements of
loss and comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018 and 2017 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

[Signature in the name of the audit firm]
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
[Auditor Address]
[Date]

MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at December 31,

2019

2018

ASSETS
Current
Cash
Accounts receivable (Note 3)
Net investment in subleases (Note 11)
Current portion of other assets (Note 5)

$

1,127,854
2,622,899
392,016
39,334

$

927,808
3,100,680
372,219
37,773

$

4,182,103

$

4,438,480

Net Investment in Subleases (Note 11)
Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 7)

1,757,899
15,830,364

2,149,915
17,555,484

Intangible Assets (Note 8)

282,142

334,542

Deferred Tax Asset (Note 17)
Other Assets (Note 5)

379,696
256,758

471,309
291,037

$

22,688,962

$

25,240,767

$

3,227,795
96,100
1,252,730
2,537,473

$

4,088,980
96,100
1,562,605
2,402,008

$

7,114,098

$

8,149,693

$

13,312,961

$

96,100
14,612,510

$

20,427,059

$

22,858,303

$

200
2,140,987

$

200
2,261,261

LIABILITIES
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 10)
Current portion of promissory note (Note 6)
Due to related party (Note 4)
Current portion of lease liability (Note 11)
Long-Term
Promissory note (Note 6)
Non-current portion of lease liability (Note 11)

EQUITY
Share capital (Note 12)
Retained Earnings
Equity attributable to MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc.
Non-controlling interests (Note 6)

2,141,187
120,716

Total equity

2,261,461
121,003

$

2,261,903

$

2,382,464

$

22,688,962

$

25,240,767

Contingencies (Note 19) and Subsequent Events (Note 24)
Out of balance
Approved by the Board:
______________[●]___________________ Director
See accompanying notes

_______________[●]__________________ Director
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended December 31,

Number of
Shares
BALANCE - January 1, 2017
Non-controlling interests on
business combination (Note 6)
Net and comprehensive loss
BALANCE - December 31, 2017
Net and comprehensive loss
BALANCE - December 31, 2018
Net and comprehensive loss
BALANCE - December 31, 2019

See accompanying notes

200

Share Capital
(Note 12)
$

-

200

-

200

-

$

200

$

200

200

$

-

200

200

Retained
Earnings
2,493,244

$

2,490,400

2,261,261

$

2,140,987

-

2,493,444

$

2,490,600

2,261,461

$

2,141,187

(120,274)

$

133,972

(6,622)
$

(12,969)
$

121,003

$

120,716

(120,274)

2,493,444
137,750

(3,778)
$

(229,139)
$

-

Total
Equity

137,750

(2,844)
$

(229,139)
$

Non-Controlling
Interest

-

(2,844)
$

Total

2,624,572
(242,108)

$

2,382,464

$

2,261,903

(287)

(120,561)
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
For the year ended December 31,

2019

2018

2017

REVENUE

$

46,291,016

$

45,059,696

$

43,534,012

EXPENSES
Physician fees
Salaries, wages and benefits

$

31,030,401
8,179,789

$

29,932,289
8,198,340

$

28,710,774
7,874,580

Occupancy costs (Note 4)
Depreciation and amortization (Note 13)
Office expenses
Finance costs (Note 14)
Expected credit losses (Notes 3 and 4(c))

3,168,412
3,120,463
2,177,777
665,565
312,899
$

Other income (Notes 4 and 15)
Interest income on subleases (Note 11)
Gain on sublease contracts
Gain (loss) on disposal of property and equipment

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

$

$

(2,364,290) $

$

$
$

Income taxes (Note 17)

47,520,739

3,020,318
3,005,914
2,205,938
673,661
249,754
$

45,740,939

(2,461,043) $

(2,206,927)

2,275,720 $
76,490
(16,870)

2,160,002
79,397
11,165
800

$

2,122,583
82,061
(285)

2,335,340

2,251,364

$

2,204,359

$

(28,950) $
91,611

Deferred tax expense (Note 17)
NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

48,655,306

3,052,132
3,146,194
2,201,142
691,304
299,338

(209,679) $
32,429

(2,568)
4,054

$

(120,561) $

(242,108) $

(6,622)

$

(120,274) $

(229,139) $

(2,844)

ATTRIBUTED TO:
Shareholders of MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc.
Non-controlling interests

Loss per share attributable to MCI Onehealth
Technologies Inc. - basic and diluted (Note 20)

See accompanying notes

(287)

(12,969)

(3,778)

$

(120,561) $

(242,108) $

(6,622)

$

(601) $

(1,146) $

(14)
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31,

2019

2018

2017

CASH WAS PROVIDED BY (USED IN):
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net and comprehensive loss
Items not affecting cash:
Depreciation and amortization (Note 13)
Deferred tax expense (Note 17)
Non-cash interest accreted income (Note 11)
Non-cash interest accreted expense (Note 11)
Expected credit losses (Note 3)
Gain on sublease contracts (Note 11)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment

$

3,120,463
91,611
(76,490)
532,004
312,899
16,870
$

Net change in non-cash working capital (Note 18)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Advances to related parties (Note 4)
Payment of promissory note (Note 6)
Lease payments (Note 11)
Lease payments received (Note 11)

INCREASE IN CASH

3,213,211

3,709,241

3,005,914
4,054
(82,061)
501,679
249,754
285
$

(47,987)
$

3,661,254

3,673,003
(163,991)

$

3,509,012

(121,887) $
-

(192,013) $
800
-

(381,577)
61,156
(276,000)

$

(121,887) $

(191,213) $

(596,421)

$

(309,875) $
(100,000)
(2,930,112)
448,709

(764,523) $
(100,000)
(2,882,627)
419,232

(71,750)
(2,752,772)
417,619

$

(2,891,278) $

(3,327,918) $

(2,406,903)

$

200,046

142,123

$

927,808
$

1,127,854
-

See accompanying notes

$

(6,622)

$

CASH - Beginning
CASH - Ending

3,876,796

(242,108) $
3,146,194
32,429
(79,397)
564,750
299,338
(11,165)
(800)

(663,585)
$

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment (Note 7)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Business acquisition (Note 6)

(120,561) $

$

785,685
$

927,808
-

505,688
279,997

$

785,685
-
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements of MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc., which changed its name from MCI
Brighthealth Technologies Inc. on December 2, 2020, previously changed its name to MCI Brighthealth
Technologies Inc. Inc. on September 14, 2020 from MCI Brighthealth Inc., and which previously changed its
name from Altima Healthcare Canada Inc. on August 27, 2020, (the "Company") and its subsidiaries,
(collectively, the "Group") were authorized for issuance through a resolution of the directors on XXX. The
consolidated financial statements of MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc., which changed its name from MCI
These consolidated financial statements including comparatives, have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board "(IASB").
These consolidated financial statements are presented in their functional currency, which is Canadian
dollars. Each entity within the consolidated financial statements operate in Canada and report in Canadian
dollars.
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make
judgments, estimates, and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. Areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the annual consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 2.

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These consolidated financial statements include the following significant accounting policies:
a) Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries after
elimination of inter-company transactions and balances. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary
begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains
control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. If the Group loses control over a
subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest
and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated
statement of loss and comprehensive loss.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
a) Basis of Consolidation - Continued
Profit or loss and each component are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and
to the non-controlling interests.
These consolidated financial statements include the Company and the following subsidiaries:
MCI
MCI
MCI
MCI

Medical Clinics Inc.
Medical Clinics (Alberta) Inc.
Medical Clinics (BC) Inc.
Prime Urgent Care Inc.

wholly-owned subsidiary
wholly-owned subsidiary
wholly-owned subsidiary (dormant)
80% owned subsidiary

b) Business Combinations and Goodwill
The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognizes any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred
and the fair value of non-controlling interests over the net identifiable assets acquired. If this
consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference
is recognized in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned
to those units.
c) Cash
Cash consists of cash on hand and held in bank accounts.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
d) Revenue Recognition
The Group early adopted IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers on January 1, 2017. The
early adoption of IFRS 15 did not have a significant impact over the Group's consolidated financial
statements.
Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration the Group expects to receive in exchange for those services. If the
consideration promised in a contract includes a variable amount, for example, contingent fees or
service level penalties, the Group includes an estimate of the amount it expects to receive for the
total transaction price if it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized
will not occur.
The Group determines the amount of revenue to be recognized through application of the following
steps:
•
•
•
•
•

Identification of the contract, or contracts with a customer;
Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;
Determination of the transaction price;
Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
Recognition of revenue when or as the Group satisfies the performance obligations.

The Group owns and operates medical clinics in Ontario and Alberta. The Group generates its
revenue from two main sources: medical services and other income.
Medical services revenue is earned at a single point in time through the Group's medical clinics.
The majority of this revenue is reimbursed by the provincial health insurers. The remaining revenue
from medical services are not eligible for government reimbursement, and as such are charged
directly to patients and/or third parties. The Group's performance obligations for medical services
are satisfied as services are rendered.
Revenue from provincial healthcare insurers is subject to audit and retroactive adjustments. To
management's knowledge, there are no material claims, disputes or other unsettled matters that
exist concerning payments from provincial insurers.
Other income consists of sub-lease rental income which is recognized over the course of the lease
term. Pharmacy revenue consists of fixed monthly payments from certain pharmacies based on the
number of patients seen at MCI clinics. Pharmacy revenue is recognized at the end of each month
based on the stated contract rates and the number of patients seen in that month. Revenue is
recorded when collection is reasonably assured. Affiliate revenue consists of arrangements with
third party entitles to provide space to market and sell medical products for a fixed monthly fee and
a commission on product sales.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
e) Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Assets under finance leases are initially recorded at the present value of
the minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease. The assets are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives using the straight-line method over the following annual rates:
Medical equipment
Furniture and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Leasehold improvements

7 - 10 years
5 - 10 years
Term of the right-of-use plus renewal options
Term of lease plus renewal options

f) Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization
and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset
are considered to modify the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as
changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is
recognized in the statement loss and comprehensive loss in the expense category. Amortization is
being provided over the estimated useful life of the assets using the straight-line method over the
following annual rates:
Physician contracts
Favorable contracts

5 years
5 years

g) Leases
The Group early adopted IFRS 16 - Leases on January 1, 2017 using the modified retrospective
approach. The early adoption of IFRS 16 resulted in the recognition of right-of-use asset and lease
liability balances on January 1, 2017 of:
Right-of-use assets (Note 7)
Lease liability

$ 17,854,104
$ 17,854,104

The estimated discount rate of the Group's leases were between 2.11% and 3.89%.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
g) Leases - Continued
The Group used the following practical expedients when applying the modified retrospective
approach.
• the Group did not recognize a right-of-use asset and lease liability for leases
with lease terms ending within 12 months from January 1, 2017;
• the Group excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at
January 1, 2017; and
• the Group used hindsight when determining the lease term for leases that contained options
to extend or terminate.
The Group accounts for a contract, or part of a contract, as a lease when it transfers the right to use
an asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Leases are those contracts that meet the
following criteria:
• there is an identified asset;
• the Group obtains substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset; and
• the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset.
The Group considers whether the supplier has substantive substitution rights. If the provider has
those rights, the contract is not identified as a lease.
In determining whether the Group derives substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of
the asset, the Group considers only the economic benefits arising from the use of the asset, not those
incidental to legal ownership or other potential benefits.
In determining whether the Group is entitled to direct use of the asset, the Group considers whether
it directs how and for what purpose the asset is used throughout the period of use. If important
decisions are not made because they are predetermined due to the nature of the asset, the Group
considers whether it was involved in the design of the asset in a way that predetermines how and for
what purpose the asset will be used throughout the period of use. If the contract or part of a contract
does not meet these criteria, the Group applies other applicable IFRS instead of IFRS 16.
All leases are accounted by recognizing a right-of-use asset and a lease liability except for leases of
low value assets; and leases with a duration of 12 months or less.
Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the contractual payments due to the lessor
over the lease term, with the discount rate determined by reference to the rate inherent in the lease
unless this is not readily determinable, in which case the Group incremental borrowing rate on
commencement of the lease is used. Variable lease payments are only included in the
measurement of the lease liability if they depend on an index or rate. In such cases, the initial
measurement of the lease liability assumes the variable element will remain unchanged throughout
the lease term. Other variable lease payments are expensed in the period to which they relate.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
g) Leases - Continued
On initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease liability also includes:
• amounts expected to be payable under any residual value guarantee;
• the exercise price of any purchase option granted in favor of the Group if it is reasonable
certain to assess that option;
• any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if the term of the lease has been estimated
on the basis of termination option being exercised.
Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount of the lease liability, reduced for any lease
incentives received, and increased for:
• lease payments made at or before commencement of the lease;
• initial direct costs incurred; and
• the amount of any provision recognized where the group is contractually required to
dismantle, remove or restore the leased asset.
Subsequent to initial measurement lease liabilities increase as a result of interest charged at a
constant rate on the balance outstanding and are reduced for lease payments made. Right-of-use
assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the lease or over the
remaining economic life of the asset if, rarely, this is judged to be shorter than the lease term.
The Group recognizes a depreciation charge for right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease
liabilities in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.
When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses
the probability of a lessee extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts the carrying
amount of the lease liability to reflect the payments to make over the revised term, which are
discounted at the same discount rate that applied on lease commencement. The carrying value of
lease liabilities is similarly revised when the variable element of future lease payments dependent
on a rate or index is revised. In both cases an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value
of the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying amount being amortized over the remaining
(revised) lease term.
When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with the lessor, the accounting
depends on the nature of the modification:
• if the renegotiation results in one or more additional assets being leased for an amount
commensurate with the standalone price for the additional rights-of-use obtained, the modification is
accounted for as a separate lease in accordance with the above policy
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
g) Leases - Continued
• in all other cases where the renegotiation increases the scope of the lease (whether that is an
extension to the lease term, or one or more additional assets being leased), the lease liability is
remeasured using the discount rate applicable on the modification date, with the right-of-use asset
being adjusted by the same amount
• if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the scope of the lease, both the carrying amount of the
lease liability and right-of-use asset are reduced by the same proportion to reflect the partial of full
termination of the lease with any difference recognized in the statement of loss and comprehensive
loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount reflects the amount of
the renegotiated payments over the renegotiated term, with the modified lease payments discounted
at the rate applicable on the modification date. The right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same
amount.
For contracts that both convey a right to the Group to use an identified asset and require services to
be provided to the Group by the lessor, the Group has elected to account for the entire contract as a
lease, i.e. it does allocate any amount of the contractual payments to, and account separately for,
any services provided by the supplier as part of the contract.
In classifying a sublease, the Group classifies the sublease as a finance lease or an operating
lease as follows:
• If the head lease is a short-term lease, the sublease is classified as an operating lease.
• Otherwise, the sublease shall be classified by reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease, rather than by reference to the underlying asset.
h) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or
CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions
are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is
used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly
traded companies or other available fair value indicators.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
h) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets - Continued
The Group bases its impairment calculation on most recent budgets and forecast calculations, which
are prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated.
These budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. A long-term growth
rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in the consolidated statement of loss and
comprehensive loss in expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether
there is an indication that previously recognized impairment losses no longer exist or have
decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the
assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was
recognized. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its
recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is
recognized in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at December 31 and when circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the
recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When the
recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized.
Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.
i) Taxes

Current income tax
Current income taxes are the expected taxes payable on the taxable income for the year, using
income tax rates enacted, or substantively enacted, at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of previous years.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
i) Taxes - Continued

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts as well as the impact of unused tax loss
carry-forwards and unused tax credits at the reporting date. Temporary tax differences that do not
result in temporary differences include goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities, not
arising in a business combination, that do not affect accounting or taxable profit, and investments in
subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint arrangements where the timing of reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and reversal in the foreseeable future is not probable.
Enacted or substantively enacted rates in effect at the consolidated balance sheet date that are
expected to apply when the deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred tax liability is
settled are used to calculate deferred income taxes.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

j) Financial Instruments
On January 1, 2017, the Group early adopted IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments. The adoption of IFRS 9
did not have a significant impact over the Group's consolidated financial statements.
Classification of Financial Instruments
The Group classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit
and loss (“FVTPL”), at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss) (“FVTOCI”) or at
amortized cost. The Group determines the classification of financial assets at initial recognition. The
classification of debt instruments is driven by the Group's business model for managing the financial
assets and their contractual cash flow characteristics.
Equity instruments that are held for trading are classified as FVTPL. For other equity instruments, on
the day of acquisition the Group can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument
basis) to designate them as at FVTOCI. Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless
they are required to be measured at FVTPL (such as instruments held for trading or derivatives) or if
the Group has opted to measure them at FVTPL.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
j) Financial Instruments - Continued
The Group's financial assets and liabilities are classified as follows:
Cash
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Due to related parties
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Promissory notes
Lease liabilities

FVTPL
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost

Measurement of Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost

Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value plus or minus
transaction costs, respectively, and subsequently carried at amortized cost less any impairment.

Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL
Financial assets and liabilities carried at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value and transaction
costs are expensed in the consolidated statements of income. Realized and unrealized gains and
losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities held at FVTPL are
included in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss in the period in which they
arise.
Impairment
The Group recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at
amortized cost. Loss allowances for accounts receivables and contracts assets are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the amount is not considered fully
recoverable. A financial asset carried at amortized cost is considered credit-impaired if objective
evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash
flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. Individually significant financial assets are tested
for credit-impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed
collectively.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. In assessing collective impairment, the
Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss
incurred, adjusted for management's judgment as to whether current economic and credit conditions
are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.
Losses are recognized in the statements of comprehensive loss and reflected in an allowance
account against receivables. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to
decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through the statements of comprehensive
loss.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
k) Earnings (loss) per Share
Basic earnings (loss) per share is determined by dividing the net income (loss) available to common
shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding. The Group does not hold any
instruments that could potentially dilute earnings per share.
l) Research and development
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures are capitalized only if
development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient
resources to complete development to use or sell the asset. Other development expenditures are
recognized in profit and loss as incurred. To date, no development costs have been capitalized.

m) SR&ED Investment tax credits
The Group claims investment tax credits as a result of incurring scientific research and experimental
development (“SR&ED”) expenditures. Investment tax credits are recognized when the related
expenditures are incurred and there is reasonable assurance of their realization. Investment tax
credits are accounted for as a reduction of research and development expense on the statement of
comprehensive profit and loss. Management has made a number of estimates and assumptions in
determining the expenditures eligible for the investment tax credit claim. It is possible that the
allowed amount of the investment tax credit claim could be materially different from the recorded
amount upon assessment by regulatory authorities. To date, no SR&ED investment tax credits have
been claimed or recorded.
n) Adoption of New or Amended Accounting Not Yet Effective
Other accounting standards and amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued
and have future effective dates are not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact
on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
2.

EXERCISE OF JUDGEMENT AND USE OF ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards requires management to make estimates, judgements and assumptions based on
currently available information. Such estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities as at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from the estimates used.
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2.

EXERCISE OF JUDGEMENT AND USE OF ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS - Continued
Significant accounting estimates, judgements and assumptions include the following:
i) Leases
Management uses judgment and estimates in the determination of the lease term for some lease
contracts in which the Group is a lessee including whether the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise lessee options. Management uses judgment and estimates in the determination of the
incremental borrowing rate used to measure lease liabilities.
ii) Estimated useful lives of property and equipment
Management estimates the useful lives of property and equipment based on the period during
which the assets are expected to be available for use. The amounts and timing of recorded
expenses for depreciation of property and equipment for any period are affected by these
estimated useful lives. The estimates are reviewed at least annually and are updated if
expectations change as a result of physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence
and legal or other limits to use. It is possible that changes in these factors may cause significant
changes in the estimated useful lives of the Group's property and equipment in the future.

3.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable consist of the following:
2019
Trade receivable
Expected credit losses

2018

$

2,628,561 $
(5,662)

3,162,184
(61,504)

$

2,622,899

3,100,680

$

The change in the allowance for expected credit losses are as follows:
2019
As at January 1

$

Provision for expected credit losses
Write-off
As at December 31

61,504

2018
$

312,899
(368,741)
$

5,662

90,327
299,338
(328,161)

$

61,504

The provision for expected credit losses and write-off include $305,472 (2018 - $202,216) from
advances to a related party (Note 4), which were fully provided for and written off during the year.
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4.

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
The following related parties have engaged in transactions with the Group:
a) Altima Dental Holdings Inc. - directors of the Company hold key management positions
b)

Altima Dental Services Ontario Inc. - directors of the Company hold key management positions

c) MCI Dermatology (Woodbridge) Inc. - controlled by Directors of the Company
Amounts due to related parties consist only of amounts owing to Altima Dental Holdings Inc. as follows:
2019
$

1,252,730

2018
$

1,562,605

The Group engaged in the following transactions with related parties:
2019

2018

2017

Altima Dental Holdings Inc.
Repayment of due to related parties

309,875

764,523

71,750

Altima Dental Services Ontario Inc.
Occupancy costs
Rental income

148,966
414,831

150,735
484,328

151,034
435,202

MCI Dermatology (Woodbridge) Inc.
Advances to related party
Expected credit loss expense (Note 3)

305,472
305,472

202,216
202,216

184,169
184,169

Advances to and from related parties that are non-interest bearing and due on demand. All related party
transactions have been recorded at the amount of consideration established and agreed upon by the
related parties in the normal course of business.

5.

OTHER ASSETS
Other assets consists of:
2019
Prepaid expenses
Security deposits

$

211,816
84,276

$

244,147
84,663

$

296,092

$

328,810

Less: current portion
Non-current portion

2018

39,334
$

256,758

37,773
$

291,037
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6.

BUSINESS COMBINATION
On June 30, 2017, the Group acquired, through its newly incorporated subsidiary MCI Prime Urgent
Care Inc., an 80% interest in certain assets of Prime Urgent Care Clinic Inc. for $576,000 payable in
cash and through the issuance of a promissory note. The vendor maintained a 20% interest in the
acquired assets as, under the terms of the purchase and sale agreement, the Group provided the
vendor with a 20% interest in MCI Prime Urgent Care Inc. The fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed have been determined as follows:
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment
Medical equipment
Physician contracts
Favourable contracts
Prepaids
Total identifiable net assets at fair value

$

182,150
45,275
44,300
187,000
75,000
3,883

$

537,608

Non-controlling interest measured at fair value
Goodwill arising on acquisition

$

(137,750)
151,142

Purchase consideration transferred

$

551,000

Purchase consideration was comprised of the following:
Cash

$

276,000
275,000

Fair value of promissory note
$

551,000

Under the terms of the agreement, $300,000 is payable to the vendor as a promissory note in three
installments of $100,000 due June 30, 2018, June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2020. These payments are
payable without interest and are not contingent any performance. The carrying amount of the
promissory note was recorded as follows:
2017
2018
2019

$

275,000
192,200
96,100

The accretion expense from promissory note is disclosed in Note 14.
The assets were acquired to expand the Group's presence in the Greater Toronto Area and goodwill
represents expected synergies from combining operations
Revenue and net income included in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss that
are attributable to MCI Prime Urgent Care Inc. are as follows:
2019
Revenue
Net income (loss)

$

1,315,387
53,849

$

2018

2017

1,065,146 $
(8,431)

476,560
(18,888)
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7.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consists of the following:
Medical
Equipment

Furniture and
Equipment

Leasehold
Improvements

$

$

Right-of-use
Assets

Total

Cost
December 31, 2017

$

18,414
-

Additions
Disposals
December 31, 2018

$

1,512,578

Disposals

$

4,848,043
49,294
-

$

8,621
(48,880)

Additions
December 31, 2019

1,494,164

4,897,337

9,507,791

$

124,304
$

67,179
(85,084)

9,632,095

18,767,866

$

1,843,383
(253,865)
$

46,086
(274,098)

20,357,384

34,617,864
2,035,395
(253,865)

$

1,237,924
-

36,399,394
1,359,810
(408,062)

1,472,319

$

4,879,432

$

9,404,083

$

21,595,308

$

37,351,142

1,299,209

$

4,398,611

$

7,521,018

$

2,555,561

$

15,774,399

Accumulated Amortization
December 31, 2017

$

45,128
-

Depreciation
Disposals
December 31, 2018

$

1,344,337

97,965
$

42,038
(46,463)

Depreciation
Disposals

4,496,576

334,664
$

100,273
(79,343)

7,855,682

2,616,037
(24,283)
$

356,482
(265,389)

5,147,315

3,093,794
(24,283)
$

2,569,270
-

18,843,910
3,068,063
(391,195)

December 31, 2019

$

1,339,912

$

4,517,506

$

7,946,775

$

7,716,585

$

21,520,778

December 31, 2017

$

194,955

$

449,432

$

1,986,773

$

16,212,305

$

18,843,465

December 31, 2018

$

168,241

$

400,761

$

1,776,413

$

15,210,069

$

17,555,484

December 31, 2019

$

132,407

$

361,926

$

1,457,308

$

13,878,723

$

15,830,364

For right-of-use assets, as a result of applying IFRS 16, the Company has recognized depreciation
and net accretion expenses, instead of lease expense. During the year the Company recognized
$2,569,270 (2018 - $2,616,037, 2017: $2,555,561) of depreciation expense.
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8.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets consists of the following:
Physician
Contracts
Cost
At January 1, 2017

$

Acquired through
business acquisition
Disposals
December 31, 2017

$

$

$

Accumulated Amortization
At January 1, 2017

$

Additions
Depreciation

187,000

187,000

-

$

18,700

$

Additions
Depreciation

56,100

$

$

$

93,500
-

$

-

151,142
-

$

413,142
-

75,000

$

151,142

$

413,142

75,000

$

75,000

-

7,500

22,500

37,500
-

151,142

$

$

$

151,142

-

$

-

$

$

-

413,142

26,200

$

$

413,142
-

-

15,000
$

$

$

15,000
$

-

Total

75,000
-

7,500

37,400
$

$

-

37,400
$

-

Goodwill

-

18,700

Additions
Depreciation

December 31, 2019

$

-

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

187,000
-

Additions
Disposals

December 31, 2017

$

187,000
-

Additions
Disposals
December 31, 2018

-

Favourable
Contracts

26,200
52,400

$

-

78,600
52,400

$

-

$

$

-

$

131,000

At January 1, 2017

$

-

December 31, 2017

$

168,300

$

67,500

$

151,142

$

386,942

December 31, 2018

$

130,900

$

52,500

$

151,142

$

334,542

December 31, 2019

$

93,500

$

37,500

$

151,142

$

282,142
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9.

BANK CREDIT FACILITY
The Group, through MCI Medical Clinics Inc., has an available revolving operating credit facility
available of up to the lesser of $1,000,000 or 80% of the outstanding OHIP receivables plus 75% of
other qualifying receivables. Interest would be charged at the prime rate plus 0.5%. The facility is
secured by a general security agreement against all property of the subsidiary.
The Group, through MCI Medical Clinics (Alberta) Inc., has an available operating line of credit of
$250,000. Borrowings under this credit facility bear interest at prime plus 0.8%. The credit facility is
secured by a general security agreement against the assets of the Group.
At the year end, the facilities were not in use (2018 - $nil).

10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consists of the following:
2019
Trade payables
Accrued liabilities
Deposits

2018

$

2,427,994
655,704
144,097

$

2,654,865
1,294,744
139,371

$

3,227,795

$

4,088,980

11. LEASES
The Group leases various clinic spaces for its operations, and subleases its excess office and clinic
spaces to subtenants.
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 5 to 10 years. Extension options are included in
the majority of leases for clinic space and typically range from 5 to 10 years. These terms are used to
maximize operational flexibility in terms of managing the Group's clinic space. For the majority of its
leases with renewal options, the Group has not included lease payments under extension options as it
is not reasonable certain that renewal options on those leases will be exercised. Substantially all of the
property leases contain variable lease payments for operating costs that are based on actual costs
incurred by the lessor. The variable operating costs do not depend on an index or a rate and are
recognized as an expense in the period the are incurred.
The Group's lease liability and lease receivable as at December 31 are as follows:
2019

2018

Lease liability - current
Lease liability - non-current

$

2,537,473
13,312,961

$

2,402,008
14,612,510

Total lease liability

$

15,850,434

$

17,014,518
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11. LEASES - continued
2019

2018

Lease receivable - current
Lease receivable - non-current

$

392,016
1,757,899

$

372,219
2,149,915

Total lease receivable

$

2,149,915

$

2,522,134

Amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss
2019

2018

2017

Expenses relating to variable lease payments
not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities

$

2,435,952

$

2,241,181

$

1,909,858

Expenses relating to short-term leases

$

36,179

$

43,010

$

173,743

Lease income from operating subleases

$

41,847

$

55,254

$

57,448

Interest income on subleases

$

76,490

$

79,397

$

82,061

Lease liability
Lease liability interest expense recognized in comprehensive loss and lease payments recognized in
the financing component of statement of cash flows are as follows:
2019

2018

Balance - Beginning
Lease modifications
New leases
Interest expense (Note 14)
Lease cash payments

$

17,014,518 $
1,237,924
528,104
(2,930,112)

17,506,212
1,418,016
425,367
547,550
(2,882,627)

Balance - Ending

$

15,850,434

17,014,518

$

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities at December 31, 2019 is as follows:
Minimum lease payments due
< 1 year
1-5 years
Lease payments
Finance charges

$

Lease liabilities

$

3,029,059

$

(491,586)
2,537,473

11,204,870

>5 years
$

(1,120,856)
$

10,084,014

3,377,724

TOTAL
$

(148,777)
$

3,228,947

17,611,653
(1,761,219)

$

15,850,434
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11. LEASES - continued
Net investment in subleases
Rental contracts for subleases are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 10 years but may have
extension options ranging from 5 to 10 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. As at December 31, 2019, the Group had
sublease contracts for 7 spaces, with an average remaining life to expiry (including extension term) of
4.9 years.
Lease receivable interest income recognized in comprehensive loss and lease recoveries recognized in
the financing component of statement of cash flows are as follows:
2019

2018

Balance - Beginning
Additions
Interest income
Lease cash recoveries

$

2,522,134 $
76,490
(448,709)

2,621,221
240,748
79,397
(419,232)

Balance - Ending

$

2,149,915

2,522,134

$

As at December 31, 2019, the minimum rent expected to be received under net investment in subleases
is as follows:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
More than five years

$

456,196
444,413
454,294
459,750
280,128
252,710

$

2,347,491
(197,576)

$

2,149,915

Unearned finance income

As at December 31, 2019, the minimum rent expected to be received under operating leases for the
next five years and thereafter is as follows:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
More than five years

$

53,482
55,291
57,943
52,519
19,200
33,600

$

272,035
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12. SHARE CAPITAL
The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares and preference shares. As at
December 31, 2019, there were 200 issued and outstanding common shares.
There has been no share capital activity in 2019 or 2018.

13. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Depreciation and amortization consists of the following:
2019
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets

2018

2017

$

3,068,063
52,400

$

3,093,794
52,400

$

2,979,714
26,200

$

3,120,463

$

3,146,194

$

3,005,914

14. FINANCE COSTS
Finance costs consist of the following:
2019
Interest on lease liabilities
Bank charges and fees
Accretion expense (Note 6)

2018

2017

$

528,104
133,561
3,900

$

547,550
126,554
17,200

$

501,679
171,982
-

$

665,565

$

691,304

$

673,661

15. OTHER INCOME
Other income consists of the following:
2019
Rental income
Pharmacy subsidy
Affiliate revenue

2018

2017

$

1,659,560
408,890
207,270

$

1,608,472
427,560
123,970

$

1,634,300
389,560
98,723

$

2,275,720

$

2,160,002

$

2,122,583
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16. KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly. Key management personnel
includes the members of the executive team. The remuneration of these individuals was as follows:
2019
Salaries, wages and benefits

$

277,200

2018
$

599,348

2017
$

236,205

17. INCOME TAXES
Income taxes consists of the following:
2019
Current income tax
Deferred tax recovery

2018

2017

$

91,611

$

32,429

$

4,054

$

91,611

$

32,429

$

4,054

Reported income tax expense differs from the amount computed by applying the combined Canadian
federal and provincial income tax rates to loss before income tax due to the following:
2019
Loss before income tax
Effective income tax rate
Expected income tax recovery
Tax effect of deductible timing differences
Tax effect of change in loss carry forwards

$

Tax expense

$

2018

(28,950) $
26.2%
(7,583)
(94,389)
193,583
91,611

$

2017

(209,679) $
25.9%
(54,325)
(75,790)
162,544
32,429

$

(2,568)
23.6%
(606)
(229,679)
234,339
4,054

Deferred tax
Deferred tax consists of the following:
2019
Deductible differences
Property, plant and equipment
Leases
Non-capital loss-carry forward

$

Deferred tax assets
Effective tax rate

2018

(640,460) $
(178,204)
2,268,170

(461,880)
(717,685)
2,998,672

1,449,506

1,819,107

26.2%
$

379,696

25.9%
$

471,309
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17. INCOME TAXES
The Group's non-capital loss carry forwards expire as follows:
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039

$

376,891
1,427,322
36,086
371,560
56,311

$

2,268,170

18. NET CHANGE IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS
The change in non-cash working capital items consists of the following:
2019
Accounts receivable

$

Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
$

164,882

2018
$

2017

(455,546) $

267,315

32,718
(861,185)

(36,910)
444,469

63,075
(494,381)

(663,585) $

(47,987) $

(163,991)

19. CONTINGENCIES
In October 2019, a claim was lodged against MCI Medical Clinics Inc. asserting that the Company had
breached a lease agreement for a clinic. The matter is currently being considered by the courts, and the
Company expects judgment before the end of 2021. The Company considers it to be too early to make a
determination as to its probability of the outcome and has therefore not recognized a provision in
relation to this claim. The potential undiscounted amount of the total payments that the Company could
be required to make, if there was an adverse decision related to the lawsuit, is estimated to be
approximately $3,000,000.
In October 2017, a claim was lodged against MCI Medical Clinics Inc. asserting medical malpractice.
The matter is currently being considered by the courts, and the Company expects judgment before the
end of 2021. The Company considers it to be too early to make a determination as to its probability of
the outcome and has therefore not recognized a provision in relation to this claim. The potential
undiscounted amount of the total payments that the Company could be required to make, if there was an
adverse decision related to the lawsuit, is estimated to be approximately $5,250,000.
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20. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic and dilutive earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to
shareholders by the sum of the weighted average number of shares outstanding.
2019
Net loss attributable to shareholders of
MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc.
Weight average number of common shares
outstanding
Basic and diluted earnings per share

$

(120,274) $
200

$

(601) $

2018
(229,139) $
200
(1,146) $

2017
(2,844)
200
(14)

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Risks and Concentrations
The Group is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis provides
a summary of the Group's exposure to and concentrations of risk at December 31, 2019:
a) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause financial loss for the other
party by failing to discharge an obligation. The Group's main credit risks relate to its accounts
receivable and net investments in sublease. The Group's accounts receivable do not represent a
significant concentration of credit risk because the largest part of the accounts are collected from
branches of provincial governments (2019 - 90%; 2018 - 87%). The credit risk related to receivables
from branches of provincial governments is considered to be low due to strong provincial credit
ratings, lowering the risk of default. The Group's remaining accounts receivable and net investment
in subleases are well diversified among a range of corporations and individual patients and tenants.
There has been no change in the assessment of credit risk from the prior year.
b) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk,
interest rate risk, and price risk. The Group is mainly exposed to interest rate risk. Interest rate risk
is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. As described in Note 9, the Group is exposed to interest rate risk
with respect to its credit facilities however at December 31, 2019 and 2018 no amounts were drawn
on these facilities.
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - Continued
c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities. The Group is exposed to this risk mainly with respect to its accounts payable
and accrued liabilities and promissory note payable. The Group manages this risk by managing its
working capital, ensuring that sufficient credit is available and by generating sufficient cash flow
from operations. The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December
31, 2019:
More than
1 year
2-5 years
5 years
Lease liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to related party
Promissory note

$

2,537,473
3,227,795
1,252,730
96,100

$

10,084,014
-

$

3,228,947
-

Total

$

7,114,098

$

10,084,014

$

3,228,947

The following table summarizes the carrying value of the Group's financial instruments:
2019
Cash
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Lease liabilities
Promissory note

$

1,127,854
2,622,899
296,092
3,227,795
15,850,434
96,100

2018
$

927,808
3,100,680
328,810
4,088,980
17,014,518
192,200

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized on the consolidated statement of financial position at fair
value in a hierarchy that is based on significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The
levels in the hierarchy are:
-

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices)
Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e.,
unobservable inputs)

At December 31, 2019, the Group's financial instruments included cash, accounts receivable, other
assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and promissory note. Due to the short-term maturities of
cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and the promissory note the
carrying amounts approximate fair value at the respective balance sheet date.
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - Continued
There were no financial instruments measured or disclosed categorized as level 2 or 3 fair value within
the hierarchy as at December 31, 2019 and 2018. There were no transfers of assets or liabilities
between levels during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
22. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group has various capital policies, procedures and processes which are utilized to achieve their
objectives for capital management. These include optimizing cost of capital and maximizing
shareholder return while balancing the interests of stakeholders. The Group's definition of capital
includes amounts due to related parties (2019 - $1,252,730; 2018 - $1,562,605) and equity attribute to
shareholders (2019 - $2,141,187; 2018 - $2,261,461). The Group manages the capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust capital structure, the Group may attempt to issue new shares or
acquire or dispose of assets. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

23. SEGMENT REPORTING
The Group determined the operating segments based on information reviewed by the Group's chief
operating decision makers, which consist of the shareholders, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Chief
Operating Officer (COO) and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). Chief decision makers review the
operations of the clinics as a whole, regardless of geographic locations or medical services provided.
For this reason, there is only one operating segment. Additionally, the vast majority of the revenue is
from government insured medical services and all clinics operate in substantially the same way. On a
regular basis, Chief decision makers review the financial performance of the Group as a whole as well
as individual clinics and include both financial and non-financial metrics.
During the year, 89% of the Group's medical revenue was received from Ontario Health Insurance Plan
(OHIP) and Alberta Health Care Insurance Plan (AHCIP) (2018 - 88%; 2017 - 87%).
24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a coronavirus (COVID-19) a
pandemic. This presents uncertainty regarding the Group's future cash flows as the effects may
significantly impact the Group's future revenues. The Group estimates a reduction in revenues of
approximately 20-25% compared to 2019 due to the impacts of COVID-19. The Group has been able to
obtain multi-source supplies and materials to largely continue operations, subject to applicable local
public health orders or restrictions. The Group has also obtained $2,547,834 in assistance from the
Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy (CEWS) and Canada's Emergency Commercial Rent Assistance
Program (CECRA).
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24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS - Continued
On October 21, 2020, the Group declared and paid a dividend of $2,009,000 to shareholders.
On November 1, 2020 the Group’s Board of Directors approved a performance bonus payout to the
Chief Operating Officer of $700,000 to be paid in December.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Unaudited)

September 31,
2020

As at

December 31,
2019

ASSETS
Current
Cash
Accounts receivable (Note 4)
Net investment in subleases (Note 8)
Current portion of other assets

$

3,107,039
3,056,133
392,082
32,099

$

1,127,854
2,622,899
392,016
39,334

$

6,587,353

$

4,182,103

Net Investment in Subleases (Note 8)

1,509,667

1,757,899

13,701,486

15,830,364

Intangible Assets (Note 6)

242,842

282,142

Deferred Tax Asset

242,246

379,696

Other Assets

264,845

256,758

Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 5)

$

22,548,439

$

22,688,962

$

3,870,505
1,250,530
2,535,360

$

3,227,795
96,100
1,252,730
2,537,473

$

7,656,395

$

7,114,098

LIABILITIES
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of promissory note
Due to related party (Note 3)
Current portion of lease liability (Note 8)
Long-Term
Other liabilities (Note 10)
Non-current portion of lease liability (Note 8)

80,000
11,518,711
$

EQUITY
Share capital (Note 9)

$

13,312,961

19,255,106

$

200

$

20,427,059

200

Retained Earnings

3,163,337

2,140,987

Equity attributable to MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc.
Non-controlling interests

3,163,537
129,796

2,141,187
120,716

Total equity

$

3,293,333

$

2,261,903

$

22,548,439

$

22,688,962

Contingencies (Note 17) and Subsequent Events (Note 21)

Out of balance
Approved by the Board:
____________________________________ Director

See accompanying notes

____________________________________ Director
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Unaudited)
For the nine-months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019

MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC. Share Capital
Shares
(Note 9)

$

200

BALANCE - September 30, 2020

200

BALANCE - December 31, 2018

200

BALANCE - December 31, 2019
Net and comprehensive profit

200

Retained
Earnings

Total

$

2,141,187

$

1,022,350
3,163,337

$

2,261,261

$

(250,647)
2,010,614 $

$

2,140,987

$

200

$

200

$

200

Non-Controlling
Interest

$

120,716

$

1,022,350
3,163,537

$

2,261,461

Total
Equity

$

2,261,903

$

9,080
129,796

$

1,031,430
3,293,333

$

121,003

$

2,382,464

Net and comprehensive (loss)
BALANCE - September 30, 2019

See accompanying notes

200

(250,647)
2,010,814 $

(7,855)
113,148 $

(258,502)
2,123,962
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Profit and Loss (Unaudited)
For the three and nine-months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019
Three months ended
September 30,
2020
2019

REVENUE
EXPENSES
Physician fees
Salaries, wages and benefits (Notes 10 and 14)
Depreciation and amortization (Note 11)
Office expenses
Occupancy costs (Notes 3 and 10)
Finance costs (Note 12)
Expected credit losses (Notes 3 and 4)

Other income (Notes 3 and 13)
Interest income on subleases (Note 8)
Gain on sublease contracts

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES
Income taxes
Deferred tax expense

NET AND COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT (LOSS)
ATTRIBUTED TO:
Shareholders of MCI Onehealth
Technologies Inc.
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share attributable to MCI
Onehealth Technologies Inc. - basic and
diluted (Note 15)

See accompanying notes

Nine months ended
September 30,
2020
2019

$

9,836,437

$ 11,499,167

$ 27,590,048

$ 34,357,609

$

$

$

6,191,283
1,016,944
726,044
629,031
165,498
151,203
185,637
9,065,640

$ 17,582,182
3,921,176
2,222,232
1,741,051
1,739,638
464,145
200,844
$ 27,871,268

$ 23,024,511
6,080,292
2,345,819
1,595,159
2,320,316
504,546
298,057
$ 36,168,700

$

770,797

$

$

$

$

516,224
16,064
532,288

$

1,303,085

$

$

$

$

87,500
278,817
366,317

$

936,768

$

7,718,654
2,045,262
785,305
518,525
814,320
165,754
291,996
$ 12,339,816

(840,649) $

$

$

(278,679) $

1,345,880

$

(189,770)

$

$

177,000
137,450
314,450

$

68,732
68,732

$

(301,590) $

1,031,430

$

(258,502)

929,563
7,205

$

(295,092) $
(6,498)

1,022,350
9,080

$

(250,647)
(7,855)

$

936,768

$

(301,590) $

1,031,430

$

(258,502)

$

4,648

$

(1,475) $

5,112

$

(1,253)

$

22,911
22,911

$

(1,811,091)

1,567,048
50,437
9,615
1,627,100

$

543,211
18,759
561,970

(281,220) $

$

$

1,562,824
58,497
1,621,321
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
For the nine-month period ending September 30,

2020

2019

CASH WAS PROVIDED BY (USED IN):
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net and comprehensive profit (loss)
Items not affecting cash:
Depreciation and amortization (Note 11)
Deferred tax expense
Non-cash interest accreted income (Note 8)
Non-cash interest accreted expense (Note 8 and 12)
Rent concessions
Expected credit losses
Gain on sublease contracts (Note 8)

$

1,031,430

$

(258,502)
2,345,819
68,732
(58,497)
407,588

$

2,222,232
137,450
(50,437)
381,582
(370,836)
200,844
(9,615)
3,542,650 $

$

7,780
3,550,430

$

(579,640)
2,223,557

$

(42,233) $

(117,387)

$

(2,200) $
(100,000)
80,000
(1,855,595)
348,783
(1,529,012) $

(652,971)
(2,183,229)
334,232
(2,501,968)

Net change in non-cash working capital (Note 16)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment (Note 5)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Advances to related parties (Note 3)
Payment of promissory note
Proceeds from CEBA loans (Note 10)
Lease payments, net of concessions (Note 8)
Lease payments received (Note 8)

$
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH

$

$

3,107,039
-

See accompanying notes

$

1,127,854

CASH - Beginning of the period
CASH - End of the period

1,979,185

298,057
2,803,197

(395,798)
927,808

$

532,010
-
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated interim financial statements of MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc., which changed its
name from MCI Brighthealth Technologies Inc. on December 2, 2020, previously changed its name to
MCI Brighthealth Technologies Inc. Inc. on September 14, 2020 from MCI Brighthealth Inc., and
which previously changed its name from Altima Healthcare Canada Inc. on August 27, 2020, (the
"Company") and its subsidiaries, (collectively, the "Group") were authorized for issuance through a
resolution of the directors on XXX. The Group owns and operates medical clinics in Ontario and
Alberta. The head office, principal address, and records of the Group are located at 1 Yorkdale Road,
These consolidated interim financial statements are presented in their functional currency, which is
Canadian dollars. Each entity within the consolidated interim financial statements operate in Canada
and report in Canadian dollars.
The preparation of consolidated interim financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) requires management to make judgments, estimates, and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. Areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the annual consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 2.
1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These consolidated interim financial statements include the following significant accounting
a) Statement of Compliance
These consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), International Accounting Standard
("IAS") 34, Interim Financial Reporting and International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee ("IFRIC") interpretations, as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board ("IASB") and using the same accounting policies as described in the Company's
December 31, 2019 financial statements. The notes presented in these consolidated interim
financial statements (unaudited) include, in general, only significant changes and transactions
occurring since the Company's last year end, and are not fully inclusive of all disclosures
required by IFRS for annual financial statements. These consolidated interim financial
statements (unaudited) should be read in conjunction with the annual audited financial
statements, including the notes thereto, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
b) Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated interim financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its
subsidiaries after elimination of inter-company transactions and balances. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
b) Basis of Consolidation - Continued
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets
(including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity,
while any resultant gain or loss is recognized in comprehensive profit (loss).
Profit or loss and each component are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests.
These consolidated interim financial statements (unaudited) include the Company and the following subsidiaries:
MCI Medical Clinics Inc.
MCI Medical Clinics (Alberta) Inc.
MCI Medical Clinics (BC) Inc.
MCI Prime Urgent Care Inc.

wholly-owned subsidiary
wholly-owned subsidiary
wholly-owned subsidiary (dormant)
80% owned subsidiary

c) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may
be impaired. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of
disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by
valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair
The Group bases its impairment calculation on most recent budgets and forecast calculations,
which are prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets
are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years.
A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth
year.
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For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
c) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets - Continued
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in the condensed interim
consolidated statement of comprehensive profit and loss in expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine
whether there is an indication that previously recognized impairment losses no longer exist or
have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s
recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has
been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since
the last impairment loss was recognized. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount
of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized
for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the condensed interim consolidated
comprehensive profit and loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case,
the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at December 31 and when circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by
assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill
relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognized. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in
future periods.
d) Impairment of Financial Instruments
The Group recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets measured
at amortized cost. Loss allowances for accounts receivables and contracts assets are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the amount is not
considered fully recoverable. A financial asset carried at amortized cost is considered creditimpaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on
the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. Individually
significant financial assets are tested for credit-impairment on an individual basis. The
remaining financial assets are assessed collectively.

-8-

MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
d) Impairment of Financial Instruments - Continued
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as
the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. In assessing collective
impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries
and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management's judgment as to whether current
economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less
than suggested by historical trends. Losses are recognized in the statements of
comprehensive loss and reflected in an allowance account against receivables. When a
subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in
impairment loss is reversed through the statements of comprehensive loss.
e) Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance
The Company recognizes government grants when there is reasonable assurance that the
Company will comply with the corresponding conditions attached to the grant and that the
grant will be received. Government grants are recognized in the consolidated statement of
income or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Company recognizes as
expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate and are disclosed
as part of other Income. Any government grants due but not received at the reporting date are
included in accounts receivable.

-9-

MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019

Effective 1 June 2020, IFRS 16 was amended to provide a practical expedient for lessees
accounting for rent concessions that arise as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and satisfy the following criteria:
(a) The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding
the change;
(b) The reduction is lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and
(c) There are is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.
Rent concessions that satisfy these criteria may be accounted for in accordance with the
practical expedient, which means the lessee does not assess whether the rent concession
meets the definition of a lease modification. Lessees apply other requirements in IFRS 16 in
accounting for the concession.
The Group has elected to utilise the practical expedient for all rent concessions that meet the
criteria. The practical expedient has been applied retrospectively, meaning it has been applied
to all rent concessions that satisfy the criteria, which in the case of the Group, occurred from
March 2020 to June 2020. Accounting for the rent concessions as lease modifications would
have resulted in the Group remeasuring the lease liability to reflect the revised consideration
using a revised discount rate, with the effect of the change in the lease liability recorded
against the right-of-use asset. By applying the practical expedient, the Group is not required
to determine a revised discount rate and the effect of the change in the lease liability is
reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the rent
concession occurs.
2.

EXERCISE OF JUDGEMENT AND USE OF ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to
make estimates, judgements and assumptions based on currently available information.
Such estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the year. Actual results could differ from the estimates used.
Significant accounting estimates, judgements and assumptions include the following:
i) Leases
Management uses judgment and estimates in the determination of the lease term for
some lease contracts in which the Group is a lessee including whether the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise lessee options. Management uses judgment and estimates
in the determination of the incremental borrowing rate used to measure lease liabilities.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019

2.

EXERCISE OF JUDGEMENT AND USE OF ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS - Continued
ii) Estimated useful lives of property and equipment
Management estimates the useful lives of property and equipment based on the period
during which the assets are expected to be available for use. The amounts and timing of
recorded expenses for depreciation of property and equipment for any period are affected
by these estimated useful lives. The estimates are reviewed at least annually and are
updated if expectations change as a result of physical wear and tear, technical or
commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits to use. It is possible that changes in
these factors may cause significant changes in the estimated useful lives of the Group's
property and equipment in the future.
iii Impairment testing of non-financial assets The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as
the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.
These estimates are most relevant to goodwill recognized by the Group.
iv Expected credit losses (ECL) The Company uses the stepped approach for calculating the ECL and groups its
receivables into categories of shared credit risk characteristics. A historic period is
examined over which historical loss rates are obtained to develop estimates of expected
future loss rates. All forward looking macro-economic factors are considered and historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect relevant future economic conditions. The adjusted
historical loss rate is applied to the receivables to calculate the loss rate.

3.

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
The following related parties have engaged in transactions with the Group:
a) Altima Dental Holdings Inc. - directors of the Company hold key management positions
b) Altima Dental Services Ontario Inc. - directors of the Company hold key management
positions
c) MCI Dermatology (Woodbridge) Inc. - controlled by Directors of the Company
d) One Health Technologies Inc. - controlled by Directors of the Company
Amounts due to/(from) related parties are as follows:
September 30, December 31,
2020
2019
Due to Altima Dental Holdings Inc.
Due from One Health Technologies Inc.

$

1,252,730 $
(2,200)

1,252,730
-

$

1,250,530

1,252,730

$
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019

3.

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS - Continued
The Group engaged in the following transactions with related parties:
Three months ended
September 30,
2020
2019
Altima Dental Holdings Inc.
Repayment of due to related
parties

Nine months ended
September 30,
2020
2019

-

98,495

-

98,495

Altima Dental Services Ontario Inc.
Occupancy costs
Rental income

26,793
91,977

40,541
121,531

134,736
275,930

121,439
364,594

MCI Dermatology (Woodbridge) Inc.
Advances to related party
Expected credit loss expense

15,207
15,207

291,996
291,996

15,207
15,207

298,057
298,057

One Health Technologies Inc.
Advances paid
2,200
2,200
Advances to and from related parties are non-interest bearing and due on demand.
4.

-

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable consist of the following:
September 30, December 31,
2020
2019
Trade receivable
Expected credit losses

$

3,247,432 $
(191,299)

2,628,561
(5,662)

$

3,056,133

2,622,899

$

The change in the allowance for expected credit losses are as follows:
September 30, December 31,
2020
2019
As at January 1

$

Provision for expected credit losses
Write-off
As at September 30 and December 31

5,662

$

200,844
(15,207)
$

191,299

61,504
312,899
(368,741)

$

5,662

The provision for expected credit losses and write-off include $15,207 (2019 - $305,472) from
advances to a related party (Note 3), which were fully provided for and written off during the
year.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019

5.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consists of the following:
Medical
Equipment

Furniture and
Leasehold
Equipment Improvements

Right-of-use
Assets

Total

$ 20,357,384

$ 36,399,394

Cost
December 31, 2018

$

1,512,578

$

8,621
(48,880)
1,472,319 $

67,179
(85,084)
4,879,432 $

46,086
1,237,924
(274,098)
9,404,083 $ 21,595,308

$

4,195
1,476,514

$

11,323
4,890,755

$

26,715
9,430,798

52,386
94,619
(259,717)
(259,717)
$ 21,387,977 $ 37,186,044

$

4,496,576

$

7,855,682

$

5,147,315

$ 18,843,910

$

100,273
(79,343)
4,517,506 $

356,482
(265,389)
7,946,775 $

2,569,270
7,716,585

3,068,063
(391,195)
$ 21,520,778

$

214,690
8,161,465

$

1,864,846
2,182,932
(219,152)
(219,152)
9,362,279 $ 23,484,558

Additions
Disposals
December 31, 2019

Additions
Disposals
September 30, 2020

$

4,897,337

$

9,632,095

1,359,810
(408,062)
$ 37,351,142

Accumulated Amortization
December 31, 2018

$

1,344,337

Depreciation
42,038
Eliminated on disposals
(46,463)

$

1,339,912

September 30, 2020

$

27,822
1,367,734

$

75,574
4,593,080

December 31, 2019

$

132,407

$

361,926

$

1,457,308

$ 13,878,723

$ 15,830,364

September 30, 2020

$

108,780

$

297,675

$

1,269,333

$ 12,025,698

$ 13,701,486

December 31, 2019

Depreciation
Disposals

For right-of-use assets, as a result of applying IFRS 16, the Company has recognized
depreciation and net accretion expenses, instead of lease expense. During the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company recognized $612,915 and $1,864,845
respectively (2019 - $640,047 and $1,928,563 respectively) of depreciation expense.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019

6.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets consist of the following:
Physician
Contracts

Favourable
Contracts

Goodwill

Total

Cost
Cost at December 31, 2018

$

187,000

$

75,000

$

151,142

$

413,142

Cost at December 31, 2019

$

187,000

$

75,000

$

151,142

$

413,142

Cost at September 30, 2020 $

187,000

$

75,000

$

151,142

$

413,142

$

56,100

$

22,500

$

-

$

78,600

Depreciation
December 31, 2019

$

37,400
93,500

$

15,000
37,500

$

-

$

52,400
131,000

Depreciation
September 30, 2020

$

28,050
121,550

$

11,250
48,750

$

-

$

39,300
170,300

December 31, 2019

$

93,500

$

37,500

$

151,142

$

282,142

September 30, 2020

$

65,450

$

26,250

$

151,142

$

242,842

Accumulated Amortization
December 31, 2018

7.

BANK CREDIT FACILITY
The Group, through MCI Medical Clinics Inc., has an available revolving operating credit facility
available of up to the lesser of $1,000,000 or 80% of the outstanding Ontario Health Insurance
Plan ( OHIP ) receivables plus 75% of other qualifying receivables. Interest would be charged at
the prime rate plus 0.5%. The facility is secured by a general security agreement against all
property of the subsidiary.
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019

7.

BANK CREDIT FACILITY - Continued
The Group, through MCI Medical Clinics (Alberta) Inc., has an available operating line of credit of
$250,000. Borrowings under this credit facility bear interest at prime plus 0.8%. The credit facility
is secured by a general security agreement against the assets of the Group.
At September 30, 2020, the facilities were not in use (December 31, 2019 - $nil).

8.

LEASES
The Group leases various office and clinic spaces for its operations, and subleases its excess
office and clinic spaces to subtenants.
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 5 to 10 years. Extension options are
included in the majority of leases for clinic space and typically range from 5 to 10 years. These
terms are used to maximize operational flexibility in terms of managing the Group's clinic space.
For the majority of its leases with renewal options, the Group has not included lease payments
under extension option as it was concluded that there is not economic incentive to exercise
those renewal options. Substantially all of the property leases contain variable lease payments
for operating costs that are based on actual costs incurred by the lessor. The variable operating
costs do not depend on an index or a rate and are recognized as an expense in the period the are
incurred.
The Group's lease liability and lease receivable are as follows:
September 30, December 31,
2020
2019
Lease liability - current
Lease liability - non-current

$

2,535,360
11,518,711

$

2,537,473
13,312,961

Total lease liability

$ 14,054,071

$ 15,850,434

Lease receivable - current
Lease receivable - non-current

$

392,082
1,509,667

$

392,016
1,757,899

Total lease receivable

$

1,901,749

$

2,149,915
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MCI ONEHEALTH TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019

8.

LEASES - continued
Amounts recognized in the interim consolidated statement of comprehensive profit and loss:

Expenses relating to variable
lease payments not included
in the measurement of lease
liabilities
$
Expenses relating to short-term
leases
$

Three months ended
September 30,
2020
2019

607,990

Nine months ended
September 30,
2020
2019

$

633,535

$

-

$

24,346

$

1,755,738

$

1,812,761

-

$

67,517

Lease income from operating
subleases

$

23,229

$

11,505

$

65,286

$

28,648

Interest income on subleases

$

16,064

$

18,759

$

50,437

$

58,497

Lease liability interest expense recognized in interim consolidated comprehensive profit and loss
and lease payments recognized in the financing component of interim consolidated statement of
cash flows are as follows:
September 30, December 31,
2020
2019
Balance - Beginning
Lease modifications
Interest expense (Note 12)
Lease cash payments
Rent Concessions
Balance - Ending

$ 15,850,434 $ 17,014,518
52,386
1,237,924
377,682
528,104
(1,855,595)
(2,930,112)
(370,836)
$ 14,054,071 $ 15,850,434

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities at September 30, 2020 is as follows:
Minimum lease payments due
< 1 year
1-5 years
Lease payments
Finance charges

$

2,968,149 $
(432,789)

Lease liabilities

$

2,535,360

$

>5 years

10,407,376 $
(889,623)
9,517,753

$

TOTAL

2,079,256 $
(78,298)

15,454,781
(1,400,710)

2,000,958

14,054,071

$
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8.

LEASES - continued
Net investment in subleases
Rental contracts for office subleases are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 10 years but may
have extension options ranging from 5 to 10 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. As at September 30, 2020, the
Group had lease contracts for 7 spaces, with an average remaining life to expiry (including
extension term) of 4.2 years.
Lease receivable interest income recognized in interim consolidated comprehensive profit and
loss and lease recoveries recognized in the financing component of interim consolidated
September 30, December 31,
2020
2019
Balance - Beginning
Addition
Interest income
Lease cash recoveries
Balance - Ending

$

$

2,149,915 $
50,180
50,437
(348,783)
1,901,749 $

2,522,134
76,490
(448,709)
2,149,915

As at September 30, 2020, the minimum rent expected to be received under net investment in
subleases is as follows:
Year 1
Year 2
Year 3
Year 4
Year 5
More than five years

$

$
Unearned finance income
$

455,580
459,212
467,921
349,926
226,574
95,707
2,054,920
(153,171)
1,901,749

As at September 30, 2020, the minimum rent expected to be received under operating leases is
as follows:
Year 1
Year 2
Year 3
Year 4
Year 5
More than five years

$

$

88,334
91,375
86,195
62,996
27,650
19,200
375,750
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9.

SHARE CAPITAL
The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares and preference shares. As
at September 30, 2020, there were 200 issued and outstanding common shares. There has been
no share capital activity in 2020 or 2019.

10. GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic that occurred during the year, the federal government
offered various economic relief programs of which the Group received the following:
Canada Emergency Business Account (CEBA) loans for two subsidiaries totaling $80,000. The
loans are interest-free and are due on December 31, 2022. If $60,000 is repaid by the due date,
the remaining $20,000 will be forgiven. At September 30, 2020, $80,000 remains payable.
The following subsidies were received and included in net income:
Three months ended
September 30,
2020
2019
Canada Emergency Wage
Subsidy - included within
salaries, wages and
benefits
Canada Emergency
Commercial Rent Assistance
(CECRA) - included within
occupancy costs- Note 8

$

962,927

$

(228,161)
$

734,766

-

Nine months ended
September 30,
2020
2019

$

$

-

1,886,349

$

(370,836)
$

2,547,834

-

$

-

11. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Depreciation and amortization consists of the following:
Three months ended
September 30,
2020
2019
Depreciation of property,
and equipment
Amortization of intangible
assets

$

712,944

$

13,100
$

726,044

772,205

Nine months ended
September 30,
2020
2019
$

13,100
$

785,305

2,182,932

$

39,300
$

2,222,232

2,306,519
39,300

$

2,345,819
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12. FINANCE COSTS
Finance costs consist of the following:
Three months ended
September 30,
2020
2019
Interest on lease liabilities
Bank charges and fees
Accretion expense

Nine months ended
September 30,
2020
2019

$

120,835
26,468
3,900

$

130,265
34,514
975

$

377,682
82,563
3,900

$

404,663
96,958
2,925

$

151,203

$

165,754

$

464,145

$

504,546

13. OTHER INCOME
Other income consists of the following:
Three months ended
September 30,
2020
2019
Rental income
Pharmacy subsidy
Affiliate revenue

Nine months ended
September 30,
2020
2019

$

394,349
98,750
23,125

$

382,663
104,390
56,158

$

1,208,556
302,093
56,399

$

1,088,493
318,170
156,161

$

516,224

$

543,211

$

1,567,048

$

1,562,824

14. KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly. Key management
personnel includes the members of the executive team. The remuneration of these individuals
was as follows:
Three months ended
September 30,
2020
2019
Salaries, wages and benefits

$

62,007

$

60,550

Nine months ended
September 30,
2020
2019
$

220,534

$

181,651
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic and dilutive earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to
shareholders by the sum of the weighted average number of shares outstanding.
Three months ended
September 30,
2020
2019
Net income (loss) attributable
to shareholders
$

929,563

Weight average number of
common shares outstanding
Basic and diluted
(loss) per share

$

200

Nine months ended
September 30,
2020
2019

(295,092) $

1,022,350

200

$

200

(250,647)
200

earnings
$

4,648

$

(1,475) $

5,112

$

(1,253)

16. NET CHANGE IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS
The change in non-cash working capital items consists of the following:
September 30, September 30,
2020
2019
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$

(634,078) $
(852)
642,710

(225,068)
9,694
(364,266)

$

7,780

(579,640)

$

17. CONTINGENCIES
In October 2019, a claim was lodged against MCI Medical Clinics Inc. asserting that the
subsidiary had breached a lease agreement for a clinic. The matter is currently being considered
by the courts, and the Group expects judgment before the end of 2021. The Group considers it to
be too early to make a determination as to its probability of the outcome and has therefore not
recognized a provision in relation to this claim. The potential undiscounted amount of the total
payments that the Group could be required to make, if there was an adverse decision related to
the lawsuit, is estimated to be approximately $3,000,000.
18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Risks and Concentrations
The Group is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis
provides a summary of the Group's exposure to and concentrations of risk at September 30,
2020:
a) Credit Risk
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Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause financial loss for the
other party by failing to discharge an obligation. The Group's main credit risks relate to its
accounts receivable and net investments in sublease. The Group's accounts receivable do not
represent a significant concentration of credit risk because the largest part of the accounts are
collected from branches of provincial governments (September 30, 2020 - 70%; December 31,
2019 - 90%). The credit risk related to receivables from branches of provincial governments is
considered to be low due to strong provincial credit ratings, lowering the risk of default. The
Group's remaining accounts receivable and net investment in subleases are well diversified
among a range of corporations and individual patients and tenants. There has been no
change in the assessment of credit risk from the prior year.
b) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities. The Group is exposed to this risk mainly with respect to
its accounts payable, accrued liabilities, lease liabilities and other liabilities. The Group
manages this risk by managing its working capital, ensuring that sufficient credit is available
and by generating sufficient cash flow from operations. The following are the contractual
maturities of financial liabilities as at September 30, 2020:
1 year

More than
5 years

2-5 years

Lease liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to related party
Other liabilities

$

2,968,149
3,870,505
1,250,530
-

$ 10,407,376
80,000

$

2,079,256
-

Total

$

8,089,184

$ 10,487,376

$

2,079,256
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18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - Continued
c) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk:
currency risk, interest rate risk, and price risk. The Group is mainly exposed to interest rate
risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. As described in Note 7,
the Group is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its credit facilities however at
September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 no amounts were drawn on these facilities.
The following table summarizes the carrying value of the Group's financial instruments:
September 30, December 31,
2020
2019
Cash
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Net investment in subleases
Lease liabilities
Other liabilities

$

3,107,039
3,056,133
3,870,505
1,901,748
14,054,071
80,000

$

1,127,854
2,622,899
3,227,795
2,149,915
15,850,434
96,000

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized on the interim consolidated statement of financial
position at fair value in a hierarchy that is based on significance of the inputs used in making the
measurements. The levels in the hierarchy are:
-

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices)
Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e.,
unobservable inputs)

At September 30, 2020, the Group's financial instruments included cash, accounts receivable,
other assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other liabilities. Due to the short-term
maturities of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and other
liabilities the carrying amounts approximate fair value at the respective balance sheet date. The
reported amounts of net investment in subleases and lease liabilities approximates fair value due
to the application of a market rate of interest when initially recognizing the financial assets or
financial liability.
There were no financial instruments measured or disclosed categorized as level 2 or 3 fair value
within the hierarchy as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019. There were no transfers of
assets or liabilities between levels during the periods ended September 30, 2020 and December
31, 2019.
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19. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group has various capital policies, procedures and processes which are utilized to achieve
their objectives for capital management. These include optimizing cost of capital and
maximizing shareholder return while balancing the interests of stakeholders. The Group's
definition of capital includes amounts due to related parties (September 30, 2020 - $1,250,530;
December 31, 2019 - $1,252,730) and equity attribute to shareholders (September 30, 2020 $3,349,174; December 31, 2019 - $2,141,187). The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust capital structure, the Group may attempt to issue new
shares or acquire or dispose of assets. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements.

20. SEGMENT REPORTING
The Group determined the operating segments based on information reviewed by the Group's
chief operating decision makers, which consist of the shareholders, the Chief Executive Officer
(CEO), Chief Operating Officer (COO) and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). Chief decision makers
review the operations of the clinics as a whole, regardless of geographic locations or medical
services provided. For this reason, there is only one operating segment. Additionally, the vast
majority of the revenue is from government insured medical services and all clinics operate in
substantially the same way. On a regular basis, chief decision makers review the financial
performance of the Group as a whole as well as individual clinics and include both financial and
non-financial metrics.
During the three and ninemonth periods ending September 30, 2020 84% and 85% of the Group's
medical revenue was received from Ontario Health Insurance Plan (OHIP) and Alberta Health
Care Insurance Plan (AHCIP) (three and ninemonth periods ending September 30, 2019 - 84% and
87%).

21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On October 21, 2020, the Group declared and paid a dividend of $2,009,000 to shareholders.
On November 1, 2020 the Group’s Board of Directors approved a performance bonus payout to
the Chief Operating Officer of $700,000 to be paid in December.
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APPENDIX “A” – MANDATE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
1

PURPOSE

The members of the board of directors (the “Board”) of MCI Onehealth Technologies Inc. (the “Corporation”) are
ultimately responsible for the stewardship of the Corporation’s business and affairs. In exercising their powers and
discharging their duties, the directors shall act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the
Corporation and shall exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in
comparable circumstances.
Although directors may be appointed or elected by the shareholders to bring special expertise or point of view to
Board deliberations, they are not chosen to represent a particular constituency, and the best interests of the
Corporation as a whole shall be paramount at all times.
Subject to the limitations set forth under applicable laws, the Board may discharge its responsibilities, including
those listed below, through one or more Board committees. The Board shall have three standing committees: (i) the
Audit Committee, (ii) the Human Resources and Compensation Committee and (iii) the Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee (together, the “Standing Committees”). In addition to the Standing Committees, the Board
may appoint ad hoc committees periodically to address certain issues of a more short-term nature.
2

COMPOSITION, TERM AND INDEPENDENCE

2.1

Board composition

Subject to the Corporation’s constating documents and applicable laws, the Board shall be comprised of a minimum
of one and a maximum of ten directors. The Board shall periodically review its size in light of its duties and
responsibilities from time to time.
2.2

Board term

Subject to the Corporation’s constating documents and applicable laws, directors shall be elected by the
shareholders at each annual meeting of shareholders (“AGM”) at which an election of directors is required, and
shall hold office until the next AGM.
2.3

3

Independence
(a)

The Board shall be comprised of a majority of independent directors. A director shall be
considered independent if he or she would be considered independent for the purposes of National
Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices.

(b)

The Board shall appoint an independent lead director (the “Lead Director”) from among the
directors, who shall serve for such term as the Board may determine. If the Corporation has a nonexecutive Chair, then the role of the Lead Director will be filled by the non-executive Chair. The
Lead Director or non-executive Chair shall chair any meetings of the independent directors and
assume such other responsibilities as the independent directors may designate in accordance with
any applicable position descriptions or other applicable guidelines that may be adopted by the
Board from time to time.

MANDATE AND RESPONSIBILITIES

To fulfill its mandate, the Board assumes responsibility for the following matters:
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3.1

3.2

3.3

Appointment of senior management
(a)

The Board has the responsibility for (i) appointing the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and all
other senior executives and delegating to the CEO and other senior executives the authority over
the day-to-day management of the business and affairs of the Corporation, and (ii) assessing the
performance of the CEO, following a review of the recommendations of the Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committee. To the extent feasible, the Board shall satisfy itself as to
the integrity of the CEO and other executive officers and that the executive officers create a
culture of integrity throughout the Corporation.

(b)

The Board has the responsibility for determining the compensation to be paid to the CEO, and
approving the compensation to be paid to all other executive officers following a review of the
recommendations of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee and of the CEO (with
respect to the other executive officers’ compensation).

(c)

The Board may, from time to time, delegate to executive officers the authority to enter into certain
types of transactions, including financial transactions, subject to specified limits. Investments and
other expenditures above the specified limits and material transactions outside the ordinary course
of business shall be reviewed by, and subject to the prior approval of, the Board.

(d)

The Board oversees that appropriate succession planning programs are in place, including
programs to appoint, train, develop and monitor senior management.

Strategic planning
(a)

The Board has the responsibility for adopting a strategic planning process and approving and
reviewing, on at least an annual basis, the strategic direction of the Corporation and its business,
operational, and financial plans. Such strategic planning shall take into account, among other
things, the opportunities and risks of the Corporation’s business and affairs.

(b)

The Board has the responsibility for:
(i)

adopting processes for monitoring the Corporation’s progress toward its strategic and
operational goals, and providing input and guidance to management in light of changing
circumstances affecting the Corporation; and

(ii)

taking action when the Corporation’s performance falls short of its goals or when other
special circumstances warrant.

Monitoring of financial performance and financial reporting

The Board has the responsibility for:
(a)

approving the audited financial statements, interim financial statements and the notes and
management’s discussion and analysis accompanying such financial statements.

(b)

reviewing and approving material transactions outside the ordinary course of business and those
matters which the Board is required to approve under the Corporation’s constating documents or
applicable laws, including the payment of dividends, the issuance, purchase and redemption of
securities, the acquisitions and dispositions of material capital assets and material capital
expenditures.

(c)

overseeing the accurate reporting of the financial performance of the Corporation to shareholders,
other stakeholders and regulators (as applicable) on a timely basis; and
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(d)

3.4

overseeing that the financial results are reported fairly and in accordance with generally accepted
accounting standards and disclosure requirements under applicable laws.

Risk management

The Board has the responsibility for:

3.5

3.6

(a)

identifying, in conjunction with management, the principal risks of the Corporation’s business and
ensuring the implementation of appropriate systems to effectively monitor and manage such risks,
with a view to balancing such risks against the potential shareholder returns and the long-term
viability of the Corporation; and

(b)

implementing a system of internal control measures, including management of all information
systems, and ensuring that any remedial actions or adoption of new control measures are
implemented effectively.

Corporate governance
(a)

The Board has the responsibility for developing the Corporation’s approach to corporate
governance, including developing a set of corporate governance guidelines for the Corporation.

(b)

Following a review of the recommendations of the Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committee, the Board has the responsibility for approving and monitoring compliance with all of
the Corporation’s policies and procedures related to corporate governance.

Communications and stakeholder engagement

The Board has the responsibility for adopting a communications policy which addresses, among other things:

3.7

(a)

the timely disclosure of any material changes, material facts and other developments that have a
significant and material impact on the Corporation;

(b)

how the Corporation interacts with analysts, investors, other key stakeholders and the public;

(c)

determining who is authorized to communicate on behalf of the Corporation;

(d)

measures for the Corporation to comply with its continuous and timely disclosure obligations and
to avoid selective disclosure;

(e)

understanding and enforcing the prohibition on tipping and restrictions on the purchase and sale of
securities of the Corporation, including by insiders and other persons with a special relationship
with the Corporation;

(f)

the management and use of electronic communications channels, including the Corporation’s
website;

(g)

reporting periodically, at least annually, to shareholders on its stewardship for the preceding year;
and

(h)

the Corporation’s development of stakeholder engagement programs and the implementation of
systems which accommodate feedback from stakeholders.

Orientation and continuing education

The Board has the responsibility for:
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3.8

(a)

developing a description of the expectations and responsibilities of directors, including basic
duties and responsibilities with respect to attendance at Board meetings and advance review of
meeting materials;

(b)

ensuring that all new directors receive a comprehensive orientation, that they fully understand the
role and duties of the Board, as well as the contribution individual directors are expected to make
(including the commitment of time and resources that the Corporation expects from its directors)
and that they understand the nature, operation and strategic direction of the Corporation’s
business; and

(c)

providing continuing education opportunities for all directors, so that individuals may maintain or
enhance their skills and abilities as directors, as well as ensuring that their knowledge and
understanding of the Corporation’s business, including opportunities and risks, remains current.

Nomination of directors

In connection with the nomination or appointment of directors, the Board has the responsibility for reviewing
periodically, at least annually, what competencies and skills the Board, as a whole, should possess, and assessing
what competencies and skills each existing director possesses, identifying any gaps while taking into account the
Corporation’s strategic direction and changing needs. In the course of this process, the members of the Board shall
identify the strengths in a director that would benefit the Board and then seek out individuals who may possess such
strengths.
3.9

Board evaluation

The Board has the responsibility for assessing periodically, at least annually, the Board, the Standing Committees
and any other committee, and each individual director regarding his, her or its effectiveness and contribution. Such
assessment will consider, in the case of the Board or any Standing Committee or any other committee, its
performance against its mandate or charter and, in the case of an individual director, his or her attendance and
against the competencies and skills each individual director is expected to bring to the Board.
The Chair of the Board, together with the independent Lead Director, if any, shall be responsible for assessing the
effectiveness of the Board as a whole as well as individual Board members.
3.10

Role and responsibilities of the Chair of the Board

In addition to the duties and responsibilities of the Board generally, the Chair of the Board has the duties and
responsibilities set out below.
(a)

Working with Management
The Chair has the responsibility to:
(i)

act as the principal sounding board, counselor and confidant for the CEO, including
helping to review strategies, define issues, maintain accountability, and build
relationships;

(ii)

in co-operation with the CEO, assist in representing the Corporation both internally and
externally, including as a designated spokesman;

(iii)

regularly communicate and ensure the CEO is aware of concerns of the Board,
shareholders, other stakeholders and the public; and

(iv)

assess, in conjunction with the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, the
Human Resources and Compensation Committee and the Board, the performance of the
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CEO and other executive officers, and provide input with respect to compensation and
succession.
(b)

Managing the Board
The Chair has the responsibility to:

3.11

(i)

chair the Board;

(ii)

ensure the Board is aware of its obligations to the Corporation, shareholders,
management, other stakeholders and lead the Board in carrying out such obligations
pursuant to applicable law;

(iii)

establish, in conjunction with the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, the
frequency of Board meetings and review such frequency from time to time, as considered
appropriate or as requested by the Board;

(iv)

recommend the committees of the Board and their composition, review the need for, and
the performance and suitability of such committees and make such adjustments as are
deemed necessary from time to time;

(v)

ensure the co-ordination of the agenda, information packages and related events for
Board meetings;

(vi)

ensure the Board receives adequate and regular updates from the CEO and executive
officers on all material issues relating to the Corporation;

(vii)

act as a liaison and regularly communicate with all directors and committee chairs to coordinate input from directors, and optimize the effectiveness of the Board and its
committees; and

(viii)

in conjunction with the Human Resources and Compensation Committee and the
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, review and assess director
attendance, performance and compensation as well as the size and composition of the
Board.

Corporate policies

The Board shall adopt and periodically review policies and procedures designed to ensure that the Corporation and
its directors, officers and employees comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and conduct the
Corporation’s business ethically and with honesty and integrity.
4

MEETINGS

4.1

Meetings

Directors are expected to attend, in person or via tele- or video-conference, all meetings of the Board and the
committees upon which they serve, to come to such meetings fully prepared, and to remain in attendance for the
duration of the meeting. Where a director’s absence from a meeting is unavoidable, the director should, as soon as
practicable after the meeting, contact the Chair, the CEO, or the Secretary for a briefing on the substantive elements
of the meeting.
Subject to the Corporation’s constating documents and applicable laws, the time at which and the place where the
meetings of the Board shall be held, the calling of meetings and the procedure at such meetings shall be determined
by the Chair. The Board shall meet as many times as it considers necessary to carry out its responsibilities
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effectively and shall, in any event, meet at least once per quarter. Meetings of the Board will also include in-camera
meetings of the independent members of the Board without management present.
4.2

Attendance

The Board Committee may invite such officers, directors or employees of the Corporation, financial, technical or
legal advisors, or other persons as it sees fit, from time to time, to attend at meetings of the Board and to assist in the
discussion of matters being considered by the Board.
4.3

Authority to engage advisors

The Board shall have the authority to engage, at the expense of the Corporation, such outside advisors as it
determines necessary or advisable to carry out its duties, including legal, financial, technical and accounting
advisors, and establish the compensation of such advisors.
4.4

Review

The Board shall review and assess the adequacy of this Mandate, taking into account the strategic direction of the
Corporation, its changing needs, and propose recommended changes for approval.
This Mandate is not intended to give rise to civil liability on the part of the Corporation or its directors or
officers to shareholders, other security holders, customers, suppliers, competitors, employees or other persons
or to any other liability whatsoever on their part.
Effective Date: [●], 2020

APPENDIX “B” – CHARTER OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
1

PURPOSE

The purpose of the Audit Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of MCI Onehealth
Technologies Inc. (the “Corporation”) is to:

2

(a)

assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility to oversee the Corporation’s accounting and
financial reporting processes and audits of the Corporation’s financial statements;

(b)

review the Corporation’s financial reports and other financial information, disclosure controls and
procedures and internal accounting and financial controls;

(c)

review the Corporation’s financial statements, management’s discussion and analysis and annual
and interim profit or loss press releases before public release;

(d)

serve as an independent and objective party to monitor the Corporation’s financial reporting
processes and internal control systems;

(e)

recommend to the Board of Directors the appointment of the external auditors, to be approved by
the shareholders, compensation, and retention (and where appropriate, replacement) of the external
auditors;

(f)

oversee the work of the external auditor in preparing or issuing an audit report or related work,
monitor the independence of the external auditor and pre-approve all auditing services and
permitted non-audit services provided by the external auditor;

(g)

receive direct reports from the external auditor and resolve any disagreements between
management and the external auditor regarding financial reporting;

(h)

review the Corporation’s hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners and
employees of the present and former external auditor of the Corporation; and

(i)

carry out the specific responsibilities set forth below in furtherance of this stated purpose.

COMPOSITION AND TERM

Committee members shall be appointed by the Board, and shall serve at the pleasure of the Board. Any member of
the Committee may be removed or replaced at any time by the Board and shall, in any event, cease to be a member
of the Committee upon ceasing to be a member of the Board. The Board shall designate one member as chair of the
Committee (the “Chair”).
The Committee shall be comprised of three or more directors, each of whom shall be “independent” and “financially
literate”, as required by and defined in National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees (“NI 52 110”), subject to
any exceptions permitted under NI 52-110.
3

MANDATE AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Committee’s role is one of oversight of the integrity of the Corporation’s accounting and financial reporting
process, including financial reporting processes, internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls
procedures. It is recognized that the Corporation’s management is responsible for preparing the financial statements
and notes thereto and that the Corporation’s external auditor is ultimately accountable to the Board and the
Committee, as representatives of the shareholders and other stakeholders, for providing an audit opinion on the
financial statements and notes.
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The mandate and responsibilities of the Committee are as follows:
(a)

Appointment of External auditor. The Committee shall have direct responsibility for
recommending the appointment, compensation, retention (and where appropriate, replacement),
and oversight of the work of any accounting firm selected to be the Corporation’s external auditor
for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or performing other audit, review or
attestation services for the Corporation, and to review the performance of the external auditors.

(b)

Appointment of Chief Financial Officer and Internal Auditor. The Committee shall participate in
the identification of candidates for the positions of Chief Financial Officer and the manager of the
Corporation’s internal auditing function, if any, and shall advise management with respect to the
decision to hire a particular candidate.

(c)

Disclosure Controls and Procedures. The Committee shall review periodically with management
the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures.

(d)

Internal Controls. The Committee shall discuss periodically with management and the external
auditor the quality and adequacy of the Corporation’s internal controls and internal auditing
procedures, if any, including any significant deficiencies in the design or operation of those
controls which could adversely affect the Corporation’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial data and any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
employees who have a significant role in the Corporation’s internal controls. The Committee shall
also discuss with the external auditor how the Corporation’s financial systems and controls
compare with industry practices.

(e)

Accounting Policies. The Committee shall review periodically with management and the external
auditor the quality, as well as acceptability, of the Corporation’s accounting policies, and discuss
with the external auditor how the Corporation’s accounting policies compare with those in the
industry. The Committee shall discuss with the external auditors the quality and not just the
acceptability of the Corporation’s accounting principles, including all critical accounting policies
and estimates used, any alternate treatment of financial information that have been discussed with
management, the ramifications of use of such alternative classifications, recognitions,
derecognitions, measurements, presentations and disclosures and treatments and the auditor’s
preferred treatment, as well as any other material communications with management.

(f)

Pre-approval of All Audit Services and Permitted Non-Audit Services. The Committee shall
approve, in advance, all audit services and all permitted non-audit services to be provided to the
Corporation by the external auditor; provided that any non-audit services performed pursuant to an
exception to the pre-approval requirement permitted by applicable securities regulators shall not
be deemed unauthorized and as permitted under the rules of professional conduct of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Ontario.

(g)

Annual Audit. In connection with the annual audit of the Corporation’s financial statements, the
Committee shall:
(i)

request from the external auditor a formal written statement delineating all relationships
between the external auditor and the Corporation;

(ii)

discuss with the external auditor any disclosed relationships and their impact on the
external auditor’s objectivity and independence, and take appropriate action to oversee
the independence of the external auditor;

(iii)

approve the selection, and the terms of the engagement, of the external auditor;
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(h)

(iv)

review with management and the external auditor the audited financial statements to be
filed on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) and
review and consider with the external auditor the matters required to be discussed under
applicable statements of auditing standards;

(v)

perform the procedures set forth under the heading “Financial Reporting Procedures”
below with respect to the annual financial statements;

(vi)

review with the Corporation’s counsel, external auditors and management any legal or
regulatory matter that could have a significant impact on the Corporation’s financial
statements;

(vii)

review and make recommendations with respect to any litigation, claim or contingency
that could have a material effect upon the financial position of the Corporation and the
appropriateness of the disclosure thereof in the documents reviewed by the Committee;
and

(viii)

review with management and the external auditor the Corporation’s critical accounting
policies and estimates.

Financial Reporting Procedures. In connection with the Committee’s review of each reporting of
the Corporation’s annual financial information, the Committee shall:
(i)

discuss with the external auditor whether all material correcting adjustments identified (if
any) by the external auditor in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board of London, England
and adopted by the Canadian Accounting Standards Board, Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards of Canada and the rules of the applicable securities regulators, as may be
amended from time to time, are reflected in the Corporation’s financial statements;

(ii)

review with the external auditor all material communications between the external
auditor and management, such as any management letter or schedule of unadjusted
differences (if any);

(iii)

review with management and the external auditor any significant financial or other
arrangements of the Corporation which do not appear on the Corporation’s financial
statements and any transactions or courses of dealing with third parties that are
significant in size or involve terms or other aspects that differ from those that would
likely be negotiated with independent parties, and which arrangements or transactions are
relevant to an understanding of the Corporation’s financial statements; and

(iv)

resolve any disagreements, if any, between management and the external auditor
regarding financial reporting.

(i)

Insurance Coverage. Review and make recommendation regarding insurance coverage (annually
or as may be otherwise appropriate).

(j)

Audit Committee Charter. The Committee shall review and reassess at least annually the adequacy
of this Audit Committee Charter and recommend any proposed changes to the Board for approval.
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4

MEETINGS AND PROCEDURES

4.1

Meetings

The time at which and the place where the meetings of the Committee shall be held, the calling of meetings and the
procedure at such meetings shall be determined by the Chair. The Committee shall meet as many times as it
considers necessary to carry out its responsibilities effectively and shall, in any event, meet at least once per quarter.
4.2

Quorum

Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, two or more members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum.
4.3

Attendance

The Committee may invite such officers, directors or employees of the Corporation, external auditors, insurance
agents and brokers, financial, technical or legal advisors, or other persons as it sees fit, from time to time, to attend
at meetings of the Committee and to assist in the discussion of matters being considered by the Committee.
4.4

Chair

The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Committee. In the Chair’s absence, or if the position is vacant, the
Committee may select another member as Chair. The Chair will have the right to exercise all powers of the
Committee between meetings but will attempt to involve all other members as appropriate prior to the exercise of
any powers and will, in any event, advise all other members of any decisions made or powers exercised. In case of
an equality of votes on any matter voted on by the Committee, the Chair shall have a second casting vote.
4.5

Decisions

Decisions of the Committee shall be evidenced by resolutions passed at meetings of the Committee and recorded in
the minutes of such meetings or by an instrument in writing signed by all of the members of the Committee.
4.6

Secretary and Minutes

The Chair shall appoint a secretary for each meeting to keep minutes of such meeting. The minutes of the
Committee will be in writing and duly entered into the books of the Corporation. The minutes of the Committee will
be circulated to all members of the Board, redacted as may be determined necessary by the Chair to remove any
sensitive personnel information not otherwise material to the Board.
4.7

Authority to Engage Advisors

The Committee shall have the authority to engage, at the expense of the Corporation, such outside advisors as it
determines necessary or advisable to carry out its duties, including legal, financial, tax, technical and accounting
advisors, and establish the compensation of such advisors.
4.8

Reporting to the Board

The Committee shall report to the Board on such matters and questions relating to the mandate and activities of the
Committee as the Committee may deem appropriate or as the Board may from time to time request or refer to the
Committee.
4.9

Complaints

Any issue of significant financial misconduct shall be brought to the attention of the Committee for its
consideration. In this regard, the Committee shall establish and maintain procedures for (i) the receipt, retention and
treatment of complaints received by the Corporation regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing
matters and (ii) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Corporation of concerns regarding
questionable accounting or auditing matters.
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5

RESOURCES AND AUTHORITY

The Committee is granted all authority required by NI 52-110, including without limitation the authority to:
(a)

investigate any matter brought to its attention with full access to all books, records, facilities and
personnel of the Corporation;

(b)

engage independent legal, tax, accounting or other advisors to obtain such advice and assistance as
the Committee determines necessary to carry out its duties and set and pay the compensation for
any advisors so engaged; and

(c)

communicate directly with the external auditors (and internal auditors, if any).

The Committee may request any officer or employee of the Corporation or the Corporation’s counsel or other
advisors to attend a meeting of the Committee or to meet with any member of, or consultants to, the Committee.
The Corporation shall provide the Committee all appropriate funding, as determined by the Committee, for payment
of compensation to any such advisors and any external auditor, as well as for any ordinary administrative expenses
of the Committee that it determines are necessary or appropriate in carrying out its responsibilities.
This Charter is not intended to give rise to civil liability on the part of the Corporation or its directors or
officers to shareholders, other security holders, customers, suppliers, competitors, employees or other persons
or to any other liability whatsoever on their part.
Effective Date: [●], 2020
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